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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AeroVironment, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands except share and per share data)
July 28,
2018
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,033 at July 28, 2018 and
$1,080 at April 30, 2018
Unbilled receivables and retentions (inclusive of related party unbilled receivables of $9,504 at July 28,
2018 and $3,145 at April 30, 2018)
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages and related accruals
Income taxes payable
Customer advances
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent
Other non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—10,000,000; none issued or outstanding at July 28, 2018 and April 30, 2018
Common stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—100,000,000
Issued and outstanding shares—23,923,342 shares at July 28, 2018 and 23,908,736 at
April 30, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings
Total AeroVironment stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

$

$

143,517
113,649

13,802

56,813

59,870
42,244
5,196
—
410,203
36,712
19,347
11,800
2,299
480,361

16,872
37,425
5,103
25,668
399,047
40,656
19,219
11,494
3,002
473,418

12,939
10,624
8,898
1,627
6,664
—
40,752
1,476
958
67
49

$

$

—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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170,788
118,303

April 30,
2018

2
170,789
16
266,243
437,050
9
437,059
480,361

21,340
16,851
4,085
3,564
6,954
9,294
62,088
1,536
622
67
49

—

$

2
170,139
(21)
238,913
409,033
23
409,056
473,418
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AeroVironment, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)
(In thousands except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue:
Product sales
Contract services (inclusive of related party revenue of $11,563 and $2,551 for the
three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017, respectively)

$

Cost of sales:
Product sales
Contract services
Gross margin:
Product sales
Contract services
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Other income:
Interest income, net
Other income, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Equity method investment activity, net of tax
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of business, net of tax expense of $2,577
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income (loss) attributable to AeroVironment
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment—Basic
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment—Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment—Diluted
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment—Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

55,313

18,780

22,730
78,043

15,581
34,361

29,811
15,643
45,454

15,972
9,691
25,663

25,502
7,087
32,589
11,956
6,435
14,198

2,808
5,890
8,698
11,287
5,542
(8,131)

906
8,388
23,492
2,567
(602)
20,323

512
4
(7,615)
(3,221)
—
(4,394)

8,843
(1,850)
6,993
27,316
14
27,330 $

—
(1,488)
(1,488)
(5,882)
23
(5,859)

$
$
$
$

0.86
0.30
1.16

$

0.85
0.29
1.14

$

23,574,595
24,010,303

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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$

$

$

(0.19)
(0.06)
(0.25)
(0.19)
(0.06)
(0.25)
23,336,305
23,336,305
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AeroVironment, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Unaudited)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income:
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $51 and $4,
respectively
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to AeroVironment

$

27,316
(20)

$

57
27,353
14
27,367

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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$

(5,882)
—

$

2
(5,880)
23
(5,857)
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AeroVironment, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)
(In thousands)
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017
Operating activities
Net income (loss)
Gain on sale of business, net of tax
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss from equity method investments
Impairment of long-lived assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Gains on foreign currency transactions
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of held-to-maturity investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables and retentions
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of business
Redemptions of held-to-maturity investments
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments
Redemptions of available-for-sale investments
Net cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations
Financing activities
Principal payments of capital lease obligations
Tax withholding payment related to net settlement of equity awards
Exercise of stock options
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Operating activities of discontinued operations
Investing activities of discontinued operations
Financing activities of discontinued operations
Net cash used in discontinued operations
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash (refunds) paid, net during the period for:
Income taxes
Non-cash activities
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $51 and $4, respectively
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to equity
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Acquisitions of property and equipment included in accounts payable

$

$

(5,882)
—
1,488
(4,394)

1,746
602
—
(48)
(2)
(306)
1,287
(115)

1,406
—
9
209
(106)
(597)
1,326
474

43,189
(42,998)
(4,819)
—
(133)
(9,893)
(3,797)
5,036

43,819
6,234
(10,224)
(3,385)
358
(5,504)
(4,306)
25,319

(1,423)
31,994
78,909
(81,646)
2,250
30,084

(2,705)
—
59,280
(41,806)
450
15,219

(57)
(819)
67
(809)

(92)
(212)
1,640
1,336

$

(6,609)
(431)
—
(7,040)
27,271
143,517
170,788

$

(4,037)
(268)
—
(4,305)
37,569
79,904
117,473

$

(7)

$

1,803

$
$
$
$

57
—
(20)
595

$
$
$
$

2
384
—
644

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements (unaudited).
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27,316
(8,843)
1,850
20,323
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AeroVironment, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Organization
AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is engaged in the design, development, production, support
and operation of unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”) for various industries and governmental agencies.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and with the instructions
of Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes
required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation with respect to the interim financial statements have been
included. The results of operations for the three months ended July 28, 2018 are not necessarily indicative of the results for
the full year ending April 30, 2019. For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes
thereto for the year ended April 30, 2018, included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions, including estimates of anticipated contract costs and revenue utilized in the revenue recognition process, that
affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and operating results of wholly-owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the balance sheet and results of operations of Altoy Savunma
Sanayi ve Havacilik Anonim Sirketi (“Altoy”), in which the Company increased its ownership to a controlling interest of
85% during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. Prior to the increase in ownership, the Company's
investment in Altoy was accounted for under the equity method.
In December 2017, the Company and SoftBank Corp. (“SoftBank”) formed a joint venture, HAPSMobile, Inc.
(“HAPSMobile”). As the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies
of HAPSMobile, the Company’s investment has been accounted for as an equity method investment. The Company has
presented its proportion of HAPSMobile’s net loss in “Equity method investment activity, net of tax” in the consolidated
statements of operations. The carrying value of the investment in HAPSMobile was recorded in “Other assets.” Refer to Note
6—Equity Method Investments for further details.
On June 29, 2018, the Company completed the sale of substantially all of the assets and related liabilities of its efficient
energy systems business segment (“the EES Business”) to Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. (“Webasto”) pursuant to an Asset
Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) between Webasto and the Company. The Company determined that the
EES Business met the criteria for classification as an asset held for sale at April 30, 2018 and represents a strategic shift in the
Company’s operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the results of operations of the EES Business are reported as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. Refer to Note 2—Discontinued Operations for further details.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows—Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and
Cash Payments (Topic 230). This ASU adds and clarifies guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments
in the statement of cash flows. The Company’s adoption of ASU No. 2017-01 effective May 1, 2018 did not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations—Clarifying the definition of a business (Topic
805). This ASU clarifies the definition of a business with the objective of providing a more robust framework to evaluate
whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The Company’s adoption
of ASU No. 2017-01 effective May 1, 2018 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718). This ASU reduces the
diversity in practice and cost and complexity when applying the guidance in Topic 718 to a change in terms or conditions of
a share-based payment award. The Company’s adoption of ASU No. 2017-09 effective May 1, 2018 did not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In the first quarter of its fiscal 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic
606), using the full retrospective method. Topic 606 requires revenue to be recognized when promised goods or services are
transferred to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.
Revenue for small UAS product contracts with both the U.S. government and foreign governments under the new standard
will be recognized at the point in time when the transfer of control passes to the customer, which is generally when title and
risk of loss transfer. Revenue for Tactical Missile Systems (“TMS”) contracts will now be recognized under the new standard
over time as costs are incurred. Under previous U.S. GAAP, revenue was generally recognized when deliveries of the related
TMS products were made. The new standard accelerates the timing of when the revenue is recognized; however, it does not
change the total amount of revenue recognized on these contracts. The new standard does not affect revenue recognition for
the Company’s Customer-Funded Research and Development (“R&D”) contracts. The Company continues to recognize
revenue for these contracts over time as costs are incurred. The adoption of Topic 606 resulted in a cumulative adjustment to
decrease retained earnings by $1,084,000 at May 1, 2018 relating to both the Company’s continuing and discontinued
operations. For the Company’s continuing operations, the adoption of Topic 606 resulted in a cumulative adjustment to
increase retained earnings by $1,063,000 at May 1, 2018.
The Company applied the standard’s practical expedient that permits the omission of prior-period information about the
Company’s remaining performance obligations, the practical expedient that permits the Company to recognize the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset the entity
otherwise would have recognized is one year or less, and the practical expedient that permits the Company to not
retrospectively restate contracts which were modified prior to the Company’s initial date of adoption, or May 1, 2016.
Instead the Company reflected the aggregate effect of all modifications when identifying the satisfied and unsatisfied
performance obligations, determining the transaction price, and allocating the transaction price. No other practical
expedients were applied.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s revenue is generated pursuant to written contractual arrangements to design, develop, manufacture and/or
modify complex products, and to provide related engineering, technical and other services according to the specifications of
the customers. These contracts may be firm fixed price (“FFP”), cost plus fixed fee (“CPFF”), or time and materials (“T&M”).
The Company considers all such contracts to be within the scope of ASC Topic 606.
Performance Obligations
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer distinct goods or services to a customer, and it is the unit
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of account in ASC Topic 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and revenue
is recognized when each performance obligation under the terms of a contract is satisfied. Revenue is measured at the amount
of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing services. For contracts with
multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation
using its observable standalone selling price for products and services. When the standalone selling price is not directly
observable, the Company uses its best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract
using the cost plus margin approach. This approach estimates the Company’s expected costs of satisfying the performance
obligation and then adds an appropriate margin for that distinct good or service.
Contract modifications are routine in the performance of the Company’s contracts. In most instances, contract modifications
are for additional goods and/or services that are distinct and, therefore, accounted for as new contracts.
The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time. Performance obligations are satisfied
over time if the customer receives the benefits as the Company performs, if the customer controls the asset as it is being
developed or produced, or if the product being produced for the customer has no alternative use and the Company has a
contractual right to payment for the Company’s costs incurred to date plus a reasonable margin. The contractual right to
payment is generally supported by termination for convenience clauses that allow the customer to unilaterally terminate the
contract for convenience, pay the Company for costs incurred plus a reasonable profit, and take control of any work in
process. Revenue for TMS product deliveries and Customer-Funded R&D contracts is recognized over time as costs are
incurred. Contract services revenue is composed of revenue recognized on contracts for the provision of services, including
repairs and maintenance, training, engineering design, development and prototyping activities, and technical support
services. Contract services revenue is recognized over time as services are rendered. Typically, revenue is recognized over
time using an input measure (e.g., costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion) to measure progress.
Training services are recognized over time using an output method based on days of training completed.
For performance obligations satisfied over time, revenue is generally recognized using costs incurred to date relative to total
estimated costs at completion to measure progress. Incurred costs represent work performed, which correspond with, and
thereby best depict, transfer of control to the customer. Contract costs include labor, materials, subcontractors’ costs, other
direct costs, and indirect costs applicable on government and commercial contracts.
For performance obligations which are not satisfied over time per the aforementioned criteria above, revenue is recognized at
the point in time in which each performance obligation is fully satisfied. The Company’s small UAS product sales revenue is
composed of revenue recognized on contracts for the delivery of small UAS systems and spare parts. Revenue is recognized
at the point in time when control transfers to the customer, which generally occurs when title and risk of loss have passed to
the customer.
On July 28, 2018, the Company had approximately $157,049,000 of remaining performance obligations under fully funded
contracts with its customers, which the Company also refers to as funded backlog. The Company currently expects to
recognize approximately 82% of the remaining performance obligations as revenue in fiscal 2019, an additional 13% in
fiscal 2020, and the balance thereafter.
The Company collects sales, value add, and other taxes concurrent with revenue producing activities, which are excluded
from revenue when they are both imposed on a specific transaction and collected from a customer.
Contract Estimates
Accounting for contracts and programs primarily with a duration of less than six months involves the use of various
techniques to estimate total contract revenue and costs. For long-term contracts, the Company estimates the total expected
costs to complete the contract and recognizes revenue based on the percentage of costs incurred at period end. Typically,
revenue is recognized over time using costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion to measure
progress toward satisfying the Company’s performance obligations. Incurred costs represent work performed, which
corresponds with, and thereby best depicts, the transfer of control to the customer. Contract costs include labor, materials,
subcontractors’ costs, other direct costs, and indirect costs applicable on government and commercial
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contracts.
Contract estimates are based on various assumptions to project the outcome of future events that may span several years.
These assumptions include labor productivity and availability, the complexity of the work to be performed, the cost and
availability of materials, the performance of subcontractors, and the availability and timing of funding from the customer.
The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to several types of variable consideration, including penalty fees and
incentive awards generally for late delivery and early delivery, respectively. The Company generally estimates such variable
consideration as the most likely amount. In addition, the Company includes the estimated variable consideration to the
extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
related uncertainty is resolved. These estimates are based on historical award experience, anticipated performance and the
Company’s best judgment at the time. Because of the certainty in estimating these amounts, they are included in the
transaction price of the Company’s contracts and the associated remaining performance obligations.
As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of the Company’s contracts, the
Company regularly reviews and updates its contract-related estimates. Changes in cumulative revenue estimates, due to
changes in the estimated transaction price or cost estimates, are recorded using a cumulative catch-up adjustment in the
period identified for contracts with performance obligations recognized over time. If at any time the estimate of contract
profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, the Company recognizes the total loss in the quarter it is identified.
The impact of adjustments in contract estimates on the Company’s operating earnings can be reflected in either operating
costs and expenses or revenue. The aggregate impact of adjustments in contract estimates on revenue related to performance
obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in previous periods was not significant for the three-month periods ended July 28,
2018 and July 29, 2017. No adjustment on any one contract was material to the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial
statements for the three-month periods ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017.
Revenue by Category
Revenue from products and services during the three months ended July 28, 2018 consisted of revenue derived from over
160 active contracts. The following tables present the Company’s revenue disaggregated by major product line, contract
type, customer category and geographic location:
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue by major product line/program
Small UAS
TMS
HAPS
Other
Total revenue

$ 41,216
22,766
11,563
2,498
$ 78,043

$ 20,061
9,565
2,551
2,184
$ 34,361

Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue by contract type
FFP
CPFF
T&M
Total revenue

$ 58,003
19,983
57
$ 78,043
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Each of these contract types presents advantages and disadvantages. Typically, the Company assumes more risk with FFP
contracts. However, these types of contracts generally offer additional profits when the Company completes the work for less
than originally estimated. CPFF contracts generally subject the Company to lower risk. Accordingly, the associated base fees
are usually lower than fees on FFP contracts. Under T&M contracts, the Company’s profit may vary if actual labor hour rates
vary significantly from the negotiated rates.
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue by customer category
U.S. government:
Non-U.S. government
Total revenue

$ 35,908
42,135
78,043

$ 22,893
11,468
34,361

Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue by geographic location
Domestic
International
Total revenue

$ 35,352
42,691
$ 78,043

$ 21,570
12,791
$ 34,361

Contract Balances
The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in billed accounts receivable, unbilled receivables,
and customer advances and deposits on the consolidated balance sheet. In the Company’s services contracts, amounts are
billed as work progresses in accordance with agreed-upon contractual terms, either at periodic intervals, which is generally
monthly, or upon the achievement of contractual milestones. Generally, billing occurs subsequent to revenue recognition,
resulting in contract assets recorded in “Unbilled receivables and retentions” on the consolidated balance sheet. However,
the Company sometimes receives advances or deposits from its customers before revenue is recognized, resulting in contract
liabilities recorded in “Customer advances” on the consolidated balance sheet. Contract liabilities are not a significant
financing component as they are generally utilized to pay for contract costs within a one-year period or are used to ensure the
customer meets contractual requirements. These assets and liabilities are reported on the consolidated balance sheet on a
contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. For the Company’s product revenue, the Company generally
receives cash payments subsequent to satisfying the performance obligation via delivery of the product, resulting in billed
accounts receivable. Changes in the contract asset and liability balances during the three-month period ended July 28, 2018
were not materially impacted by any other factors. For the Company’s contracts, there are no significant gaps between the
receipt of payment and the transfer of the associated goods and services to the customer for material amounts of
consideration.
Revenue recognized for the three-month periods ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017 that was included in contract
liability balances at the beginning of each year were $1,548,000 and $764,000, respectively.
Segments
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is
evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. The Company’s CODM, who is the Chief Executive Officer, makes operating decisions, assesses
performance and makes resource allocation decisions, including the focus of R&D, on a consolidated basis for the
Company’s continuing operations. Accordingly, the Company operates its business as a single reportable segment.
Investments
The Company’s investments are accounted for as held-to-maturity and available-for-sale and reported at amortized cost and
fair value, respectively.
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled receivables and retentions, and accounts payable
approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity.
Government Contracts
Payments to the Company on government CPFF or T&M contracts are based on provisional, or estimated indirect rates,
which are subject to an annual audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”). The cost audits result in the
negotiation and determination of the final indirect cost rates that the Company may use for the period(s) audited. The final
rates, if different from the provisional rates, may create an additional receivable or liability for the Company.
For example, during the course of its audits, the DCAA may question the Company’s incurred costs, and if the DCAA
believes the Company has accounted for such costs in a manner inconsistent with the requirements under Federal Acquisition
Regulations, the DCAA auditor may recommend to the Company’s administrative contracting officer to disallow such costs.
Historically, the Company has not experienced material disallowed costs as a result of government audits. However, the
Company can provide no assurance that the DCAA or other government audits will not result in material disallowances for
incurred costs in the future.
The Company’s revenue recognition policy calls for revenue recognized on all CPFF or T&M government contracts to be
recorded at actual rates unless collectability is not reasonably assured. During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, the
Company settled rates for its incurred cost claims with the DCAA for fiscal years 2011 through 2014 without payment of any
consideration. At July 28, 2018 and April 30, 2018, the Company had $77,000 reserved for incurred cost claim audits.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, excluding
shares of unvested restricted stock.
The reconciliation of basic to diluted shares is as follows:
Income (loss) from
Continuing operations attributable to AeroVironment
Discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss) attributable to AeroVironment
Denominator for basic earnings per share:
Weighted average common shares
Dilutive effect of employee stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units
Denominator for diluted earnings per share

Three Months Ended
July 28, 2018
July 29, 2017

$
$

20,337
6,993
27,330
23,574,595
435,708
24,010,303

$

(4,371)
(1,488)
(5,859)

$

23,336,305
—
23,336,305

Potentially dilutive shares not included in the computation of diluted weighted-average common shares because their effect
would have been anti-dilutive were 25,392 for the three months ended July 28, 2018. Due to the net loss for the three months
ended July 29, 2017, no shares reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock options or shares of unvested restricted stock
were included in the computation of diluted loss per share as their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. Potentially
dilutive shares not included in the computation of diluted weighted-average common shares because their effect would have
been anti-dilutive were 256,011 for the three months ended July 29, 2017.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU requires the lessee to recognize the
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assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by leases with terms of 12 months or more. The guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein, with early adoption permitted. The
Company currently does not hold a large number of leases that are classified as operating leases under the existing lease
standard, with the only significant leases being the Company’s various property leases. The Company is evaluating the
potential impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income. This ASU permits but does not require the Company to reclassify the disproportionate income tax
effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) on items within AOCI to retained earnings. The guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein, with early adoption permitted. The
Company is evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.
2. Discontinued Operations
On June 29, 2018, the Company completed the sale of the EES Business to Webasto. In accordance with the terms of the
Purchase Agreement, as amended by a Side Letter Agreement executed at the closing, the Company received cash
consideration of $31,994,000 upon closing, which resulted in a gain of $11,420,000 which has been recorded in “Gain on
sale of business, net of tax” in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company will receive additional cash
consideration of $6,500,000 (the “Holdback”) upon the assignment of two of the remaining customer contracts to Webasto.
The Holdback was not recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as the amount was not realized or
realizable as of July 28, 2018.
Concurrent with the execution of the Purchase Agreement, the Company entered into a transition services agreement (the
“TSA”) to provide certain general and administrative services to Webasto for a defined period. Income from performing
services under the TSA has been recorded in “Other income, net” in the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company determined that the EES Business met the criteria for classification as an asset held for sale as of April 30,
2018 and represents a strategic shift in in the Company’s operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the results of
operations of the EES Business are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The table below presents the
statements of operations data for the EES Business.
Three Months Ended

July 28, 2018

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Other income, net
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes
Benefit for income taxes
Net loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of business, net of tax expense of $2,577
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

$
$

13

4,256
4,278
(22)
1,453
1,065
1
(2,539)
(689)
(1,850)
8,843
6,993

July 29, 2017

$

$
$

7,610
6,510
1,100
2,044
919
—
(1,863)
(375)
(1,488)
—
(1,488)
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The major classes of assets and liabilities included in discontinued operations related to the EES Business are presented in
the table below.
April 30,
2018

Carrying amount of assets classified as discontinued operations
Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $139 at April 30, 2018
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Total current assets classified as discontinued operations
Total assets classified as discontinued operations
Carrying amount of liabilities classified as discontinued operations
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages and related accruals
Customer advances
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities classified as discontinued operations

$

6,889
15,494
185
3,100
25,668
25,668

$

$

$

5,121
1,946
1,028
1,199
9,294
9,294

July 28,
2018

April 30,
2018

3. Investments
Investments consist of the following (in thousands):

Short-term investments:
Held-to-maturity securities:
Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total held-to-maturity and short-term investments
Long-term investments:
Held-to-maturity securities:
Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Total held-to-maturity investments
Available-for-sale securities:
Auction rate securities
Total available-for-sale investments
Total long-term investments

$

$

$

$

14,964
33,514
66,825
3,000
118,303

$

2,031
28,809
5,872
36,712

$

—
—
36,712

35,344
31,620
46,685
—
$ 113,649

$

2,046
27,356
9,112
38,514
2,142
2,142
40,656

Held-To-Maturity Securities
As of July 28, 2018 and April 30, 2018, the balance of held-to-maturity securities consisted of state and local government
municipal securities, U.S. treasury securities, U.S. government-guaranteed agency securities, U.S. government-sponsored
agency debt securities, highly rated corporate bonds, and certificates of deposit. Interest earned from these investments is
recorded in interest income.

14

Table of Contents

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, and estimated fair value of the held-to-maturity
investments as of July 28, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total held-to-maturity investments

$ 16,995
62,323
72,697
3,000
$ 155,015

July 28, 2018
Gross
Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Gains
Losses

$

$

8
—
1
—
9

$

Fair
Value

(3) $ 17,000
(307)
62,016
(53)
72,645
—
3,000
(363) $ 154,661

$

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, and estimated fair value of the held-to-maturity
investments as of April 30, 2018 were as follows (in thousands):
April 30, 2018
Gross
Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost
Gains
Losses

Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total held-to-maturity investments

$ 37,390 $
58,976
55,797
—
$ 152,163 $

9
—
2
—
11

$

$

Fair
Value

(36) $ 37,363
(367)
58,609
(71)
55,728
—
—
(474) $ 151,700

The amortized cost and fair value of the held-to-maturity securities by contractual maturity at July 28, 2018 were as follows
(in thousands):
Due within one year
Due after one year through five years
Total

Cost

Fair Value

$ 118,303
36,712
$ 155,015

$ 118,120
36,541
$ 154,661

Available-For-Sale Securities
Auction Rate Securities
As of April 30, 2018, the entire balance of available-for-sale auction rate securities consisted of two investment grade auction
rate municipal bonds with maturities ranging from 1 to 16 years. These investments have characteristics similar to short term
investments, because at predetermined intervals, generally ranging from 30 to 35 days, there is a new auction process at
which the interest rates for these securities are reset to current interest rates. At the end of such period, the Company chooses
to roll over its holdings or redeem the investments for cash. A market maker facilitates the redemption of the securities and
the underlying issuers are not required to redeem the investment within 365 days. Interest earned from these investments is
recorded in interest income.
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, the Company began experiencing failed auctions on some
of its auction rate securities. A failed auction occurs when a buyer for the securities cannot be obtained and the market maker
does not buy the security for its own account. The Company continues to earn interest on the investments that failed to settle
at auction, at the maximum contractual rate until the next auction occurs. In the event the Company needs to access funds
invested in these auction rate securities, the Company may not be able to liquidate these securities at the fair value recorded
on April 30, 2018 until a future auction of these securities is successful or a buyer is found outside of the auction process.
As a result of the failed auctions, the fair values of these securities are estimated utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis
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as of April 30, 2018. The analysis considers, among other items, the collateralization underlying the security investments, the
creditworthiness of the counterparty, the timing of expected future cash flows, and the expectation of the next time the
security is expected to have a successful auction.
During the three months ended July 28, 2018, the remaining investment grade auction rate municipal bonds were redeemed
at par value.
The amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, gross unrealized losses, and estimated fair value of the auction rate securities as of
April 30, 2018, were as follows (in thousands):

Auction rate securities
Total available-for-sale investments

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

$ 2,250
$ 2,250

$
$

$
$

—
—

Fair Value

(108) $ 2,142
(108) $ 2,142

4. Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. The fair value hierarchy contains three levels as follows:
·

Level 1—Inputs to the valuation based upon quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets that are accessible as of the measurement date.

·

Level 2—Inputs to the valuation include quoted prices in either markets that are not active, or in active markets for
similar assets or liabilities, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable, and inputs that are derived principally
from or corroborated by observable market data.

·

Level 3—Inputs to the valuation that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company did not have any financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at July 28, 2018 as the Company’s
remaining auction rate securities were redeemed during the three months ended July 28, 2018 at par value. The following
table provides a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balances of items measured at fair value on a recurring
basis that used significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Fair Value
Measurements Using
Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

Description

Balance at May 1, 2018
Transfers to Level 3
Total gains (realized or unrealized)
Included in earnings
Included in other comprehensive income
Settlements
Balance at July 28, 2018
The amount of total gains or (losses) for the period included in earnings attributable to the change
in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets still held at July 28, 2018
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$

$
$

2,142
—
—
108
(2,250)
—
—
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The auction rate securities were valued using a discounted cash flow model. The analysis considered, among other items, the
collateralization underlying the security investments, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, the timing of expected future
cash flows and the estimated date upon which the security is expected to have a successful auction.
5. Inventories, net
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):
July 28,
2018

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Inventories, gross
Reserve for inventory excess and obsolescence
Inventories, net

$

$

April 30,
2018

14,156
15,103
17,057
46,316
(4,072)
42,244

$

$

12,020
14,780
14,578
41,378
(3,953)
37,425

6. Equity Method Investments
In December 2017, the Company and SoftBank formed a joint venture, HAPSMobile. HAPSMobile is a Japanese corporation
that is 5% owned by the Company and 95% owned by SoftBank and is governed by a Joint Venture Agreement (the
“JVA”). The Company purchased its 5% stake in HAPSMobile for 210,000,000 yen ($1,860,000) effective as of December
27, 2017 and 150,000,000 yen ($1,407,000) on April 17, 2018. Under the JVA, the Company committed to make an
additional capital contribution of 209,500,000 yen (approximately $1,900,000) in or around January 2019 to maintain its
5% ownership stake. Additionally, under the JVA, the Company may purchase additional shares of HAPSMobile, at the same
per share price for the purchase of its original 5% stake, to increase its ownership percentage of HAPSMobile up to 19% prior
to the first flight test of the prototype aircraft produced under a design and development agreement between HAPSMobile
and the Company.
As the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of HAPSMobile,
the Company’s investment is accounted for as an equity method investment. For the three months ended July 28, 2018, the
Company recorded 5% of the net loss of HAPSMobile, or $602,000, in “Equity method investment activity, net of tax” in the
unaudited consolidated statement of operations. At July 28, 2018, the carrying value of the investment in HAPSMobile was
$1,388,000 and was recorded in “Other assets.”
7. Warranty Reserves
The Company accrues an estimate of its exposure to warranty claims based upon both current and historical product sales
data and warranty costs incurred. The warranty reserve is included in other current liabilities. The related expense is included
in cost of sales. Warranty reserve activity is summarized as follows for the three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29,
2017, respectively (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Beginning balance
Warranty expense
Changes in estimates related to pre-existing warranties
Warranty costs settled
Ending balance

$

$

2,090
611
712
(275)
3,138

$

$

1,947
279
—
(602)
1,624

During the three months ended July 28, 2018, the Company revised its estimates based on the results of additional
engineering studies and recorded incremental warranty reserve charges totaling $712,000 related to the estimated costs to
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repair a component of certain small UAS that were delivered in prior periods.
8. Intangibles
Intangibles are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The components of intangibles are as follows:
July 28,
April 30,
2018
2018
(In thousands)

Licenses
Customer relationships
Trademarks and tradenames
Other
Intangibles, gross
Less accumulated amortization
Intangibles, net

$

$

818
733
28
3
1,582
(1,023)
559

$

$

818
733
28
3
1,582
(954)
628

The customer relationships, trademarks and tradenames, and other intangible assets were recognized in conjunction with the
Company’s acquisition of a controlling interest in Altoy on February 1, 2017.
9. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss and Reclassifications Adjustments
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss and adjustments are as follows (in thousands):
Available-forSale
Securities

Balance, net of $76 of taxes, as of April 30, 2018
Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive
loss, net of taxes
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments, net of
$0 taxes
Unrealized gains, net of $51 of taxes
Balance, net of $0 of taxes, as of July 28, 2018

$

(57) $
—

$

—
57
— $

Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustments

36 $
—
(20)
—
16 $

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

(21)
—
(20)
57
16

10. Customer-Funded Research & Development
Customer-funded R&D costs are incurred pursuant to contracts (revenue arrangements) to perform R&D activities according
to customer specifications. These costs are direct contract costs and are expensed to cost of sales as costs are incurred.
Revenue from customer-funded R&D contracts are recognized in accordance with Topic 606 over time as costs are incurred.
Revenue from customer-funded R&D was approximately $17,117,000 and $8,798,000 for the three months ended July 28,
2018 and July 29, 2017, respectively.
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11. Long-Term Incentive Awards
During the three months ended July 28, 2018, the Company granted awards under its amended and restated 2006 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “Restated 2006 Plan”) to key employees (“Fiscal 2019 LTIP”). Awards under the Fiscal 2019
LTIP consist of: (i) time-based restricted stock awards which vest in equal tranches in July 2019, July 2020 and July 2021,
and (ii) performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) which vest based on the Company’s achievement of revenue and
operating income targets for the three-year period ending April 30, 2021. At the award date, target achievement levels for
each of the financial performance metrics were established for the PRSUs, at which levels the PRSUs would vest at 100% for
each such metric. Threshold achievement levels for which the PRSUs would vest at 50% for each such metric and maximum
achievement levels for which such awards would vest at 200% for each such metric were also established. The actual payout
for the PRSUs at the end of the performance period will be calculated based upon the Company’s achievement of the
established revenue and operating income targets for the performance period. Settlement of the PRSUs will be made in fullyvested shares of common stock. As of July 28, 2018, the Company recorded $44,000 of compensation expense related to the
Fiscal 2019 LTIP. At July 28, 2018, the maximum compensation expense that may be recorded for the performance-based
portion of the Fiscal 2019 LTIP is $3,733,000.
During the three months ended July 29, 2017, the Company granted awards under the Restated 2006 Plan to key employees
(“Fiscal 2018 LTIP”). Awards under the Fiscal 2018 LTIP consist of: (i) time-based restricted stock awards which vest in
equal tranches in July 2018, July 2019 and July 2020, and (ii) PRSUs which vest based on the Company’s achievement of
revenue and operating income targets for the three-year period ending April 30, 2020. At the award date, target achievement
levels for each of the financial performance metrics were established for the PRSUs, at which levels the PRSUs would vest at
100% for each such metric. Threshold achievement levels for which the PRSUs would vest at 50% for each such metric and
maximum achievement levels for which such awards would vest at 200% for each such metric were also established. The
actual payout for the PRSUs at the end of the performance period will be calculated based upon the Company’s achievement
of the established revenue and operating income targets for the performance period. Settlement of the PRSUs will be made in
fully-vested shares of common stock. As of July 28, 2018, the Company recorded $490,000 of compensation expense related
to the Fiscal 2018 LTIP. At July 28, 2018, the maximum compensation expense that may be recorded for the performancebased portion of the Fiscal 2018 LTIP is $2,850,000.
During the three months ended July 29, 2017, the Company also granted awards under the Restated 2006 Plan to key
employees (“Fiscal 2017 LTIP”). Awards under the Fiscal 2017 LTIP consist of: (i) time-based restricted stock awards which
vest in equal tranches in July 2017, July 2018 and July 2019, and (ii) PRSUs which vest based on the Company’s
achievement of revenue and operating income targets for the three-year period ending April 30, 2019. At the award date,
target achievement levels for each of the financial performance metrics were established for the PRSUs, at which levels the
PRSUs would vest at 100% for each such metric. Threshold achievement levels for which the PRSUs would vest at 50% for
each such metric and maximum achievement levels for which such awards would vest at 200% for each such metric were also
established. The actual payout for the PRSUs at the end of the performance period will be calculated based upon the
Company’s achievement of the established revenue and operating income targets for the performance period. Settlement of
the PRSUs will be made in fully-vested shares of common stock. As of July 28, 2018, the Company recorded $264,000 of
compensation expense related to the Fiscal 2017 LTIP. At July 28, 2018, the maximum compensation expense that may be
recorded for the performance-based portion of the Fiscal 2017 LTIP is $2,630,000.
At each reporting period, the Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance targets. The estimation of
whether the performance targets will be achieved requires judgment, and, to the extent actual results or updated estimates
differ from the Company’s current estimates, the cumulative effect on current and prior periods of those changes will be
recorded in the period estimates are revised.
12. Income Taxes
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, which resulted in significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code.
Changes include, but are not limited to, a corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after
December 31, 2017, repeal of the corporate alternative minimum tax, repeal of the deduction for domestic production
activities, a deduction for certain Foreign Derived Intangible Income (“FDII”), and limitation on the deductibility of certain
executive compensation.
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In accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company is required to record the effects of tax law changes in the period
enacted. As the Company has an April 30 fiscal year end, its U.S. federal corporate income tax rate was blended in fiscal
2018, resulting in a statutory federal rate of approximately 30.4% (8 months at 35% and 4 months at 21%), and 21% for
subsequent fiscal years. The Company remeasured its existing deferred tax assets and liabilities at the rate the Company
expects to be in effect when those deferred taxes will be realized and recorded a one-time deferred tax expense of
approximately $3,300,000 during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
The Company followed the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”), which provides additional
clarification regarding the application of ASC Topic 740 in situations where the Company does not have the necessary
information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of
the Tax Act for the reporting period in which the Act was enacted. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period beginning in
the reporting period that includes the Act’s enactment date and ending when the Company has obtained, prepared, and
analyzed the information needed in order to complete the accounting requirements but in no circumstances should the
measurement period extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
The $3,300,000 expense for the one-time deferred tax remeasurement is a provisional estimate of the impact of the Tax
Act. In addition, for the year ending April 30, 2019 the Company has estimated that the FDII deduction will benefit the
Company’s full year estimated effective tax rate by approximately 2% and that it will not have an income tax payable as a
result of the one-time deemed repatriation transition tax on unrepatriated foreign earnings. These amounts are considered
provisional because they use estimates for which final tax computations or returns have not been completed and because
estimated amounts may be impacted by future regulatory and accounting guidance if and when issued.
The Company’s financial statements do not reflect the impact of certain aspects of the Tax Act as the Company did not have
the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations), or because sufficient guidance has not
been issued in order to determine an actual or provisional amount for the tax effects of the Act. To date, these aspects include
the new compensation related provisions under section 162(m) and the state income tax conformity to the Tax Act.
For the three months ended July 28, 2018, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $2,567,000, yielding an
effective tax rate of 10.9%. For the three months ended July 29, 2017, the Company recorded a (benefit) for income taxes of
$(3,221,000), yielding an effective tax rate of 42.3%. The variance from statutory rates for the three months ended July 28,
2018 was primarily due to federal R&D credits and the recording of discrete excess tax benefits of $1,150,000 resulting from
the vesting of restricted stock awards and exercises of stock options. The variance from statutory rates for the three months
ended July 29, 2017 was primarily due to federal R&D credits and the recording of discrete excess tax benefits of $1,025,000
resulting from the vesting of restricted stock awards and exercises of stock options.
13. Share Repurchase
In September 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to $25,000,000 of the
Company’s common stock with no specified termination date for the program. No shares were repurchased under the program
during the three months ended July 28, 2018. As of July 28, 2018 and April 30, 2018, approximately $21.2 million remained
authorized for future repurchases under this program.
14. Related Party Transactions
Related party transactions are defined as transactions between the Company and entities either controlled by the Company or
that the Company can significantly influence. Although SoftBank has a controlling interest in HAPSMobile, the Company
determined that it has the ability to exercise significant influence over HAPSMobile. As such, HAPSMobile and SoftBank are
considered related parties of the Company. Concurrent with the formation of HAPSMobile, the Company executed a Design
and Development Agreement (the “DDA”) with HAPSMobile. Under the DDA, the Company will use its best efforts, up to a
maximum net value of $76,589,000, to design and build prototype
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solar powered high altitude aircraft and ground control stations for HAPSMobile and conduct low altitude and high altitude
flight tests of the prototype aircraft.
The Company recorded revenue under the DDA and preliminary design agreements between the Company and SoftBank of
$11,563,000 and $2,551,000 for the three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017, respectively. At July 28, 2018 and
April 30, 2018, the Company had unbilled related party receivables from HAPSMobile of $9,504,000 and $3,145,000
recorded in “Unbilled receivables and retentions” on the consolidated balance sheets, respectively. During the year ended
April 30, 2018, the Company purchased a 5% stake in accordance with the JVA. Refer to Note 6—Equity Method
Investments for further details.
15. Legal Settlements
In May 2018, the Company entered into a settlement agreement to dismiss its claims against MicaSense Inc. and former
AeroVironment employees, Gabriel Torres, Justin McAllister, and Jeff McBride. The terms and amount of the settlement
agreement are confidential. The proceeds of the settlement were received during the three months ended July 28, 2018 and
have been recorded in “Other income, net” on the consolidated statements of operations.
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16. Impact of Adoption of New Accounting Standards
During the three months ended July 28, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The impact to the Company’s unaudited balance sheet as a result of adopting the standard was as
follows:
April 30, 2018
As Reported

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
$1,080 at April 30, 2018
Unbilled receivables and retentions (inclusive of related party unbilled
receivables of $3,145 at April 30, 2018)
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages and related accruals
Income taxes payable
Customer advances
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent
Other non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—10,000,000; none issued or outstanding at
April 30, 2018
Common stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—100,000,000
Issued and outstanding shares—23,908,736 at April 30, 2018
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total AeroVironment stockholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
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$

$

$

$

143,517
113,649

Effect of the
Adoption of
ASC Topic 606

$

—
—

April 30, 2018
As Adjusted

$

143,517
113,649

56,813

—

56,813

13,076
38,640
5,103
28,349
399,147
40,656
19,219
11,168
2,721
472,911

3,796
(1,215)
—
(2,681)
(100)
—
—
326
281
507 $

16,872
37,425
5,103
25,668
399,047
40,656
19,219
11,494
3,002
473,418

21,340
16,851
4,085
2,145
6,892
9,184
60,497
1,536
622
67
49

$

$

—
—
—
1,419
62
110
1,591
—
—
—
—

$

—

—

2
170,139
(21)
239,997
410,117
23
410,140
472,911 $

—
—
—
(1,084)
(1,084)
—
(1,084)
507 $

21,340
16,851
4,085
3,564
6,954
9,294
62,088
1,536
622
67
49

—
2
170,139
(21)
238,913
409,033
23
409,056
473,418
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The table below presents the impact of adoption on the Company’s unaudited statement of operations.
Three Months
Ended
July 29, 2017
As Reported

Revenue:
Product sales
Contract services (inclusive of related party revenue of $2,551 for the
three months ended July 29, 2017)

$

Cost of sales:
Product sales
Contract services
Gross margin:
Product sales
Contract services
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Loss from continuing operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income, net
Other (expense) income, net
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Benefit for income taxes
Equity method investment activity, net of tax
Net loss from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Gain on sale of business, net of tax expense of $0
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to AeroVironment
Net loss per share attributable to AeroVironment—Basic
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss per share attributable to AeroVironment—Basic
Net loss per share attributable to AeroVironment—Diluted
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net loss per share attributable to AeroVironment—Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
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$
$
$
$
$

24,098

Effect of the
Adoption of
ASC Topic 606

(5,318) $

18,780

12,152
36,250

3,429
(1,889)

15,581
34,361

18,784
7,371
26,155

(2,812)
2,320
(492)

15,972
9,691
25,663

5,314
4,781
10,095
11,287
5,542
(6,734)

(2,506)
1,109
(1,397)
—
—
(1,397)

2,808
5,890
8,698
11,287
5,542
(8,131)

512
4
(6,218)
(2,831)
—
(3,387)

—
—
(1,397)
(390)
—
(1,007) $

512
4
(7,615)
(3,221)
—
(4,394)

—
(1,079)
(1,079)
(4,466)
23
(4,443) $

—
(409)
(409)
(1,416)
—
(1,416) $

—
(1,488)
(1,488)
(5,882)
23
(5,859)

(0.14) $
(0.05)
(0.19) $

(0.04) $
(0.02)
(0.06) $

(0.19)
(0.06)
(0.25)

(0.14) $
(0.05)
(0.19) $

(0.04) $
(0.02)
(0.06) $

(0.19)
(0.06)
(0.25)

23,336,305
23,336,305

$

Three Months
Ended
July 29, 2017
As Adjusted

23,336,305
23,336,305

23,336,305
23,336,305
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The table below presents the impact of adoption on the Company’s unaudited statement of comprehensive loss.
Three Months
Ended

Net loss
Other comprehensive income:
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $4
Total comprehensive loss
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to AeroVironment
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Effect of the

Three Months
Ended

July 29, 2017

Adoption of

July 29, 2017

As Reported

ASC Topic 606

$

(4,466)

$

—
2
(4,464)
23
(4,441)

$

(1,416)

$

—
—
(1,416)
—
(1,416)

As Adjusted

$

(5,882)

$

—
2
(5,880)
23
(5,857)

$
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The table below presents the impact of adoption on the Company’s unaudited statement of cash flows.
Three
Months
Ended
July 29,
2017
As Reported
Operating activities
Net loss
Gain on sale of business, net of tax
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net loss from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss from equity method investments
Impairment of long-lived assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Gains on foreign currency transactions
Deferred income taxes
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of held-to-maturity investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables and retentions
Inventories
Income tax receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of continuing operations
Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of business
Redemptions of held-to-maturity investments
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments
Redemptions of available-for-sale investments
Net cash provided by investing activities from continuing operations
Financing activities
Principal payments of capital lease obligations
Tax withholding payment related to net settlement of equity awards
Exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Operating activities of discontinued operations
Investing activities of discontinued operations
Financing activities of discontinued operations
Net cash used in discontinued operations
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid, net during the period for:
Income taxes
Non-cash activities
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $4
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to equity
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Acquisitions of property and equipment included in accounts payable
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$

Three
Months
Ended
July 29,
2017

Effect of the
Adoption of
ASC Topic
606

(4,466) $
—
1,079
(3,387)
1,406
—
9
209
(106)
(597)
1,326
474
43,819
3,516
(9,713)
(2,969)
358
(5,504)
(3,496)
25,345

As Adjusted

(1,416) $
—
409
(1,007)

(5,882)
—
1,488
(4,394)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,406
—
9
209
(106)
(597)
1,326
474

—
2,718
(511)
(416)
—
—
(810)
(26)

43,819
6,234
(10,224)
(3,385)
358
(5,504)
(4,306)
25,319

(2,705)
—
59,280
(41,806)
450
15,219

—
—
—
—
—
—

(2,705)
—
59,280
(41,806)
450
15,219

(92)
(212)
1,640
1,336

—
—
—
—

(92)
(212)
1,640
1,336

$

(4,063)
(268)
—
(4,331)
37,569
79,904
117,473 $

26
—
—
26
—
—
—

$

(4,037)
(268)
—
(4,305)
37,569
79,904
117,473

$

1,803

—

$

1,803

$
$
$
$

2
384
—
644

—
—
—
—

$
$
$
$

2
384
—
644
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ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following is a discussion and analysis of our financial condition and the results of operations as of and for the periods
presented below. The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the “Consolidated Financial
Statements” and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This section and other parts of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. In some cases,
forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions. Such forwardlooking statements are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, our management’s beliefs
and assumptions made by our management. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and our
actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause
such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, as updated by our subsequent filings under the Securities and Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”).
Unless required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as
result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The following should be read in conjunction with the critical accounting estimates presented in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. When we prepare these consolidated financial statements, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Some of our accounting
policies require that we make subjective judgments, including estimates that involve matters that are inherently uncertain.
Our most critical estimates include those related to revenue recognition, inventories and reserves for excess and
obsolescence, warranty liabilities, self-insured liabilities, accounting for stock-based awards, and income taxes. We base our
estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for our judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
In the first quarter of our fiscal 2019, we adopted ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), using
the full retrospective method. Topic 606 requires revenue to be recognized when promised goods or services are transferred
to customers in amounts that reflect the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.
Revenue for small unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”) product contracts with both the U.S. government and foreign
government’s under the new standard revenue will be recognized at the point in time when the transfer of control passes to
the customer, which is generally when title and risk of loss transfer. Revenue for Tactical Missile Systems (“TMS”) contracts
will now be recognized under the new standard over time as costs are incurred. Under previous U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles (U.S. GAAP), revenue was generally recognized when deliveries of the related products were made. The
new standard accelerates the timing of when the revenue is recognized, however, it does not change the total amount of
revenue recognized on these contracts. The new standard does not affect revenue recognition for our Customer-Funded
Research and Development (“R&D”) contracts. We continue to recognize revenue for these contracts over time as costs are
incurred.
We review cost performance and estimates-to-complete at least quarterly and in many cases more frequently. Adjustments to
original estimates for a contract’s revenue, estimated costs at completion and estimated profit or loss are
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often required as work progresses under a contract, as experience is gained and as more information is obtained, even though
the scope of work required under the contract may not change, or if contract modifications occur. The impact of revisions in
estimate of completion for all types of contracts are recognized on a cumulative catch-up basis in the period in which the
revisions are made. During the three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017, changes in accounting estimates on
contracts recognized over time are presented below.
For the three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017, favorable and unfavorable cumulative catch-up adjustments
included in revenue were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Gross favorable adjustments
Gross unfavorable adjustments
Net favorable adjustments

$
$

684
(301)
383

$
$

326
(133)
193

For the three months ended July 28, 2018, favorable cumulative catch-up adjustments of $0.7 million were primarily due to
final cost adjustments on six contracts, which individually were not material. For the same period, unfavorable cumulative
catch-up adjustments of $0.3 million were primarily related to higher than expected costs on six contracts, which
individually were not material.
For the three months ended July 29, 2017, favorable cumulative catch-up adjustments of $0.3 million were primarily due to
final cost adjustments on three contracts, which individually were not material. For the same period, unfavorable cumulative
catch-up adjustments of $0.1 million were primarily related to higher than expected costs on six contracts, which
individually were not material.
Fiscal Periods
Due to our fixed year end date of April 30, our first and fourth quarters each consist of approximately 13 weeks. The second
and third quarters each consist of exactly 13 weeks. Our first three quarters end on a Saturday. Our 2019 fiscal year ends on
April 30, 2019 and our fiscal quarters end on July 28, 2018, October 27, 2018 and January 26, 2019, respectively.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth our revenue and gross margin generated for the periods indicated (in thousands):
Three Months Ended July 28, 2018 Compared to Three Months Ended July 29, 2017
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income, net
Other expense, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
Equity method investment activity, net of tax
Net income from continuing operations

$

$

78,043
45,454
32,589
11,956
6,435
14,198
906
8,388
23,492
2,567
(602)
20,323

$

$

34,361
25,663
8,698
11,287
5,542
(8,131)
512
4
(7,615)
(3,221)
—
(4,394)

Revenue. Revenue for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $78.0 million, as compared to $34.4 million for the three
months ended July 29, 2017, representing an increase of $43.6 million, or 127%. The increase in revenue was due an increase
in product deliveries of $36.5 million and an increase in service revenue of $7.1 million. The increase in product deliveries
was primarily due to an increase in product deliveries of small UAS and an increase in product deliveries of tactical missile
systems. During the quarter, we continued to experience expansion in small UAS product deliveries to international
customers. The increase in service revenue was primarily due to an increase in customer-funded R&D primarily associated
with the HAPSMobile design and development agreement (“DDA”), partially offset by decreases in customer-funded R&D
for TMS and TMS variant programs and decreases in sustainment activities in support of small UAS.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $45.5 million, as compared to $25.7 million for the
three months ended July 29, 2017, representing an increase of $19.8 million, or 77%. The increase in cost of sales was a result
of an increase in product cost of sales of $13.8 million and an increase in service costs of sales of $6.0 million. The increase
in product costs was primarily due to the increase in product deliveries. The increase in service costs of sales was primarily
due to the increase in service revenue. As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales decreased from 75% to 58%, primarily due to
an increase in sales volume, which resulted in an decrease in the per unit fixed manufacturing and engineering overhead
support cost, and an increase in the proportion of product deliveries to total revenue.
Gross Margin. Gross margin for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $32.6 million, as compared to $8.7 million for the
three months ended July 29, 2017, representing an increase of $23.9 million, or 275%. The increase in gross margin was
primarily due to an increase in product margin of $22.7 million and an increase in service margin of $1.2 million. The
increase in product margin was primarily due to an increase in product deliveries. The increase in services margin was
primarily due to an increase in service revenue. As a percentage of revenue, gross margin increased from 25% to
42%, primarily due to an increase in sales volume, which resulted in an decrease in the per unit fixed manufacturing and
engineering overhead support cost, and an increase in the proportion of product deliveries to total revenue.
Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense for the three months ended July
28, 2018 was $12.0 million, or 15% of revenue, compared to SG&A expense of $11.3 million, or 33% of revenue,
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for the three months ended July 29, 2017. The increase in SG&A expense was primarily due to an increase in a number of
miscellaneous expenses that were not individually significant, partially offset by a decrease in litigation-related expenses.
Research and Development. R&D expense for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $6.4 million, or 8% of revenue,
compared to R&D expense of $5.5 million, or 16% of revenue, for the three months ended July 29, 2017. R&D expense
increased by $0.9 million, or 16%, for the three months ended July 28, 2018, primarily due to an increase in development
activities for certain strategic initiatives.
Interest Income, net. Interest income, net for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $0.9 million compared to interest
income, net of $0.5 million for the three months ended July 29, 2017. The increase in interest income was primarily due to an
increase in the interest rates earned on our investment portfolio.
Other Income, net. Other income, net, for the three months ended July 28, 2018 was $8.4 million compared to other income,
net of $4,000 for the three months ended July 29, 2017. The increase in other income, net was primarily due to a litigation
settlement and income earned under a transition services agreement with the buyer of our former efficient energy systems
business segment (“EES Business”).
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 10.9% for the three months ended July 28, 2018, as
compared to 42.3% for the three months ended July 29, 2017. The decrease in effective income tax rate was primarily due to
the reduction in the fiscal 2019 federal statutory rate from 35% to 21% resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.
Equity Method Investment Activity, net of tax. Equity method investment activity, net of tax for the three months ended
July 28, 2018 was a loss of $0.6 million compared to no equity method investment activity, net of tax activity for the three
months ended July 29, 2017. The increase was due to the equity method loss associated with our investment in the
HAPSMobile joint venture formed in December 2017.
Backlog
We define funded backlog as remaining performance obligations under firm orders for which funding is currently
appropriated to us under a customer contract. As of July 28, 2018, our funded backlog was approximately $157.0 million.
In addition to our funded backlog, we also had unfunded backlog of $47.2 million as of July 28, 2018. Unfunded backlog
does not meet the definition of a performance obligation under ASC Topic 606. We define unfunded backlog as the total
remaining potential order amounts under cost reimbursable and fixed price contracts with multiple one-year options, and
indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity, or IDIQ contracts. Unfunded backlog does not obligate the U.S. government to
purchase goods or services. There can be no assurance that unfunded backlog will result in any orders in any particular
period, if at all. Management believes that unfunded backlog does not provide a reliable measure of future estimated revenue
under our contracts. Unfunded backlog does not include the remaining potential value associated with a U.S. Army IDIQtype contract for small UAS because the contract was awarded to five companies in 2012, including AeroVironment, and we
cannot be certain that we will receive task orders issued against the contract.
Because of possible future changes in delivery schedules and/or cancellations of orders, backlog at any particular date is not
necessarily representative of actual sales to be expected for any succeeding period, and actual sales for the year may not meet
or exceed the backlog represented. Our backlog is typically subject to large variations from quarter to quarter as existing
contracts expire or are renewed or new contracts are awarded. A majority of our contracts, specifically our IDIQ contracts, do
not currently obligate the U.S. government to purchase any goods or services. Additionally, all U.S. government contracts
included in backlog, whether or not they are funded, may be terminated at the convenience of the U.S. government.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
We currently have no material cash commitments, except for normal recurring trade payables, accrued expenses and ongoing
R&D costs, all of which we anticipate funding through our existing working capital and funds provided by operating
activities. The majority of our purchase obligations are pursuant to funded contractual arrangements with our customers. In
addition, we believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities and other financing
sources will be sufficient to meet our anticipated working capital and capital expenditure requirements during the next
twelve months. There can be no assurance, however, that our business will continue to generate cash flow at current levels. If
we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, then we may be required to sell assets, reduce capital
expenditures or obtain financing. We anticipate that existing sources of liquidity and cash flows from operations will be
sufficient to satisfy our cash needs for the foreseeable future.
Our primary liquidity needs are for financing working capital, investing in capital expenditures, supporting product
development efforts, introducing new products, enhancing existing products and marketing to stimulate acceptance and
adoption of our products and services. Our future capital requirements, to a certain extent, are also subject to general
conditions in or affecting the defense and commercial industries and are subject to general economic, political, financial,
competitive, legislative and regulatory factors that are beyond our control. To the extent that existing cash, cash equivalents,
and cash from operations are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through public
or private equity or debt financing. We may also need to seek additional equity funding or debt financing if we become a
party to any agreement or letter of intent for potential investments in, or acquisitions of, businesses, services or technologies.
Our working capital requirements vary by contract type. On cost-plus-fee programs, we typically bill our incurred costs and
fees monthly as work progresses, and therefore working capital investment is minimal. On fixed-price contracts, we typically
are paid as we deliver products, and working capital is needed to fund labor and other expenses incurred during the lead time
from contract award until contract deliveries begin.
Cash Flows
The following table provides our cash flow data for the three months ended July 28, 2018 and July 29, 2017 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
July 28,
July 29,
2018
2017
(Unaudited)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash provided by investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$
$
$

5,036
30,084
(809)

$
$
$

25,319
15,219
1,336

Cash Provided by Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the three months ended July 28, 2018
decreased by $20.3 million to $5.0 million, compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $25.3 million for the
three months ended July 29, 2017. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to a decrease
in cash as a result of changes in operating assets and liabilities of $45.4 million, largely resulting from increases in unbilled
receivables and retentions primarily due to the timing of revenue recognition and billings, partially offset by an increase in
net income from continuing operations of $24.7 million.
Cash Provided by Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities increased by $14.9 million to $30.1 million
for the three months ended July 28, 2018, compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $15.2 million for the three
months ended July 29, 2017. The increase in net cash provided by investing activities was primarily due to proceeds from the
sale of our EES Business of $32.0 million and an increase in redemptions of available-for-sale investments of $1.8 million,
partially offset by a decrease in net redemptions and purchases of investments of $20.2 million.
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Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities increased by $2.1 million to $0.8
million for the three months ended July 28, 2018, compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $1.3 million for
the three months ended July 29, 2017. The increase in cash used in financing activities was primarily due to a decrease in
cash provided from the exercise of employee stock options of $1.6 million.
Contractual Obligations
During the three months ended July 28, 2018, there were no material changes in our contractual obligations and commercial
commitments from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of July 28, 2018, we had no off‑balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of the SEC’s Regulation S‑K.
Inflation
Our operations have not been, and we do not expect them to be, materially affected by inflation. Historically, we have been
successful in adjusting prices to our customers to reflect changes in our material and labor costs.
New Accounting Standards
Please refer to Note 1 “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies” to our unaudited consolidated financial statements
in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of new accounting pronouncements and accounting
pronouncements adopted during the three months ended July 28, 2018.
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risk factors, including fluctuations in interest rates,
changes in general economic conditions, domestic and foreign competition, and foreign currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
It is our policy not to enter into interest rate derivative financial instruments. We do not currently have any significant
interest rate exposure.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Since a significant part of our sales and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars, we have not experienced significant
foreign exchange gains or losses to date and do not expect to incur significant foreign exchange gains or losses in the
future. We occasionally engage in forward contracts in foreign currencies to limit our exposure on non-U.S. dollar
transactions.
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15I and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

31

Table of Contents

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as of July 28, 2018, the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of July 28, 2018, the end
of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were
operating at a reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors identified in connection with the
evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter
ended July 28, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act).
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On April 18, 2018, a former employee of AeroVironment, Mark Anderson, filed a lawsuit against us and Wahid Nawabi, our
President and Chief Executive Officer, in the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles. Mr.
Anderson’s claims include whistle blower retaliation, race discrimination and wrongful termination related to the termination
of his employment with the Company. Mr. Nawabi was subsequently dismissed as an individual defendant for the racial
discrimination and wrongful terminations claims. On August 2, 2018, the defendants filed their answer to the complaint and
a demurrer seeking dismissal of the whistle blower retaliation claim against Mr. Nawabi. Mr. Anderson is seeking special
damages, general damages, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees and other relief the court deems just and proper. We believe the
complaint contains legal claims that are without merit and will defend ourselves vigorously.
We are subject to lawsuits, government investigations, audits and other legal proceedings from time to time in the ordinary
course of our business. It is not possible to predict the outcome of any legal proceeding with any certainty. The outcome or
costs we incur in connection with a legal proceeding could adversely impact our operating results and financial position.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
There have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed under Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. Please refer to that section for disclosures regarding the risks and
uncertainties related to our business.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On September 24, 2015, we announced that on September 23, 2015 our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase
program (the “Share Repurchase Program”), pursuant to which we may repurchase up to $25 million of our common stock
from time to time, in amounts and at prices we deem appropriate, subject to market conditions and other considerations.
Share repurchases may be executed through open market transactions or negotiated purchases and may be made under a
Rule 10b5-1 plan. There is no expiration date for the program. The Share Repurchase Program does not obligate us to acquire
any particular amount of common stock and may be suspended at any time by our Board of Directors. No shares were
repurchased in the three months ended July 28, 2018. As of July 28, 2018, approximately $21.2 million remained authorized
for future repurchases under this program.
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Exhibit
Number
3.1(1)
3.2(2)
10.1(3)
10.2
31.1
31.2
32#
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AeroVironment, Inc.
Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of AeroVironment, Inc.
Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. and AeroVironment, Inc. dated as
of June 1, 2018.
Side Letter Agreement by and between Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. and AeroVironment, Inc. dated as of
June 29, 2018.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

(1) Incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q filed March 9, 2007
(File No. 001‑33261).
(2) Incorporated by reference herein to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed July 1, 2015 (File
No. 001-33261).
(3) The representations and warranties contained in the Asset Purchase Agreement were made for the purposes of allocating
contractual risk between the parties and not as a means of establishing facts and are qualified by information in
disclosure schedules that the parties exchanged in connection with the signing of the Asset Purchase Agreement.
Moreover, the representations and warranties were made only as of the date of execution of the Asset Purchase
Agreement and information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the
date of the Asset Purchase Agreement. Only parties to the Asset Purchase Agreement have a right to enforce the
agreement. Accordingly, security holders should not rely on the representations and warranties in the Asset Purchase
Agreement.
All schedules (or similar attachments) have been omitted from this filing pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The
Company will furnish copies of any schedules to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
#

The information in Exhibit 32 shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed
incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act (including
this report), unless the Company specifically incorporates the foregoing information into those documents by reference.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Date: September 5, 2018

AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
By: /s/ Wahid Nawabi
Wahid Nawabi
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Teresa P. Covington
Teresa P. Covington
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT
THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (“ Agreement”) is made as of June 1, 2018 (“Effective Date”), by and
between WEBASTO CHARGING SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Purchaser”), and AEROVIRONMENT,
INC., a Delaware corporation (“Seller”).
RECITALS:
A.

Seller, through its efficient energy systems business segment, designs, manufactures, and sells energy products
and solutions, including, but not limited to, products and solutions related to electric vehicle charging, industrial
charging, power management, and power cycling and test systems (“Business”).

B.

Seller desires to sell and assign to Purchaser, and Purchaser desires to purchase and assume from Seller,
substantially all of the assets and certain specified liabilities of the Business upon the terms and conditions set
forth in this Agreement.
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein and for valuable consideration
received, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

1.1

Definitions
( a )

The capitalized terms set forth below have been defined herein in the respective locations set forth
below:
Term

Section

Term

Acquired Assets
Agreement
Allocation Schedule
April 2018 Balance Sheet

2.1
Preamble
2.8
4.4(b)

Assigned Contracts
Assignment
and Assumption
Agreement
Assumed Liabilities
Balance Sheet Date
Benefit Plan
Business
Cap
Cash Purchase Price
Closing
Closing Date
Closing Working Capital
Statement
Competing Transaction

2.1(d)
3.2(b)
2.3
4.4(b)
4.18(a)
Recitals
8.6(b)
2.5(b)
3.1
3.1
2.6(a)
7.11
1

Section

Deductible
8.6(a)
Disputed Amounts
2.6(b)(iii)
Effective Date
Preamble
Estimated Cash Purchase Price
2.5(c)
Estimated Closing Working
Capital
2.5(c)
Excluded Assets
Excluded Contracts
Excluded Liabilities
FCPA
Financial Statements
Flow of Funds Memorandum
Fundamental Representations
ICE
Indemnified Party
Indemnifying Party
Independent Accountant

2.2
2.2(d)
2.4
4.23(b)
4.4(a)
3.2(j)
8.1
4.19(i)
8.4(a)
8.4(a)
2.6(b)(iii)

Inventory
Leased Real Property
Leases
Losses
Material Contracts
New Business Award
Post-Closing Adjustment
Purchase Price
Purchaser
Purchaser Indemnified
Parties
Receivables
( b )

2.1(f)
4.10(b)
4.10(b)
8.2
4.7
2.7
2.6(a)
2.5(a)
Preamble
8.2
4.5

Resolution Period
Restricted Business
Restricted Period
Review Period
Seller
Statement of Objections
Sublease Agreements
Taxes
Territory
Third Party Claim

2.6(b)(ii)
7.3(a)
7.3(a)
2.6(b)(i)
Preamble
2.6(b)(ii)
3.2(d)
4.21(a)
7.3(a)
8.4(a)

Except as otherwise defined herein, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this
Section 1.1:
(i)

“Action” means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit,
notice of violation, proceeding, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or investigation of any
nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or in equity.

(ii)

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly
controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person. For the purposes of this
definition, “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”),
with respect to the relationship between or among two (2) or more Persons, shall mean the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the affairs or
management of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by agreement, or
otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, Seller’s Affiliates shall solely include (i) Seller’s majorityowned or controlled subsidiaries, including without limitation the following subsidiaries:
AeroVironment International PTE. LTD., AV Rhode Island, LLC, SkyTower, Inc., Altoy
Savunma Sanayi ve Havacilik Anonim Sirketi, and AeroVironment, Inc. (Afghanistan)
(collectively, the “AV Subs ”), and (ii) Seller’s and AV Subs’ respective directors and executive
officers.

(iii)

“Business Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property that relates to, or is used or held
for use in connection with, the Business, which specifically excludes Intellectual Property that
relates to, or is used or held for use in connection with Seller’s unmanned aircraft systems
business or any other business activity not related to the Business.

(iv)

“Closing Working Capital” means: (A) the Current Assets, less (B) the Current Liabilities,
determined as of the Effective Time in accordance with the Working Capital Schedule.

(v)

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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( v i )
“Contracts” means all contracts, purchase orders, leases, deeds, mortgages, licenses,
instruments, notes, commitments, undertakings, indentures, joint ventures and all other
agreements, commitments, and legally binding arrangements, whether written or oral.
(vii)

“Current Assets” used to calculate Target Working Capital means trade and other accounts
receivable (net of bad debt reserve), inventory net of excess and obsolescence reserve, accounts
receivable owing from employees, and prepaid expenses, but excluding (A) cash, (B) the portion
of any prepaid expense of which Purchaser will not receive the benefit following the Closing, (C)
deferred Tax assets, and (D) receivables from any of Seller’s Affiliates, directors, employees,
officers which Purchaser will not receive the benefit following the Closing, determined in
accordance with GAAP applied using the same accounting methods, practices, principles,
policies, and procedures used by Seller historically.

(viii)

“Current Liabilities” used to calculate Target Working Capital means trade and other accounts
payable, accrued Taxes, wages and related accruals (including without limitation, salaries, bonus
amounts, incentive accruals, accrued vacation pay, medical and dental insurance), customer
advances, warranty reserves and accrued expenses inclusive of any reserves, but excluding the
current portion of long term debt, determined in accordance with GAAP applied using the same
accounting methods, practices, principles, policies, and procedures used historically by Seller.

(ix)

“Disclosure Schedules” means the schedules delivered by Seller under this Agreement.

(x)

“Employment Agreements” means offers of employment by and between Purchaser, on the one
hand, and each of the Key Employees, in the forms mutually agreed by each party thereto.

(x i)

“Encumbrance” means any charge, claim, community property interest, pledge, hypothecation,
condition, equitable interest, lien (statutory or other), option, security interest, mortgage,
easement, encroachment, right of way, right of first refusal, or restriction of any kind or nature
whatsoever, including any restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt of income, or exercise of
any other attribute of ownership.

(x ii)

“Environmental Laws” means all federal, state, and local environmental Laws, including, but
not limited to, Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq.) (“ Clean Water
Act”), the Resource Conservation & Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq.) (“RCRA”), Safe
Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 300f-j-26), Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 2601
et seq.), Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 et seq.), the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. §§ 9601 et seq.) (“CERCLA”), the Emergency
Planning and Community Right to Know Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11001 et seq. (“ EPCRA”), the
administrative rules and regulations promulgated under such statutes, or any other similar federal,
state, or local Law or administrative rule or regulation of similar effect, each as amended and as in
effect and as adopted as of the Effective Date.
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(xiii)

“Environmental Permits” means any Permits required by any Environmental Law.

(xiv)

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect on the
date or for the period with respect to which such principles are applied.

(xv)

“Governmental Authority ” means any federal, state, local, or foreign government or political
subdivision thereof, or any agency or instrumentality of such government or political subdivision,
or quasi-governmental authority (to the extent that the rules, regulations, or orders of such
organization or authority have the force of Law), or any arbitrator, court, or tribunal of competent
jurisdiction.

(xvi)

“Intellectual Property” means all intellectual property rights and assets, and all rights, interests,
and protections that are associated with, similar to, or required for the exercise of, any of the
foregoing, however arising, pursuant to the Laws of any jurisdiction throughout the world,
whether registered or unregistered, including any and all: (A) trademarks, service marks, trade
names, brand names, logos, trade dress, design rights and other similar designations of source,
sponsorship, association, or origin, together with the goodwill connected with the use of and
symbolized by, and all registrations, applications, and renewals for, any of the foregoing; (B)
internet domain names, whether or not trademarks, registered in any top-level domain by any
authorized private registrar or Governmental Authority, web addresses, web pages, websites and
related content, accounts with Twitter, Facebook, and other social media companies and the
content found thereon and related thereto, and URLs; (C) works of authorship, expressions,
designs and design registrations, whether or not copyrightable, including copyrights, author,
performer, moral, and neighboring rights, and all registrations, applications for registration, and
renewals of such copyrights; (D) inventions, discoveries, ideas, trade secrets, business and
technical information and know-how, databases, data collections, and other confidential and
proprietary information and all rights therein; (E) patents (including all reissues, divisionals,
provisionals, continuations and continuations- in-part, re-examinations, renewals, substitutions,
and extensions thereof), patent applications, and other patent rights and any other Governmental
Authority- issued indicia of invention ownership (including inventor’s certificates, petty patents,
and patent utility models); (F) software and firmware, including data files, source code, object
code, application programming interfaces, architecture, files, records, schematics, computerized
databases, and other related specifications and documentation; (G) royalties, fees, income,
payments, and other proceeds now or hereafter due or payable with respect to any and all of the
foregoing; and (H) all rights to any Actions of any nature available to or being pursued by Seller
to the extent related to the foregoing, whether accruing before, on, or after the Effective Date,
including all rights to and claims for damages, restitution, and injunctive relief for infringement,
dilution, misappropriation, violation, misuse, breach, or default, with the right but no obligation to
sue for such legal and equitable relief, and to collect, or otherwise recover, any such damages.

(xvii)

“Key Employees” means the employees identified on attached Schedule 2.
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(xviii) “Knowledge of Seller” means, as to a particular matter, the actual knowledge of the following
individuals involved in the sale of the Business: Ken Karklin, Sanjeev Choudhary, Wahid
Nawabi, and Teresa Covington, together with such knowledge as each such individual should
have, in each case, following reasonable inquiry.
(xix)

“Law” means any statute, law, ordinance, regulation, rule, code, order, constitution, treaty,
binding common law precedent, judgment, decree, other requirement or rule of law of any
Governmental Authority.

(x x )

“Leased Charging Station” means each parcel of real property leased, licensed or permitted by
Seller through a written agreement to be assigned to Purchaser for the conduct of the Business
(specifically to use such real property to install and operate an electric vehicle charging station)
and used in or necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted together with all
rights, title, and interest of Seller in and to leasehold improvements relating thereto,
including, but not limited to, security deposits, reserves or prepaid rents paid in connection
therewith.

(xxi)

“Leased Real Property” means each parcel of real property leased by Seller to be subleased to
Purchaser for the conduct of the Business, and used in or necessary for the conduct of the
Business as currently conducted (together with all rights, title and interest of Seller in and to
leasehold improvements relating thereto, including, but not limited to, security deposits, reserves
or prepaid rents paid in connection therewith.

(xxii)

“Liabilities” means liabilities, obligations, or commitments of any nature whatsoever, asserted or
unasserted, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, matured or
unmatured, or otherwise.

(xxiii) “Material Adverse Effect” means any event, occurrence, fact, condition, or change that is, or is
reasonably expected to become, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to (A) the
business, operations (or results of operations), financial condition, liabilities, or assets of the
Business, (B) the value of the Acquired Assets, (C) the ability of Seller to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby on a timely basis; provided, however, that for purposes hereof,
such determination shall exclude any event, occurrence, fact, condition, or change resulting or
arising from: (1) general economic or political conditions; (2) conditions generally affecting the
industries in which the Business operates; (3) any changes in financial or securities markets in
general; (4) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities, or terrorism, or the escalation
or worsening thereof; (5) changes in law or accounting policies or procedures; or (6)
announcement of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided further, however,
that any event, occurrence, fact, condition, or change referred to in clauses (1) through (6)
immediately above shall be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect
has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur to the extent that such event, occurrence, fact,
condition, or change has a disproportionate effect on the Business compared to other participants
in the industries in which the Business operates.
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( x x i v ) “Order” means any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, determination, or
award entered by or with any Governmental Authority.
(xxv)

“Ordinary Course of Business” means with respect to any Person, the ordinary course of such
Person’s business consistent with the past customs and practices (including past practices with
respect to quantity, amount, magnitude, and frequency, standard employment and payroll
policies, management of working capital, and making of capital expenditures).

( x x v i ) “Permits” means all permits, licenses, franchises, approvals, authorizations, registrations,
certificates, variances, and similar rights obtained, or required to be obtained, from
Governmental Authorities.
(x x v ii) “Permitted Encumbrances” means (a) liens for Taxes not yet due and payable or being
contested in good faith by appropriate procedures; (b) mechanics’, carriers’, workmen’s,
repairmen’s, or similar statutory liens arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, the
existence of which would not and do not constitute an event of default under, or breach of, a
Contract; (c) easements, rights of way, zoning ordinances, and other similar encumbrances of
record affecting title to, but not adversely affecting the value of, or the current occupancy or use
of, real property in any material respect; and (d) any Encumbrance which is discharged at or
before the Closing.
(xxviii) “Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company,
Governmental Authority, unincorporated organization, trust, association, or other entity or
organization.
(x x ix ) “Post-Closing Taxes” means all Taxes relating to the Business, the Acquired Assets, or the
Assumed Liabilities, in each case attributable to taxable years or periods beginning after the
Closing and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of such Straddle Period beginning
immediately after the Closing.
(xxx)

“Pre-Closing Taxes” means all Taxes relating to the Business, the Acquired Assets, or the
Assumed Liabilities, in each case attributable to taxable years or periods ending at the time of or
prior to the Closing and, with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of such Straddle Period
ending at the time of the Closing.

(xxxi) “Prohibited Person” means any person or entity included on the “Specially Designated Nationals
or Blocked Persons” list maintained by the U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets
Control at its official website or at any replacement website or other official publication of such
list and any entity 50% or more owned by such a person or entity, and any person or entity
included on the Entity List maintained by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry
and Security at its official website or at any replacement website or other official publication of
such list.
(xxxii) “Related Party” means any Affiliate, director, officer, or employee of Seller, any immediate
family member of any director or officer (including parents, siblings, children, and spouses (or
civil partners), and any Person in which any director, officer or Seller owns, in the aggregate, a
direct or indirect beneficial
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ownership representing at least ten percent (10%) of the outstanding voting power or economic
interest of such Person.
(xxxiii) “Representative” means, with respect to any Person, any and all directors, officers, employees,
consultants, financial advisors, counsel, accountants, and other agents of such Person.
(xxxiv) “Straddle Period” means any taxable year or period beginning before and ending after the
Closing. For purposes of this Agreement, a Straddle Period shall be treated on a “closing of the
books” basis as two partial periods, one ending at the time of the Closing and the other
beginning immediately after the Closing, provided that Taxes imposed on a periodic basis shall
be allocated on a daily basis.
(xxxv) “Target Working Capital” means $16,041,287.
(xxxvi) “Tax or Taxes ” means any federal, state, local, or foreign income, gross receipts, franchise,
estimated, alternative minimum, add-on minimum, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added,
excise, natural resources, ad valorem, escheat, unclaimed or abandoned property, severance,
stamp, occupation, premium, profits, windfall profit, environmental, customs, duties, real
property, personal property, capital stock, social security, employment, unemployment,
disability, payroll, license, employee or other withholding, or other tax, similar governmental fee
or other like assessment or charge of any kind whatsoever, whether computed on a separate or
consolidated, unitary or combined basis or in any other manner, together with any interest,
penalty, addition thereto, whether disputed or not and including any obligation to indemnify or
otherwise assume or succeed to the Tax liability of any other Person.
(xxxvii) “Transfer Taxes ” means any sales, use, excise, transfer or other similar Tax imposed with
respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and any interest or penalties related
thereto.
(xxxviii) “Transition Services Agreement ” means the transition services agreement by and between
Purchaser and Seller, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
(xxxix) “Treasury Regulations” means the regulations currently in force as final or temporary that have
been issued by the U.S. Department of Treasury under its authority under the Code, and any
successor regulations.
(x l)

“Working Capital Schedule” means the methodology for calculating Closing Working Capital,
prepared in accordance with ASC 605, attached as Schedule 1.
ARTICLE 2
PURCHASE AND SALE

2.1

Sale of Assets. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, on the Closing Date, Seller will
sell, convey, transfer, assign, and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser will purchase from Seller, all of Seller’s
right, title, and interest in, to, and under the Acquired Assets free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances. For purposes of this
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Agreement, the term “Acquired Assets” means all properties, assets, and/or rights of every kind and nature,
whether real, personal, or mixed, tangible or intangible (including goodwill), wherever located and whether now
existing or hereafter acquired prior to the Closing Date (other than the Excluded Assets), which are primarily
used or held for use in connection with the Business, including, without limitation, the following:
( a )

all accounts, trade, or notes receivable held by Seller with respect to the Business, and any security,
claim, remedy, or other right related to any of the foregoing and in particular, but not limited to, as set out
in Schedule 2.1(a);

(b)

any amounts paid to Seller by a customer of the Business, whether prior to or after the Closing, with
respect to services to be performed by the Business after the Closing;

(c)

all Business Intellectual Property, in particular, but not limited to, as set out in Schedule 4.12(a), together
with all income, royalties, damages, and payments due or payable at the Closing or thereafter (including
damages and payments for past or future infringements or misappropriations thereof) with respect
thereto, the right to sue and recover for past infringements or misappropriations thereof, any and all
corresponding rights that, now or hereafter, may be secured throughout the world, and all copies and
tangible embodiments of any such Business Intellectual Property;

( d )

all Contracts set forth on Schedule 2.1(d) (“Assigned Contracts”) and all rights (including rights of
refund and offset), privileges, deposits, claims, causes of action, and options relating or pertaining
thereto;

(e)

all fixtures, equipment, machinery, tools, vehicles, office equipment, supplies, accessories, computers,
telephones, furniture, furnishings, and other tangible personal property used in the Business and in
particular, but not limited to, as set out in Schedule 2.1(e);

( f )

all inventory, finished goods, raw materials, work in progress, project work in progress, packaging,
supplies, parts, and other inventories, wherever located and in particular, but not limited to, as set out in
Schedule 2.1(f) (“Inventory”);

( g )

all customer files, customer lists, rebates, vendor and supplier lists, and business telephone numbers
utilized in the conduct of the Business, in particular, but not limited to, as set out in Schedule 2.1(g);

(h)

all prepaid expenses, credits, advance payments, claims, security, refunds, rights of recovery, rights of
set-off, rights of recoupment, deposits, charges, sums, and fees (including any such item relating to the
payment of Taxes), in particular, but not limited to, as set out in Schedule 2.1(h);

(i)

all Permits, including Environmental Permits, which are held by Seller and required for the conduct of
the Business as currently conducted or for the ownership and use of the Acquired Assets as currently
owned or licensed by and utilized in the Business, including, without limitation, those set forth on
Schedule 2.1(i), but only to the extent such Permits may be transferred under applicable Law;

(j)

all rights to any Actions of any nature available to or being pursued by Seller to the extent related to the
Business, the Acquired Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities, whether
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known or unknown, matured or unmatured, accrued or contingent, including rights of recovery, rights of
warranty and indemnity, rights of set-off and rights of recoupment, whether arising by way of
counterclaim or otherwise;
(k)

all of Seller’s rights under warranties, indemnities, and all similar rights against third parties to the extent
related to any of the Acquired Assets;

(l)

subject to the grant of a license for use of the Licensed AV Marks (as defined in, and pursuant to the
terms of the Transition Services Agreement), all advertising, marketing, and promotional materials and all
other printed or written materials, including website content;

(m)

complete and accurate copies of all existing data, databases, books, records, correspondence, records of
sales, customer and vendor lists, information related to accounts, personnel and referral sources,
customers and prospective customers, billing records, files, papers and all manuals, drawings, reports,
studies, plans, instructions, and business and accounting records of every kind (including all financial,
business, and marketing plans) that are related to the Business, in each case whether evidenced in
writing, electronic data, computer software, or otherwise, other than those specifically identified as
Excluded Assets below;

(n)

all information or documentation that are related to the Business, including financial data, business plans
and projections, drawings, samples, invention disclosures, trade secrets, technical information, results of
research and other data in either oral or written form;

(o)

originals, or where not available, copies, of all books and records, including, but not limited to, books of
account, ledgers and general, financial and accounting records, machinery and equipment maintenance
files, customer lists, customer purchasing histories, price lists, distribution lists, supplier lists, production
data, quality control records and procedures, customer complaints and inquiry files, research and
development files, records and data (including all correspondence with any Governmental Authority),
sales material and records (including pricing history, total sales, terms and conditions of sale, sales and
pricing policies and practices), strategic plans, internal financial statements, passwords, logins, keys,
marketing and promotional surveys, material and research and files relating to the Business Intellectual
Property;

(p)
( q )

2 .2

all goodwill of the Business and/or the foregoing items; and
all other properties, assets, rights, and interests not referred to in subsections (a) through (p) above
owned by Seller as of the Closing, or in which Seller has an interest, that are primarily used in the
conduct of the Business.

Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding anything contained in Section 2.1 of this Agreement, Seller shall not sell,
assign, convey, transfer, or deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall not purchase, acquire, or accept any of
Seller’s assets, rights, or property from Seller that is not specifically an Acquired Asset. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Acquired Assets shall not include the following assets, rights, and properties of Seller, whether or not
relating to the operations of the Business, all determined as of the Closing Date (collectively, “Excluded
Assets”):
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(a)

Seller’s cash and cash equivalents (other than cash collected by Seller after the Closing Date due to the
collection of accounts receivable or other current assets transferred to Purchaser pursuant to this
Agreement);

(b)

any policies of insurance issued to Seller, including, without limitation, directors’ and officers’ liability,
general liability, workers compensation, umbrella and automobile insurance policies, any surety bonds
and any refunds of any prepaid premiums for any and all policies of insurance issued to Seller (other than
any claims relating the Acquired Assets or the Business arising after the Closing Date);

(c)

all assets and rights relating to the Benefit Plans ever maintained by Seller or covering employees of
Seller or to which Seller has made any contribution or to which Seller could be subject to any Liability
except as provided in Section 2.1 or 2.3;

(d)

2 . 3

all such Contracts that are not being assigned pursuant to Section 2.1(d) (“Excluded Contracts”);

( e )

All refunds (or credits) of any Pre-Closing Taxes (other than Transfer Taxes) and one- half of any
refunds (or credits) of any Transfer Taxes;

(f)

all rights of Seller under this Agreement; and

(g)

all rights relating to the assets specifically described on Schedule 2.2.

Assumed Liabilities. In connection with the purchase and sale of the Acquired Assets pursuant to this
Agreement, at the Closing, Purchaser shall assume and pay, discharge, perform, or otherwise satisfy only the
following liabilities and obligations (“Assumed Liabilities”):
(a)
(b)
(c)

all trade and other accounts payable of Seller that are reflected on the face of the April 2018 Balance
Sheet or arose in the Ordinary Course of Business since the April 2018 Balance Sheet;
all Liabilities for Post-Closing Taxes and for one-half of any Transfer Taxes;
Seller’s executory obligations under the Assigned Contracts, inclusive of the obligations related to the
standard of warranty therein, subject only to the additional obligations and limitations to Section 7.8;
provided, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Purchaser does not assume, and shall not be
responsible for, any Liabilities that arise from or relate to: (i) (A) defaults thereunder or breaches thereof
on or prior to the Closing, (B) events occurring on or prior to the Closing, which, after notice or lapse of
time or both, could constitute a default or breach, including without limitation, breach of warranty, in
each case whether or not a claim for such default or breach is made prior to or following the Closing, (C)
the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby; or (ii) any indemnification or hold harmless obligation that arises out of any event, act, omission,
or condition occurring or existing prior to the Closing.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained in this Agreement shall require Purchaser to pay,
perform, or satisfy any of the Assumed Liabilities so long as Purchaser shall in good faith contest or
cause to be contested the amount or validity thereof or shall in good faith assert any defense or offset
thereto, and Seller shall provide commercially
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reasonable assistance to Purchaser in so contesting or defending such claims. Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary and for the avoidance of doubt, the fact that a Liability may fall under the
definition of “Assumed Liabilities” and may have been assumed by Purchaser hereunder shall not in any
respect prevent Purchaser or any other Purchaser Indemnified Party from seeking or receiving
indemnification hereunder with respect to such Liability to the extent such Person is entitled to seek
indemnification with respect to such Liability or obligation pursuant to the terms of Article 8, subject to
the limitations set forth therein.
2.4

Excluded Liabilities. Regardless of whether a Liability is disclosed herein or on any schedule or exhibit hereto,
except as expressly set forth in Section 2.3 above, Purchaser shall not assume, and under no circumstances,
including as a successor to Seller, shall Purchaser be obligated to pay, perform, or discharge, and none of the
Acquired Assets shall be or become liable for or subject to, any claim, demand, cost, expense, commitment, duty
to perform, or Liability of any kind, whether direct or indirect, primary or secondary, known or unknown, fixed
or contingent, recorded or unrecorded, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due, asserted or unasserted,
of Seller whether or not resulting from or arising out of any acts or omissions of Seller or any other officer,
employee, or agent of the Business (collectively, “Excluded Liabilities”), except as otherwise provided in the
Transition Services Agreement. The Excluded Liabilities shall include, but not be limited to, the following, unless
otherwise expressly included in the Assumed Liabilities:
(a)

all Liabilities in respect of any pending or threatened Action of any kind or nature arising out of, relating
to, or otherwise in respect of the operation of the Business or use of the Acquired Assets or arising from
any facts, events, transactions, occurrences, circumstances, actions, or inactions occurring or existing on
or prior to the Closing Date;

(b)

any trade accounts payable of Seller (i) to the extent not accounted for on the face of the April 2018
Balance Sheet or incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business after the April 2018 Balance Sheet date
prior to Closing; (ii) which constitute intercompany payables owing to Affiliates of Seller; (iii) which
constitute debt, loans, or credit facilities to financial institutions; or (iv) which did not arise in the
Ordinary Course of Business;

( c )

any Liabilities associated with debt, loans, or credit facilities of Seller and/or the Business owing to
financial institutions;

(d )

all other accounts, notes, non-trade payables, Liabilities, debts, accrued expenses, and other obligations
of Seller;

(e)

except as described below in Section 2.4(f), all Tax obligations and Liabilities of Seller (or Affiliates of
Seller), including but not limited to any (i) Pre-Closing Taxes, and
(ii) employment Taxes paid or to be paid by Seller for any reason whatsoever;

(f)

one-half of all Transfer Taxes;

(g)

any Liabilities relating to or arising out of the Excluded Assets;

(h)

all obligations of Seller on all Contracts that are not Assigned Contracts, including, without limitation,
Excluded Contracts;
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( i)

any Liabilities of the Business relating to or arising from unfulfilled commitments, quotations, purchase
orders, customer orders, or work orders that (i) do not constitute part of the Acquired Assets issued by the
Business’s customers to Seller on or before the Closing, (ii) did not arise in the Ordinary Course of
Business, or (iii) are not validly and effectively assigned to Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement;

(j)

any breach of contract, product liability, tort, infringement, misappropriation of trade secret, violation
Law (including Environmental Laws), or other matter, including any third-party claim under a theory
fraudulent conveyance, inadequate consideration, or preferential transfer, in each case arising out
facts, events, transactions, occurrences, circumstances, actions, or inactions occurring or existing on
prior to the Closing Date;

( k )

all claims relating to pre-Closing product or service warranties for amounts over and above Seller’s
warranty reserve identified in the Closing Working Capital, it being agreed that (A) Purchaser will settle
warranty claims consistent with past practice and its reasonable business judgment, and (B) Purchaser and
Seller will in good faith discuss any warranty claim settlement reasonably estimated to be greater than
$10,000;

(l)

any product Liability or similar claim for injury to a Person or property which arises out of or is based
upon any express or implied representation, warranty, agreement, or guaranty made by Seller, its
Affiliates, or any of their respective Representatives, or by reason of the improper performance or
malfunctioning of a product, improper design or manufacture, failure to adequately package, label, or
warn of hazards or other related product defects of any products at any time manufactured or sold or any
service performed by Seller prior to Closing;

(m)

any non-warranty-related recall, design defect, or similar claims of any products manufactured or sold or
any service performed by Seller (provided such manufacture, sale, or service occurred prior to the
Closing);

(n)

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with the failure by Seller to own all right,
title, and interest in and to the Business Intellectual Property;

(o)

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with any royalties, fees, claims, violations,
or infringements with respect to the Business Intellectual Property or third party intellectual property or
the interests therein, in each case arising or related to actions or claims relating to a period or periods
prior to the Closing Date;

(p)

any Liabilities of Seller arising out of, based on or related to any and all claims brought by any present
or former employees, officers, directors, partners, owners, shareholders, agents, independent contractors
or consultants of Seller including, without limitation, any and all claims whether based on tort, contract or
any federal, state or local law, statute or regulation or Constitution, or based on, arising out of or related
to: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended; the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act; the Americans with Disabilities Act
of 1990, as amended; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended; the
Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended; the Family & Medical Leave Act; the California Family
Rights Act; the Equal Pay Act, the California Code of Regulations, the Genetic Information
Nondiscrimination Act, the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, the Lilly
Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the California Constitution, the United
States
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of
of
of
or

Constitution, all provisions of the California Labor Code; the California Fair Employment and Housing
Act.; Age Discrimination in Employment Act, including amendments, the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act; the California Business & Professions Code; the applicable wage orders of the Industrial
Welfare Commission; and any claim for wages, bonus, sick leave, holiday pay, meal/rest periods,
overtime, penalties, any wage and hour violation, entitlement under any leave laws, health or medical
insurance, pension or retirement benefits, or any other employment benefits, any claim for employment
discrimination, retaliation or harassment of any kind, wrongful termination, slander, defamation, invasion
of privacy, or emotional distress, or any claim for injunctive relief, costs, fees, or other expenses
including attorneys’ fees incurred in these claims;
(q)

any Liabilities to indemnify, reimburse, or advance amounts to any present or former officer, director,
employee, or agent of Seller (including with respect to any breach of fiduciary obligations by same);

( r )

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with the failure by Seller or any of its
Affiliates to obtain on behalf of the Business all Permits required to carry on the Business as presently
conducted;

( s )

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with the failure by Seller or any of its
Affiliates to comply with any Law or Order (excluding any Liabilities related to Taxes);

(t)

any Liabilities under Environmental Laws, to the extent arising out of or relating to facts, circumstances,
or conditions existing on or prior to the Closing or otherwise to the extent arising out of any actions or
omissions of Seller;

( u )

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with the failure by Seller or any of its
Affiliates to comply with any labor or employment Law or Order;

( v )

any Liabilities arising out of, in respect of, or in connection with the failure by Seller or any of its
Affiliates to comply with any Law related to the Business Intellectual Property, to the extent arising out of
or relating to facts, circumstances, or conditions existing on or prior to the Closing or otherwise to the
extent arising out of any actions or omissions of Seller prior to the Closing;

(w)

any lease, maintenance, insurance, and any other obligations or Liabilities of Seller with respect to the
Business and Acquired Assets for all periods up to the Closing Date;

(x)

any liability of Seller to pay any amounts to any of the employees allocated to the Business due to the
termination of any employment relationship/agreement between Seller and such employees prior to
Closing (including without limitation all accrued sales commissions and all accrued vacation for Hired
Employees); and

( y )

any liability of Seller to pay any amounts of compensation to any of the employees allocated to the
Business due to the termination of any stock and/or stock option rights granted by the Seller to such
employees.
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2.5

Purchase Price; Payment.
(a)

Purchase Price. The total consideration for Purchaser’s purchase of the Acquired Assets and assumption
of the Assumed Liabilities (“Purchase Price”) shall be the Cash Purchase Price (defined below), subject
to adjustment pursuant to Section 2.6.

(b )

Cash Purchase Price. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cash Purchase Price” shall be an amount equal
to:
(i)
(ii)

plus the amount (if any) by which the Closing Working Capital exceeds the Target Working
Capital; and

(iii)

minus the amount (if any) by which the Closing Working Capital is less than the Target Working
Capital; and

(iv)

2.6

$35,000,000.00;

plus the cost of vesting of certain restricted stock awards identified on Schedule 2.5(b)(iv).

(c)

Estimated Purchase Price. At least five (5) business days prior to the Closing Date, Seller shall prepare in
good faith and deliver to Purchaser an estimated purchase price written statement, in a form reasonably
acceptable to Purchaser, that sets forth Seller’s good faith calculation and estimate of the estimated
Closing Working Capital (“Estimated Closing Working Capital”), together with such schedules and
data with respect to the determination of the foregoing as are reasonably necessary to support such
calculation and amount and, the actual cost of vesting of the restricted stock awards identified on
Schedule 2.5(b)(iv), and on the basis of the foregoing, a calculation of the estimated Cash Purchase Price
(“Estimated Cash Purchase Price”).

( d )

Payment. At the Closing, Purchaser shall pay (or cause to be paid) to Seller, by wire transfer of
immediately available funds to an account designated in writing by Seller to Purchaser no later than five
(5) business days prior to the Closing Date, an amount equal to the Estimated Cash Purchase Price.

Purchase Price Adjustment.
(a)

(b)

Post-Closing Adjustment. Within seventy-five (75) days after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall prepare
and deliver to Seller a statement setting forth its calculation of the actual Closing Working Capital
(“Closing Working Capital Statement”). The post- closing adjustment shall be an amount equal to the
actual Closing Working Capital minus the Estimated Closing Working Capital (“ Post-Closing
Adjustment”).
Examination and Review.
(i)

Examination. After receipt of the Closing Working Capital Statement, Seller shall have thirty (30)
days (“Review Period”) to review the Closing Working Capital Statement. During the Review
Period, upon reasonable advanced notice and during normal business hours, Seller and Seller’s
accountants shall have reasonable access to the books and records of Purchaser, the personnel of,
and work papers prepared by, Purchaser and/or Purchaser’s accountants (such personnel and
records to be made available if necessary, at Seller’s sole cost and expense, at the Seller’s facility
in Simi Valley, California and/or Monrovia,
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California) to the extent that they relate to the Closing Working Capital Statement and to such
historical financial information (to the extent in Purchaser’s possession) relating to the Closing
Working Capital Statement as Seller may reasonably request for the purpose of reviewing the
Closing Working Capital Statement and to prepare a Statement of Objections (defined below);
provided, that such access shall be in a manner that does not interfere with the normal business
operations of Purchaser or the Business.
(ii)

Objection. On or prior to the last day of the Review Period, Seller may object to the Closing
Working Capital Statement by delivering to Purchaser a written statement setting forth Seller’s
objections in reasonable detail, indicating each disputed item or amount and the basis for Seller’s
disagreement therewith (“Statement of Objections”). If Seller fails to deliver the Statement of
Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, the Closing Working Capital Statement
and the Post-Closing Adjustment, as the case may be, reflected in the Closing Working Capital
Statement shall be deemed to have been accepted by Seller. If Seller delivers the Statement of
Objections before the expiration of the Review Period, Purchaser and Seller shall negotiate in
good faith to resolve such objections within thirty (30) days after the delivery of the Statement of
Objections (“Resolution Period”), and, if the same are so resolved within the Resolution Period,
the Post-Closing Adjustment and the Closing Working Capital Statement with such changes as
may have been previously agreed in writing by Purchaser and Seller shall be final and binding.

( iii)

Resolution of Disputes. If Seller and Purchaser fail to reach an agreement with respect to all of
the matters set forth in the Statement of Objections before expiration of the Resolution Period,
then any amounts remaining in dispute (“Disputed Amounts”) shall be submitted for resolution to
a mutually agreeable, impartial nationally or regionally recognized firm of independent certified
public accountants other than Seller’s accountants or Purchaser’s accountants (“Independent
Accountant”) who, acting as experts and not arbitrators, shall resolve the Disputed Amounts only
and make any adjustments to the Post- Closing Adjustment, as the case may be, and the Closing
Working Capital Statement. If Seller and Purchaser are unable to agree upon a nationally or
regionally recognized accounting firm, Seller and Purchaser shall each select one
(1) nationally or regionally recognized accounting firm and the two (2) nationally or regionally
recognized accounting firms selected shall mutually agree upon a third (3rd) nationally or
regionally recognized accounting firm to serve as the “Independent Accountant” for purposes of
this Section. The parties hereto agree that all adjustments shall be made without regard to
materiality. The Independent Accountant shall only decide the specific items under dispute by the
parties and their decision for each Disputed Amount must be within the range of values assigned
to each such item in the Closing Working Capital Statement and the Statement of Objections,
respectively.

(iv)

Fees of the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accountant shall
be paid by Seller, on the one hand, and by Purchaser, on the other hand, based upon the
percentage that the amount actually contested but not awarded to Seller or Purchaser,
respectively, bears to the aggregate amount actually contested by Seller and Purchaser.
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(

v

)
Determination by Independent Accountant. The Independent Accountant shall make a
determination as soon as practicable within thirty (30) days (or such other time as the parties
hereto shall agree in writing) after its engagement, and its resolution of the Disputed Amounts and
its adjustments to the Closing Working Capital Statement and/or the Post-Closing Adjustment
shall be conclusive and binding upon the parties hereto. Such determination shall be the sole
remedy for any dispute under this Section 2.6(b).

(c)

Payments of Post-Closing Adjustment. Except as otherwise provided herein, any payment of the PostClosing Adjustment shall be due (i) within five (5) days of acceptance of the applicable Closing Working
Capital Statement or (ii) if there are Disputed Amounts, then within five (5) days of the resolution
described in Section 2.6(b)(v) above. If the Post- Closing Adjustment is a positive number, Purchaser
shall pay to Seller an amount equal to the Post-Closing Adjustment in cash (by means of federal funds
wire or interbank transfer in immediately available funds). If the Post-Closing Adjustment is a negative
number, Seller shall pay to Purchaser an amount equal to the Post-Closing Adjustment in cash (by means
of federal funds wire or interbank transfer in immediately available funds).

( d )

Adjustments for Tax Purposes. Any payments made pursuant to Section 2.6 shall be treated as an
adjustment to the Purchase Price by the parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.

2.7

Withholding Tax. Purchaser shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Purchase Price any amounts that
Purchaser is required to deduct and withhold under any provision of applicable Law. All such withheld amounts
shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to Seller hereunder.

2 .8

Allocation of Purchase Price. Seller and Purchaser agree that the Purchase Price and the Assumed Liabilities
(plus other relevant items) shall be allocated among the Acquired Assets for all purposes (including Tax and
financial accounting) as shown on the allocation schedule (“Allocation Schedule”). The Allocation Schedule
shall be prepared in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. A draft
of the Allocation Schedule shall be prepared by Purchaser and delivered to Seller within ninety (90) days
following the Closing Date. If Seller notifies Purchaser in writing that Seller objects to one or more items
reflected in the Allocation Schedule, Seller and Purchaser shall negotiate in good faith to resolve such dispute;
provided, however, that if Seller and Purchaser are unable to resolve any dispute with respect to the Allocation
Schedule within thirty (30) days following Purchaser’s receipt of Seller’s notice of objection, such dispute shall
be resolved by the Independent Accountant. The fees and expenses of such accounting firm shall be borne
equally by Seller and Purchaser. Seller and Purchaser agree to file their respective IRS Forms 8594 and all
federal, state, and local Tax returns in accordance with the Allocation Schedule and agree to take no position,
and to cause their respective Affiliates to take no position, inconsistent with the Allocation Schedule in any
proceeding before any government agency, except to the extent required by applicable Law. Any adjustments to
the Purchase Price pursuant to Section 2.6 shall be allocated in a manner consistent with the Allocation Schedule.

2 .9

Purchaser’s Grant of Rights to Seller. Purchaser grants to Seller a non-exclusive, worldwide, paid-up in full,
royalty free, perpetual, irrevocable license, with rights to sublicense and right to use any and all trade secrets,
business and technical information and know-how, databases, data collections, and other confidential and
proprietary information that relates to, or is used or held
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for use in connection with the Seller’s business, including but not limited to unmanned aircraft systems, but
specifically excluding the Business (“License Back”). Notwithstanding the License Back, for a perpetual period
commencing on the Closing Date, Seller shall not, and shall not permit, cause, or encourage any other Person
(including Seller’s Affiliates) to, directly or indirectly, use in any way the License Back to engage in or assist
others in engaging in, or undertake any planning to engage in, all or any portion of the Business or any business
that is competitive with all or any portion of the Business anywhere in the world.
ARTICLE 3
CLOSING
3.1

Time and Place. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the consummation of the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement (“Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Clark Hill PLC, 1055 West Seventh
Street, Suite 2400, Los Angeles, California 90017 via electronic exchange of copies of the executed documents
and delivery of all funds contemplated by Section 2.5(d), within two (2) business days following the satisfaction
or waiver (by the beneficiary party of any condition) of all conditions to the Closing set forth in Article 6 or at
such other place and time as the parties mutually agree (the date on which the Closing actually occurs is
hereinafter referred to as the “Closing Date”). The Closing shall be deemed to be effective as of 11:59 p.m. U.S.
Pacific Time on the Closing Date (the “Effective Time”).

3 . 2

Seller’s Obligations at Closing. At the Closing, Seller shall deliver to Purchaser the following in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser and its counsel:
(a)

a bill of sale, duly executed by Seller;

(b )

an assignment and assumption agreement (“Assignment and Assumption Agreement ”), duly executed
by Seller;

( c )

the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Seller, and any ancillary documents required
thereby, duly executed by the Seller and any other parties thereto other than the Purchaser;

(d)

with respect to each Leased Real Property, sublease agreements in the form(s) approved by Purchaser
(“Sublease Agreements”), each duly executed by Seller and consented to in writing by the applicable
landlord of such Leased Real Property;

( e )

with respect to each Leased Charging Station, assignments in the form(s) approved by Purchaser
(“Charging Station Assignment Agreements ”), each duly executed by Seller and consented to in
writing by the applicable landlord or licensor of such Leased Charging Station;

( f )

assignments duly executed by Seller, transferring all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to the
registered and unregistered Business Intellectual Property or pending applications for registration of such,
and duly executed certificates, amendments, or any other documents necessary to assign Seller’s rights to
all names, assumed fictional business names, trade names, unregistered trademarks and service marks,
trade dress and similar rights included in Business Intellectual Property;

( g )

a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Seller certifying that
attached thereto are true and complete copies of all resolutions adopted by
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the board of directors of Seller authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement
and the documents contemplated hereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby, and that all such resolutions are in full force and effect and are all the resolutions
adopted in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby;

3.3

(h)

a certificate providing that (i) the representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement,
the documents contemplated hereunder, and any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant hereto are
true and correct in all material respects if not qualified by materiality, or in all respects if so qualified, on
and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of such date (except those
representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy of which
shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects), and (ii) Seller duly performed and complied
in all material respects with all obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions required by this
Agreement and each of the documents contemplated hereunder to be performed or complied with by it
prior to or on the Closing Date, provided, that, with respect to obligations, agreements, covenants, and
conditions that are qualified by materiality, Seller performed such obligations, agreements, covenants,
and conditions, as so qualified, in all respects;

( i )

a certificate pursuant to Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b) that Seller is not a foreign person
within the meaning of Section 1445 of the Code duly executed by Seller;

( j )

an executed flow of funds memorandum (“Flow of Funds Memorandum”) in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to the parties; and

(k)

such other customary instruments of transfer, assumption, filings or documents, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser, as may be necessary or reasonably requested by Purchaser to
convey in Purchaser absolute ownership, and quiet enjoyment and possession, of the Acquired Assets
free and clear of all Encumbrances, or as may be required to give effect to this Agreement.

Purchaser’s Obligations at Closing. At the Closing, Purchaser shall deliver to Seller the following in form and
substance satisfactory to Seller and its counsel:
(a)

the Cash Purchase Price pursuant to the terms and limitations set forth in Section 2.5;

(b)

the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser;

(c)

the Transition Services Agreement, duly executed by Purchaser;

(d)

each of the Sublease Agreements, duly executed by Purchaser;

(e)

a certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary (or equivalent officer) of Purchaser certifying that
attached thereto are true and complete copies of all resolutions adopted by the board of directors of
Purchaser authorizing the execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the documents
contemplated hereunder and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and
that all such resolutions are in full force and effect and are all the resolutions adopted in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby;
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( f )

(g)

a certificate providing that (i) the representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in this
Agreement, the documents contemplated hereunder, and any certificate or other writing delivered
pursuant hereto are true and correct in all material respects if not qualified by materiality, or in all
respects if so qualified, on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of
such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the
accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects), and (ii) Purchaser duly
performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations, agreements, covenants, and
conditions required by this Agreement and each of the documents contemplated hereunder to be
performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date, provided, that, with respect to
obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions that are qualified by materiality, Purchaser performed
such obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions, as so qualified, in all respects; and
an executed Flow of Funds Memorandum.
ARTICLE 4
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

To induce Purchaser to enter into and perform this Agreement, subject to the correspondingly numbered Section of the
Disclosure Schedules that relates to such Section or in another Section of the Disclosure Schedules to the extent that it
expressly references on the face of such disclosure that such disclosure is applicable to such Section, Seller hereby
represents and warrants to Purchaser the following as of the Effective Date (unless stated as of a specified date):
4.1

Organization and Good Standing. Seller is duly organized and in valid existence as a corporation under the laws
of Delaware and has full corporate power and authority to carry on the Business as it is now being conducted
and to own and operate the Acquired Assets. Schedule 4.1 sets forth each jurisdiction in which Seller is licensed
or qualified to do business with respect to the Business, and Seller is duly licensed or qualified to do business
and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the ownership of the Acquired Assets or the operation of the
Business as currently conducted makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except where the failure to be
so licensed, qualified or in good standing would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

4 . 2

Authorization; Enforceability. Seller has full corporate power and authority to make, execute, deliver, and
perform this Agreement and the documents to be delivered hereunder and to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution and delivery by Seller of this Agreement and each of the
documents hereunder to which Seller is a party, the performance by Seller of its obligations hereunder and
thereunder, and the consummation by Seller of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly
authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Seller. This Agreement has been duly executed and
delivered by Seller, and (assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery by Purchaser) this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms.
When each document contemplated hereunder to which Seller is or will be a party has been duly executed and
delivered by Seller (assuming due authorization, execution, and delivery by each other party thereto), such
document will constitute a legal and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against it in accordance with its
terms.

4 . 3

No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the
documents to be delivered hereunder, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby, do not and will not: (a) conflict with or result in a violation or
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breach of, or default under, any provision in the organizational and governing documents of Seller; (b) conflict
with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any Order or Law applicable to Seller or any of the
Acquired Assets; (c) except as set forth on Schedule 4.3, require the consent, notice, approval, Permit, waiver,
authorization, or other action by, to, or from any Person under, conflict with, result in a material violation or
breach of, constitute a default under, result in acceleration of or create in any party the right to accelerate,
terminate, modify, or cancel any obligation or loss of any material benefit under any Contract or other instrument
to which Seller is a party or by which the Business is bound or to which any of the Acquired Assets are subject;
or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Encumbrance on the Acquired Assets other than Permitted
Encumbrances. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.3, no consent, notice, approval, Permit, waiver, or
authorization is required to be obtained by Seller from any Person or Governmental Authority in connection with
the execution, delivery, and performance by Seller of this Agreement and the documents hereunder and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
4.4

4.5

Financial Statements.
(a)

Schedule 4.4.(a) includes true, correct, and complete copies of (i) the unaudited internal statement of
operations of the Business as of and for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2016, 2017 and 2018, (ii) the
unaudited balance sheets of the Business as of April 30, 2016, 2017, 2018, and (iii) the April 2018
Balance Sheet (collectively, “Financial Statements”). The Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated. The Financial
Statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition of the Business as of the dates
therein indicated and the results of operations of the Business for the periods therein specified. The
financial records of Seller related to the Business have been, and are being, maintained in all respects in
accordance with applicable legal and accounting requirements. The Financial Statements are in
accordance with the books and records of Seller, and such books and records of Seller related to the
Business are true and complete.

(b)

Seller has no Liabilities with respect to the Business, except (i) those which are adequately reflected or
reserved against in the balance sheet of the Business dated as of April 30, 2018 (“April 2018 Balance
Sheet”), and (ii) those which have been incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business since April 30, 2018
(“Balance Sheet Date”) and which are not, individually or in the aggregate, material in amount. To the
Knowledge of Seller, there is no circumstance, condition, event, or arrangement that would hereafter give
rise to any Liabilities of Seller with respect to the Business except in the Ordinary Course of Business.

Receivables. Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.5, the accounts receivable reflected on the April 2018
Balance Sheet and all of the receivables arising since the April 2018 Balance Sheet (collectively, “ Receivables”)
arose from bona fide transactions in the Ordinary Course of Business and represent enforceable obligations to
Seller, and the goods and/or services involved have been sold, delivered, and/or performed to the account
obligors, and no further filings (with Governmental Authorities, insurers, or others) are required to be made, no
further goods are required to be provided, and no further services are required to be rendered to complete the
sales and fully render the services and to entitle Seller and Purchaser to collect (or be reimbursed for) the
Receivables in full. No Receivable has been assigned or pledged to any Person and, except only to the extent
fully reserved against as set forth on the April 2018 Balance Sheet, no contest, claim, defense, or set-off to any
such Receivable has been asserted by the account obligor or exists. Schedule 4.5 contains a complete and
accurate list of all Receivables as of the Balance
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Sheet Date setting forth the (i) customer name, (ii) aggregate aged invoice amounts, (iii) internal job number, (iv)
invoice date, and (v) invoice number. Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.5, (a) no account obligor is
delinquent for payments in excess of $100,000 or for more than ninety (90) days; (b) no account obligor has
refused or threatened to refuse, in writing, to pay its obligations to Seller for any reason, or has otherwise made a
claim, in writing, of set-off or similar claim; and (c) to the Knowledge of Seller, no account obligor is insolvent or
bankrupt.
4 . 6

Absence of Certain Changes, Events, and Conditions. Since January 1, 2018, there has not been a Material
Adverse Effect, or any development that is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, in the
financial condition or results of operations of the Business or the Acquired Assets. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, since such date, except as disclosed on Schedule 4.6, Seller has not, with respect to the
Business:
(a)

conducted the Business other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(b)

suffered any extraordinary losses or waived any rights of material value, whether or not in the Ordinary
Course of Business;

(c)

incurred any Liabilities of any nature other than items incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, or
increased (or experienced any change in the assumptions underlying or the methods of calculating) any
bad debt, contingency, or other reserve, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;

( d )

permitted, allowed, or suffered any of its properties or assets (real, personal, or mixed, tangible or
intangible) to be subjected to any Encumbrance (other than Permitted Encumbrances);

(e)

canceled any debts or waived any claims or rights in excess of $25,000 individually or
$100,000 in the aggregate;

(f)

incurred any long term indebtedness;

(g)

entered into any Contract other than in the Ordinary Course of Business that could require Seller to pay
in excess of $25,000;

(h)

suffered any damage, destruction, or loss to the Acquired Assets or the Business in excess of $25,000,
whether covered by insurance or not;

( i)

sold, assigned, transferred, leased, licensed, or otherwise disposed, or agreed to sell, assign, transfer,
lease, license, or otherwise dispose of, any of the Acquired Assets (whether tangible or intangible),
except in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(j)

disposed of or permitted to lapse any right to use any Business Intellectual Property or disposed of or
disclosed to any Person not authorized to have such information any of Business Intellectual Property not
previously a matter of public knowledge or existing in the public domain;

(k)

granted, or agreed to grant, any license or sublicense of, assigned, or transferred Business Intellectual
Property or material rights under any Business Intellectual Property, except in the Ordinary Course of
Business pursuant to customer, vendor, supplier or manufacturer Contracts that grant non-exclusive
licenses to such parties;
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( l )

(m)
(n )
(o)
4.7

granted or incurred any obligation for any increase in the compensation of any employee of Seller
(including any increase pursuant to any bonus, pension, profit-sharing, retirement, or other plan or
commitment) except for raises to employees in the Ordinary Course of Business;
terminated, amended, or modified any Material Contract or agreed to do so;
taken any other action that is not in the Ordinary Course of Business or provided for in this Agreement;
or
agreed in writing to do any of the foregoing.

Material Contracts.
( a )

Schedule 4.7 contains a complete and accurate list of all Contracts (with specific reference to the
subsection of this Section 4.7(a) to which such Contract relates) that are primarily used by Seller in or
necessary for the operation of the Business or the use of the Acquired Assets to which (x) Seller or its
Affiliate is a party or by which it is bound or
(y) any asset or property of the Business (including any Acquired Asset or Assumed Liability) is subject,
that is described in any of the following subsections and, in each case, which Contract remains in effect
(such contracts and agreements being the “Material Contracts”):
(i)

all Contracts involving aggregate consideration in excess of $100,000;

(ii)

all Contracts which cannot be cancelled without penalty or without more than ninety (90) days’
notice;

(iii)

all Contracts that require Seller to purchase or sell a stated portion of the requirements or outputs
of the Business or that contain “take or pay” provisions;

(iv )

all Contracts that provide any customer of Seller with pricing, discounts, or benefits that change
based on the pricing, discounts, or benefits offered to other customers of Seller, including any
agreement containing a “most favored nation” provision;

(v)

any Contract with any Affiliate, or current or former officer, or director, of Seller;

(v i)

all Contracts that provide for the indemnification of any Person or the assumption of any Tax,
environmental, or other Liability of any Person (other than as expressly set forth on the face of
any customer, vendor, supplier or manufacturer Contracts);

(v ii)

all Contracts that relate to the acquisition or disposition of any business, a material amount of
equity or assets of any other Person, or any real property (whether by merger, sale of equity, sale
of assets, or otherwise);

( v i i i ) all broker, distributor, dealer, manufacturer’s representative, franchise, agency, sales
representative, sales promotion, market research, marketing consulting, and

22

advertising Contracts, and any other agreement relating to the sale or distribution of products or
services to or by other Persons;
(ix)
( x

all employment agreements and Contracts with individual natural person independent contractors
or consultants (or similar arrangements);
)

except for Contracts relating to trade receivables, all Contracts relating to indebtedness
(including, without limitation, guarantees);

(xi)

all Contracts with any Governmental Authority;

(x ii)

all Contracts that contain covenants that in any way purport to (A) restrict any business activity
(including the solicitation, hiring, or engagement of any Person or the solicitation of any
customer) of Seller or any of its Affiliates, (B) limit the freedom of Seller or any of its Affiliate
(including, after the Closing, Purchaser or any of its Affiliates) thereof to engage in any line of
business or compete with any Person, including restricting the development, manufacture,
marketing, or distribution of products or services, or (C) provide exclusivity to any Person with
respect to any product or service;

(xiii)

all joint venture, partnership, or similar Contracts;

(x iv )

all Contracts for the sale of any of the Acquired Assets or for the grant to any Person of any
option, right of first refusal, or preferential or similar right to purchase any of the Acquired
Assets;

(xv)

all Contracts with respect to the Leased Real Property;

(xvi)

any Contract under which Seller is lessee of, or holds or operates, any personal property owned
by any other Person;

(xvii)

all Contracts under which Seller uses, or has a right or license granted to it, with respect to any
Business Intellectual Property (other than readily available off-the- shelf software licenses that
cost less than $5,000 in the aggregate per year to replace);

(xviii) any Contract whereby Seller has agreed to, or assumed, any obligation or duty to indemnify,
reimburse, hold harmless, defend, or otherwise assume or incur any obligation or Liability with
respect to the infringement or misappropriation of any Business Intellectual Property (other than
as expressly set forth on the face of any customer , vendor, supplier or manufacturer Contracts);
(x ix )

any Contract with respect to Business Intellectual Property licensed, sold, transferred, leased, or
otherwise provided to any third party (other than as expressly set forth on the face of any
customer, vendor, supplier or manufacturer Contracts);

(xx)

all powers of attorney with respect to the Business or any Acquired Asset;

(xxi)

all collective bargaining agreements or Contracts with any union, if any; and
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(xxii)

all other Contracts that are material to the Acquired Assets or the operation of the Business and
not previously disclosed pursuant to this Section 4.7(a);

provided, however, under no circumstances will any non-disclosure or confidentiality agreement between Seller and a
third party (“AV NDA”) be deemed a “Material Contract” or be required to be listed on Schedule 4.7(a).
(b)

4.8

4 . 9

Each Material Contract is valid and binding on Seller in accordance with its terms and is in full force and
effect. None of Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other party thereto is in breach of or default
under (or is alleged to be in breach of or default under), or has provided or received any notice of any
intention to terminate, any Material Contract. No event or circumstance has occurred that, with notice or
lapse of time or both, could constitute an event of default under any Material Contract or result in a
termination thereof or could cause or permit the acceleration or other changes of any right or obligation
or the loss of any benefit thereunder. Complete and correct copies of each Material Contract (including
all modifications, amendments, and supplements thereto and waivers thereunder) have been delivered to
Purchaser. There are no material disputes pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened under any
Material Contract included in the Acquired Assets.

Title to and Condition of the Acquired Assets.
( a )

Title to the Acquired Assets . Seller is the absolute owner, except for leasehold items, of all rights,
properties (including Business Intellectual Property, subject to Schedule 4.12(c) in which Seller is a valid
licensee to the Business Intellectual Property), and interests in properties of, and with good and
marketable title to, the Acquired Assets, whether personal, mixed, tangible or intangible. The Acquired
Assets are free and clear of restrictions on or conditions to transfer or assignment, and free and clear of
Encumbrances other than Permitted Encumbrances.

(b)

Condition of the Acquired Assets . Except as disclosed in Schedule 4.8(b), all of the tangible Acquired
Assets are (i) in sufficient working order, operating condition and state of repair (including normal wear
and tear based on age and nature of use) for continued use in the Business as currently conducted, (ii)
adequate and sufficient for the operation of the Business as currently conducted, (iii) to the Knowledge of
Seller, free of any known structural or engineering defects, (iv) have been maintained in accordance with
the standards of any manufacturer or any Governmental Authority or other governmental or regulatory
entity in all material respects, and (v) are in the possession or control of Seller or Seller’s suppliers or
third party logistic service providers. The Acquired Assets constitute all of the assets, tangible and
intangible, of any nature whatsoever, that are used in and necessary to conduct the Business, other than
the Excluded Assets and such assets as made available for Purchaser use pursuant to the Transition
Services Agreement.

Inventory. All Inventory consists of a quality and quantity usable and salable in the Ordinary Course of
Business, except for obsolete, damaged, defective, or slow-moving items, all of which have been written off or
written down to net realizable value (or for which adequate reserves have been established) in the April 2018
Balance Sheet. All Inventory is owned by Seller free and clear of all Encumbrances (other than Permitted
Encumbrances), and no Inventory is held on a consignment basis. Seller’s policy for valuation of inventory,
including the determination of obsolete or excess inventory, requires Seller to perform a detailed assessment of
inventory at each
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balance sheet date, which includes a review of, among other factors, an estimate of future demand for products
within specific time horizons, valuation of existing inventory, as well as product lifecycle and product
development plans. Inventory reserves are also provided to cover risks arising from slow-moving items. Seller
writes down its inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between
the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based on assumptions about future demand and market
conditions. Seller may be required to record additional inventory write-downs if actual market conditions are less
favorable than those projected by Seller’s management.
4.10

Real Property.
(a)

Seller does not own fee simple title to any real property used or held for use by Seller for the conduct of
the Business as currently conducted.

(b)

Schedule 4.10(b) sets forth each parcel of Leased Real Property and Leased Charging Station, and a true
and complete list of all leases, subleases, licenses, concessions, and other Contracts (whether written or
oral), including all amendments, extensions renewals, guaranties, assignments and other agreements with
respect thereto, pursuant to which Seller holds any Leased Real Property or Leased Charging Station
(collectively “Leases”). Seller has delivered to Purchaser a true and complete copy of each Lease. With
respect to each Lease, Seller represents and warrants as follows:
(i)
(ii)

such Lease is valid, binding, enforceable, and in full force and effect, and Seller enjoys peaceful
and undisturbed possession of the Leased Real Property and the Leased Charging Station;
No rents or pass-throughs have been prepaid except as reflected in the Lease;

(iii)

The current amount of Seller’s security deposit held by any lessor with respect to the Lease
equals or exceeds the amount set forth in the Lease;

(iv )

The Lease has not been modified, orally or in writing, since its execution, except as set forth in
the documents attached hereto as Schedule 4.10(b);

(v)

The improvements and space required to be provided by lessor or Seller have been furnished
and completed in all respects to the satisfaction of Seller, and all promises of an inducement
nature by Seller or lessor have been fulfilled;

(vi)

To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no uncured defaults by Seller or lessor under the Lease;

(vii)

There are no disputes between any Person and Seller concerning the Lease, the related real
property, or the improvements thereon;

(viii)

To the Knowledge of Seller, there is no prior sale, transfer, assignment, or encumbrance of any
Person’s interest in the Lease;

(ix)

All alterations or additions to the Leased Real Property that have been made by Seller were done
in accordance with the terms of the applicable Lease and in compliance with all Laws;
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(x)

4.11

The guaranties of the guarantors in each Lease (if any) are still in force and effect;

(xi)

Seller is not currently the subject of a bankruptcy proceeding and to the Knowledge of Seller, the
lessor of any of the Leases is not involved in such proceeding;

(x ii)

Seller is not in breach or default under such Lease, and no event has occurred or circumstance
exists which, with the delivery of notice, passage of time or both, could constitute such a breach
or default, and Seller has paid all rent due and payable under such Lease;

(x iii)

Seller has not received or given any notice of any default or event that with notice or lapse of
time, or both, could constitute a default by Seller under any of the Leases and, to the Knowledge
of Seller, no other party is in default thereof, and no party to any Lease has exercised any
termination rights with respect thereto;

(xiv)

Seller is in full and complete possession of the Leased Real Property and Leased Charging
Stations and has not subleased, assigned or otherwise granted to any Person the right to use,
outside of the Ordinary Course of Business for general commercial use, or occupy such Leased
Real Property or the Leased Charging Stations or any portion thereof; and

(x v )

Seller has not pledged, mortgaged, or otherwise granted an Encumbrance on its leasehold
interest in any Leased Real Property or the Leased Charging Stations and has not entered into any
agreement with the holder of any mortgage or other security instrument encumbering the Leased
Real Property or the Leased Charging Stations.

(c)

Seller has not received any written notice of (i) violations of building codes and/or zoning ordinances or
other governmental or regulatory Laws affecting the Leased Real Property or the Leased Charging
Stations, (ii) existing, pending, or threatened condemnation proceedings affecting the Leased Real
Property or the Leased Charging Stations, or (iii) existing, pending, or threatened zoning, building code,
or other moratorium proceedings, or similar matters which could reasonably be expected to adversely
affect the ability to operate the Leased Real Property or the Leased Charging Stations as currently
operated. Neither the whole nor any material portion of any Leased Real Property or the Leased Charging
Stations have been damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty.

(d)

Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.10(d), the Leased Real Property and Leased Charging Stations are
sufficient for the continued conduct of the Business after the Closing in substantially the same manner as
conducted prior to the Closing and constitutes all of the real property necessary to conduct the Business
as currently conducted.

Customers and Suppliers. Schedule 4.11 sets forth a correct and complete list of the top ten (10) customers and
top ten (10) suppliers of Seller by dollar volume relating to the Business for the twelve (12) months ended April
30, 2018, and indicates with respect to each the name, address, and dollar volume of business with Seller. No
customer or supplier required to be disclosed on Schedule 4.11 has terminated or materially reduced, or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, plans to terminate or materially reduce, its purchases from or sales to Seller.
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4.12

Intellectual Property.
(a)

(b)

Schedule 4.12(a) sets forth a true, correct, and complete list and description of all Business Intellectual
Property that has been registered or in which an application for such registration has been filed, including
the respective registration or application numbers and the names of all registered owners. Seller is in
compliance with all Laws applicable to such Intellectual Property and Seller’s ownership and use thereof.
Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.12(b):
(i)

Seller is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title and interest in and to all of the Business
Intellectual Property owned by Seller, and has the exclusive right to use and license the same, free
and clear of any claim or conflict with the intellectual property rights of others;

( i i )

no royalties, honorariums or fees are payable to Seller by any Person by reason of the
ownership or use of any of the Business Intellectual Property, and with the exception of
commercial off-the-shelf software and material licenses that constitute a portion of Business
Intellectual Property no royalties, honorariums or fees are payable by Seller to any third party for
use of any third party intellectual property;

(iii)

there have been no claims made against Seller asserting the invalidity, abuse, misuse, or
unenforceability of any of the Business Intellectual Property and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no
grounds for any such claims exist;

(iv )

Seller has not made any claim of any violation or infringement by others of any of the Business
Intellectual Property or interests therein and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no grounds for any such
claims exist;

( v )

Seller has not received any notice that it is in conflict with or infringing upon the asserted
intellectual property rights of others in connection with the Business, and, to the Knowledge of
Seller, neither the use of the Business Intellectual Property nor the operation of the Business is
infringing or has infringed upon any intellectual property rights of others;

(vi)

Except for (i) the Licensed AV Marks, and (ii) the licensed rights contained in the License Back,
the Business Intellectual Property includes all Seller-owned and licensed intellectual property
rights necessary for Seller to conduct the Business as presently being conducted;

(v ii)

with the exception of commercial off-the-shelf software and material licenses included with the
sale of goods or services, no interest in the Business Intellectual Property has been assigned,
transferred, licensed, or sublicensed by Seller to any Person;

(viii)

to the extent that any item constituting part of the Business Intellectual Property has been
registered with, filed in or issued by any Governmental Authority, such registrations, filings, or
issuances are listed on Schedule 4.12(a) and were duly made and remain in full force and effect;
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(ix )

there has not been any act or failure to act by Seller or any of its directors, officers, employees,
attorneys, or agents during the prosecution or registration of, or any other proceeding relating to,
any of the Business Intellectual Property or of any other fact which could reasonably be expected
to render invalid or unenforceable, or negate the right to issuance of, any of the Business
Intellectual Property;

(x)

no former or current employees, agents, consultants, or independent contractors of Seller have
(A) asserted any claim against Seller in connection with such Person’s involvement in the
conception and development of any Business Intellectual Property, and to the Knowledge of
Seller no such claim has been threatened, or (B) been named as an inventor on any patent or
pending patent application for any device, process, design, or invention of any kind now used or
needed by Seller in the furtherance of the Business, except for inventions that have been assigned
to Seller, with an assignment thereof duly recorded in the United States Patent and Trademark
Office; and

(x i)

to the extent any of the Intellectual Property constitutes proprietary or confidential information,
Seller has reasonably safeguarded such information from disclosure.

(c)

Schedule 4.12(c) sets forth a true, correct, and complete list of all license agreements as to which Seller
is a party and pursuant to which Seller is authorized to use, or authorizes any third party to use, any
Business Intellectual Property (other than commercial off-the- shelf software licenses, or as expressly set
forth on the face of any customer, vendor, supplier or manufacturer Contract). Neither Seller nor any
other Party is in violation or default in any material respect of any such license agreements.

( d )

Seller has made the $250,000.00 payment to Bassi S.r.l. (“Bassi”) to acquire a license of Bassi’s
intellectual property, relating to an agreement between Seller and Bassi executed June 12, 2014.

4.13

Insurance. Seller maintains policies of insurance, including property, fire, workers’ compensation, products
liability, directors’ and officers’ liability, and other casualty and liability insurance, that is in form and amount as
customary for the Business and as may be additionally required under the terms of any Material Contract.
Schedule 4.13 sets forth, with respect to the Business, a complete and correct list of all insurance policies and
fidelity bonds maintained by Seller as of the Effective Date, including coverage amounts, deductibles applicable
to each such policy;. Each insurance policy and bond is in full force and effect, all premiums due and payable
thereon have been paid, and Seller is in full compliance with the terms of such policies and bonds. There is no
claim pending under any of such policies or bonds as to which coverage has been questioned, disputed, or
denied.

4.14

Litigation. Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.14, with respect to the Business, there is no (a) Action
pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against or affecting Seller or pending or, to the Knowledge of
Seller, threatened against or affecting any of the Acquired Assets or the transactions contemplated hereby; (b)
governmental inquiry or investigation pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against or affecting
Seller (including, without limitation, any inquiry as to the qualification of Seller to hold or receive any license or
other Permit); or (c) governmental inquiry or investigation pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened
against or affecting any of the Acquired Assets, and there is no reasonable basis for
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any of the foregoing. Seller is not in default with respect to any Order of any Governmental Authority related to
the Business (x) served upon Seller or (y) that, to the Knowledge of Seller, exists. There is no Action pending,
threatened or contemplated by Seller against any other Person with respect to the Business. Schedule 4.14
includes a true, correct, and complete list of any material Action relating to Seller with respect to the Business
that was pending, settled, or adjudicated since January 1, 2012.
4.15

Warranties; Product Liability.
(a)

There have been no pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened claims under or pursuant to any
warranty, whether expressed or implied, on the products or services sold by Seller prior to the Closing
Date relating to the Business that are not disclosed or referred to in the Financial Statements and that are
not fully reserved against in Seller’s books and records in accordance with GAAP. All of the services
rendered by Seller (whether directly or indirectly through independent contractors or other Persons)
relating to the Business have been performed and all the products sold by the Business have been sold, in
each case in conformity with all express warranties and all applicable Contracts, and Seller has no, nor
shall Seller have any, Liability or obligation for replacement or repair or for other damages relating to or
arising from any such services or products, except for amounts incurred in the Ordinary Course of
Business which are immaterial individually and in the aggregate and not required by GAAP to be
disclosed in the Financial Statements. Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.15(a), no Assigned
Contract with any of Seller’s customers with respect to the Business contains any unusual warranty,
indemnity, or other provisions that could impose material liability on Seller (or Purchaser after the
Closing). Other than customer warranty claims incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, Seller has
not incurred any warranty claims during any of the last three (3) completed fiscal years relating to the
Business.

(b)

Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.15(b), there is no claim asserted, nor, to the Knowledge of
Seller, the basis of any claim, against Seller for injury to person or property of employees or any third
Persons suffered as a result of the manufacture, sale, or distribution of any product or the performance of
any service by Seller relating to the Business, including claims arising out of the allegedly defective or
unsafe nature of any product or the negligent performance of, or failure to perform, any service or work
done by Seller. There are no Liabilities, obligations, or threatened claims for warranty obligations relating
to the Business other than those arising in the Ordinary Course of Business.

4.16

Reserved.

4.17

Permits; Compliance with Laws. Seller has obtained on behalf of the Business all Permits required to carry on
the Business as presently conducted, except where such failure to obtain a Permit would not be reasonably
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect. Seller is in compliance in all
material respects with the requirements, terms, and conditions of each Permit. Schedule 4.17 sets forth a list of all
Permits Seller has obtained with respect to the Business. Seller has not received notice of any violation of any
applicable Law (including, without limitation, any applicable building, occupancy, zoning or other law,
ordinance, or regulation) affecting the Acquired Assets or the Business, and to the Knowledge of Seller there are
no such violations. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.17, Seller has materially complied with all, and is not in
material violation of any, Laws (including, without limitation, any
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applicable insurance regulation or other law, ordinance, or regulation) affecting the Business, the Acquired
Assets or the prospects of the Business.
4.18

4.19

Employee Benefit Plans.
( a )

Schedule 4.18(a) contains a true and complete list of each material pension, benefit, retirement,
compensation, employment, consulting, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, incentive, bonus,
performance award, phantom equity, stock or stock- based, change in control, retention, severance,
vacation, paid time off, welfare, fringe- benefit and other similar agreement, plan, policy, program or
arrangement (and any amendments thereto), in each case whether or not reduced to writing and whether
funded or unfunded, including each “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of
ERISA, whether or not tax-qualified and whether or not subject to ERISA, which is or has been
maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by Seller for the benefit of any
current employee of the Business or any spouse or dependent of such individual or with respect to which
Purchaser or any of its Affiliates could reasonably be expected to have any material Liability (each, a
“Benefit Plan”).

(b)

With respect to each Benefit Plan (i) no such plan is a multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section
3(37) of ERISA; and (ii) no Action has been initiated by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation to
terminate any such plan or to appoint a trustee for any such plan.

(c)

Neither the Seller nor any Affiliate during the past five years has maintained, established, sponsored,
participated in, contributed to or otherwise incurred any Liability with respect to any defined benefit
pension plan or other type of plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, or a
“multiple employer plan” as defined under ERISA and the Code.

(d)

Neither the execution of this Agreement nor any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will
(either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent events): (i) result in the Purchaser or
any of its Affiliates incurring any material obligation or Liability under or with respect to any Benefit
Plan; (ii) result in any “excess parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code;
or (iii) require a “gross-up” or other payment to any “disqualified individual” within the meaning of
Section 280G(c) of the Code.

Labor and Employment Matters.
(a)

Schedule 4.19(a) contains a true, correct, and complete list of all employees of Seller with respect to the
Business as of the Effective Date, together with their respective job title, current base salary or hourly
wage rate, any bonus amounts paid with respect to Seller’s 2017 fiscal year (shown separately), and
status as exempt or non-exempt for overtime. Schedule 4.19(a) also contains a true, correct, and
complete list of all individual natural person independent contractors who have provided services to
Seller with respect to the Business for a period of six (6) consecutive months or longer at any time since
January 1, 2017 (except for businesses operating as independent contractors). Since January 1, 2017, no
independent contractor providing services to the Business has canceled, terminated, or made any threat to
Seller to cancel or otherwise terminate his, her, or its relationship with Seller, or to materially change the
pricing or other terms applicable to his, her, or its sale or provision of services to Seller or materially
reduce his,
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her, or its business relationship with Seller. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.19(a), Seller has no
employees or individual natural person independent contractors related to the Business outside of the
United States.
(

b

)
Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.19(b), there are no union, collective bargaining,
employment, or severance agreements to which Seller is a party or by which Seller is otherwise bound.

(c)

Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.19(c), since January 1, 2012, there have not been any (i)
work stoppages, strikes, labor disputes, or other material controversies between Seller and any of its
employees; (ii) labor union grievances or organizational efforts; or (iii) unfair labor practice or labor
arbitration proceedings pending or threatened.

(d )

Since January 1, 2012, there have not been any wage and hour claims by any employee of Seller nor, to
the Knowledge of Seller, are there any wage and hour claims currently threatened by any employee of
Seller.

(e)

Except as otherwise set forth on Schedule 4.19(e), no Key Employee has provided notice to Seller of his
or her intent to terminate his or her employment with Seller.

(f)

Seller is not a party to any Contract, and Seller has not established any policy or practice, requiring it to
make a payment or provide any other form of compensation or benefit to any Person performing services
for Seller upon termination of such services that would not be payable or provided in the absence of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(g )

With respect to the Business, Seller (i) is in material compliance with applicable Laws, including, but not
limited to, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended; the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act; the Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as
amended; the Occupational Safety and Health Act, as amended; the Family & Medical Leave Act; the
California Family Rights Act; the Equal Pay Act, the California Code of Regulations, the Genetic
Information Nondiscrimination Act, the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act,
the Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the California Constitution, the
United States Constitution, all provisions of the California Labor Code; the California Fair Employment
and Housing Act.; the California Business & Professions Code; the applicable wage orders of the
Industrial Welfare Commission, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, including amendments, and
the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, with respect to employment claims whether based on tort,
contract or any federal, state or local law, statute or regulation or Constitution or based on or related to,
employment practices, terms and conditions of employment, worker classification, Tax withholding,
prohibited discrimination, retaliation or harassment, equal employment, fair employment practices, meal
and rest periods, immigration status, employee safety and health, wages (including but not limited to,
minimum wage, overtime wages or other earned compensation or accrued vacation or paid time off,
equal pay,), compensation and hours of work, in each case with respect to its employees, except where
the failure of compliance would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Business; (ii) has accurately
and timely withheld and reported all amounts required by applicable Law or by Assigned Contract to be
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withheld and reported with respect to wages, salaries and other payments to the employees, consultants,
and independent contractors of the Business; (iii) has timely issued accurate wage statements for all of its
employees and has maintained such statements for the duration of time required by Law to be
maintained; (iv) is not liable as of the Balance Sheet Date for any arrears of wages, late payment of
wages, or any Taxes or any penalty for failure to comply with the Laws applicable to the foregoing; (v) is
not liable as of the Balance Sheet Date for any payment to any trust or other fund governed or
maintained by or on behalf of any Governmental Authority with respect to unemployment compensation
benefits, social security or other benefits or obligations for its employees (other than routine payments to
be made in the normal course of business and consistent with past practices); and (vi) has no leased
employees.

4.20

(h )

Seller has properly classified all individuals who perform services related to the Business for Seller as an
employee or independent contractor who is a natural person and as exempt or non-exempt, or any other
classifications under applicable Law, and there is no Action or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge
of Seller, threatened that challenges such classifications.

(i)

Seller is employing individuals who are lawfully authorized to work in the United States and Seller has
been is currently is in compliance with all applicable Laws of the United States regarding immigration
and/or employment of non-citizen workers. Seller has not been notified of any pending or threatened
investigation by any branch or department of
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) or other federal agency charged with administration
and enforcement of federal immigration laws concerning it, and Seller has not received any “no match”
notices from ICE, the Social Security Administration or the IRS within the previous twelve (12) months of
the Effective Date.

( j )

Seller has not laid off any employees related to the Business within the six (6) months prior to the
Closing Date and, contingent upon the Purchaser’s performance consistent with Section 7.2 hereunder,
Purchaser shall not have any liability or obligations under or with respect to the Workers Adjustment and
Retraining Notification Act in connection with any of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(k )

The employment of all Persons and officers currently employed by Seller with respect to the Business is
terminable at will. All material sums due for employee compensation and benefits have been duly and
adequately accrued on the financial statements of Seller as of the Balance Sheet Date to the extent
required by GAAP applied on a consistent basis. All accrued vacation time owing to any employees of
Seller with respect to the Business has been duly and adequately accrued on the accounting records of
Seller as of the Balance Sheet Date in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis.

Environmental Matters. Seller is and has been in material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws
and has obtained and is and has been in material compliance with all Environmental Permits in connection with
the conduct or operation of the Business and the ownership or use of the Acquired Assets. There are no claims
pursuant to any Environmental Law pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller in
connection with the conduct or operation of the Business or the ownership or use of the Acquired Assets or
Leased Real Property. There has been no release or threatened release of any hazardous substance on, upon, into
or from any site currently or, to the Knowledge of Seller, previously owned, leased, or otherwise operated or
used by Seller (or any of its predecessors) that would reasonably be expected to result in material Liability with
respect to the Business. Seller has delivered to
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Purchaser true, accurate, and complete copies of all material environmental reports, notices of liability or to
comply under Environmental Laws, Environmental Permits, pending Environmental Permit applications, and
environmental studies or assessments in Seller’s possession. The representations and warranties contained in this
Section 4.20 are the only representations and warranties being made with respect to compliance with or Liability
under Environmental Laws or with respect to any environmental matter, including natural resources, related to
the Business, the Acquired Assets or Seller’s ownership or operation thereof.
4.21

4.22

Taxes.
(a)

(i) All Taxes owed by Seller (whether or not shown as due and payable on any Tax return) have been
paid; (ii) all Tax returns (including information returns or statements) required to be filed by Seller prior
to the Closing Date with respect to the operation of the Business have been or will be filed on or before
the Closing Date in accordance with all applicable Laws; (iii) all such Tax returns are correct and
complete; (iv) the Acquired Assets are not and will not be encumbered by any Encumbrances arising out
of unpaid Taxes (other than Permitted Encumbrances); and (v) all Taxes that Seller was required by Law
to withhold or collect have been duly withheld or collected and, to the extent required, have been
properly and timely paid to the appropriate Governmental Authority.

(b)

Schedule 4.21(c) sets forth each jurisdiction (other than United States federal) in which Seller files or has
filed, a Tax return since January 1, 2010 with respect to the Business or the Acquired Assets. Seller has
not waived any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect
to a Tax assessment or deficiency.

( c )

Except as set forth on Schedule 4.21(c), no examination or audit of any Tax return of Seller by any
Governmental Authority is currently in progress or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened or
contemplated and no such examination or audit has occurred during the past five (5) years. No written
claim has ever been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where Seller does not file Tax
returns with respect to the Business or the Acquired Assets that Seller may be subject to taxation by that
jurisdiction.

Relationship with Related Parties. No Related Party has, or has had, any interest in any property (whether real,
personal, or mixed and whether tangible or intangible) used in or pertaining to the Business. Except as set forth
on Schedule 4.22, with respect to the Business, Seller does not acquire any materials, products, or services from
any Related Party necessary for or used in the conduct and operations of the Business other than materials,
products, or services that are generally obtainable, or for which comparable replacement products are generally
obtainable, from a source or supplier other than a Related Party on commercially reasonable terms within a
commercially practicable timeframe or as would not, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably expected to
be material to the Business. Schedule 4.22 sets forth a list of all Contracts between Seller, on the one hand, and
any Related Party, on the other hand, with respect to the Business or the Acquired Assets. Seller does not own of
record or as a beneficial owner an equity interest or any other financial or profit interest in any Person that has
engaged in any competing business, except for ownership of less than one percent (1%) of the outstanding
capital stock of any competing business that is publicly traded on any recognized exchange or in the over-thecounter market.
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4.23

4.24

Absence of Certain Business Practices.
(a)

None of the Seller or any director, officer, or employee of Seller, or any other Person acting on behalf of
or associated with Seller, acting alone or together, has (i) received, directly or indirectly, any rebates,
payments, commissions, promotional allowances or any other economic benefits, regardless of their
nature or type, from any customer, agent, supplier, or any employee or agent of any customer, agent, or
supplier; or (ii) directly or indirectly given or agreed to give any money, gift, or similar benefit to any
customer, agent, supplier, or any employee or agent of any customer, agent, or supplier, any official or
employee of any Governmental Authority (domestic or foreign), any political party or candidate for
office (domestic or foreign), or any other Person who was, is, or may be in a position to help or hinder
the business of Seller (or assist Seller in connection with any actual or proposed transaction), in each case
which (A) could reasonably be expected to subject Seller to any damage or penalty in any civil, criminal,
or governmental Action or proceeding, (B) if not given in the past, could reasonably be expected to have
had an adverse effect on the Business, results of operation, prospects, properties, financial condition,
liabilities, cash flows, or working capital of Seller, or (iii) if not continued in the future, could reasonably
be expected to adversely affect the Business, results of operations, prospects, properties, financial
condition, liabilities, cash flows, or working capital of Seller.

(b )

None of Seller or any director, officer, or employee of Seller, or any other Person acting on behalf of or
associated with Seller is aware of any action, or any allegation of any action, or has taken any action,
directly or indirectly, (i) that would constitute a violation in any material respect by such Persons of the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, 15 USC §§ 78dd-1, et seq., as amended, and the rules and
regulations thereunder (“FCPA”), or other relevant multilateral measures such as the OECD Convention
on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions and the United
Nations Convention Against Corruption, including making use of the mails or any means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay, or
authorization of the payment of any money, or other property, gift, promise to give, or authorization of
the giving of anything of value to any “foreign official” (as defined under the FCPA) or employee,
political party or campaign, or official of any public international organization, or official or employee of
any government-owned enterprise or institution to obtain or retain business or to secure an improper
advantage, or (ii) that would constitute an offer to pay, a promise to pay, or a payment of money or
anything else of value, or an authorization of such offer, promise or payment, directly or indirectly, to
any employee, agent, or representative of another company or entity in the course of their business
dealings with Seller, in order to induce such person to act against the best interest of his or her employer
or principal.

Export Compliance.
(a)

With respect to the Business, to the Knowledge of Seller, during the last three (3) years: (i) Seller is and
has been in compliance in all material respects with applicable provisions of U.S. export control Laws,
including, without limitation, the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, the Export Administration
Regulations, the economic sanctions regulations and guidelines administered by the Department of
Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control and the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56, signed
into law October 26, 2001), as amended, and the export control Laws of the other countries where it
conducts business to the extent applicable to the Business; and (ii) Seller has not received any notice of
noncompliance or warnings from Government Authorities with respect to its compliance with export
control Laws applicable to the Business.
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( b )

(c)

With respect to the Business, to the Knowledge of Seller, it is not, except as permitted by Law,
conducting any business or engaging in any transaction or dealing with any Prohibited Person, including
the making or receiving of any contribution of funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of any
Prohibited Person, engaging in or conspiring to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has
the purpose or intent of evading or avoiding, or attempting to violate, any of the prohibitions dealing with
a Prohibited Person.
Seller is not a Prohibited Person.

4.25

Brokers. Except as set forth on Schedule 4.25, no broker, finder, or investment banker is entitled to any
brokerage, finder’s, or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller.

4.26

Customs Compliance. With respect to the Business, to the Knowledge of Seller, during the last five (5) years
Seller is and has been in compliance in all material respects with applicable provisions of all Customs laws and
regulations, including without limitation the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, and all other laws and regulations
applicable to products imported by the Seller; has not received a notice of violation of such laws and regulations;
has not been and is not currently the subject of a focused assessment or other audit conducted by U.S. Customs
and Border Protection; and no penalty or liquidated damages claims have been initiated by U.S. Customs and
Border Protection against the Seller.

4.27

No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article
4 (including the related portions of the Disclosure Schedules), neither Seller nor any other Person has made or
makes any other express or implied representation or warranty, either written or oral, on behalf of Seller,
including no representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of any information regarding the
Business and the Acquired Assets furnished or made available to Purchaser and its Representatives (including
any information, documents or material delivered to or made available to Purchaser by Mooreland Partners or in
the Intralinks Data Room, management presentations or in any other form in expectation of the transactions
contemplated hereby) or as to the future revenue, profitability or success of the Business, or any representation
or warranty arising from statute or otherwise in Law.
ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

To induce Seller to enter into and perform this Agreement, Purchaser hereby represents and warrants to Seller the
following as of the Effective Date:
5.1

Organization and Good Standing. Purchaser is duly organized and in valid existence as a corporation under the
laws of the State of Delaware and has the power to own its property and carry on its business as now being
conducted.

5.2

Authorization; Enforceability. Purchaser has full corporate power and authority to make, execute, deliver, and
perform this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery
by Purchaser of this Agreement and each of the documents hereunder to which Purchaser is a party, the
performance by Purchaser of its obligations hereunder and thereunder, and the consummation by Purchaser of
the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of
Purchaser. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Purchaser, and (assuming due
authorization,
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execution, and delivery by Seller) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid, and binding obligation of Purchaser,
enforceable against Seller in accordance with its terms.
5 . 3

No Conflicts; Consents. The execution, delivery, and performance by Purchaser of this Agreement, and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, do not and will not:
(a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of, or default under, any provision of the organizational and
governing documents of Purchaser; (b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any provision of any
Law or Order of a Governmental Authority applicable to Purchaser; or (c) require the consent, notice, or other
action by any Person under any Contract to which Purchaser is a party.

5 . 4

Legal Proceedings. There are no Actions pending or, to Purchaser’s knowledge, threatened against or by
Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser that challenge or seek to prevent, enjoin, or otherwise delay the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5 . 5

Brokers. No broker, finder, or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s, or other fee or
commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made
by or on behalf of Purchaser.

5.6

Sufficiency of Funds. Purchaser has sufficient cash on hand or other sources of immediately available funds to
enable it to make payment of the Purchase Price and consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement.

5 . 7

Parent Guaranty. Parent of Purchaser, Webasto Roof Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Parent”)
irrevocably guarantees each and every representation, warranty, covenant, agreement, and obligation of
Purchaser and the full and timely performance of Purchaser’s obligations under this Agreement and the
documents contemplated hereunder (including the Transition Services Agreement and the ancillary agreements
contemplated therein). This is a guarantee of, including without limitation, payment and performance, and Parent
acknowledges and agrees that this guarantee is full and unconditional, and no release or extinguishment of
Purchaser’s obligations or liabilities (other than in accordance with the terms of this Agreement), whether by
decree in any bankruptcy proceeding or otherwise, shall affect the continuing validity and enforceability of this
guarantee.

5.8

Prohibited Person. Purchaser is not a Prohibited Person nor, except as permitted by Law, is Purchaser conducting
any business or engaging in any transaction or dealing with any Prohibited Person, including the making or
receiving of any contribution of funds, goods, or services to or for the benefit of any Prohibited Person, engaging
in or conspiring to engage in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose or intent of evading or
avoiding, or attempting to violate, any of the prohibitions dealing with a Prohibited Person.

5.9

No Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in this Article
5, Purchaser has not made and does not make any other express or implied representation or warranty, either
written or oral, as to the Purchaser or this Agreement.
ARTICLE 6
CLOSING CONDITIONS

6.1

Conditions to Obligations of Seller. The obligations of Seller under this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction
at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions, any of which may be
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waived in whole or in part by Seller in its discretion by delivery of a written notice to that effect to Purchaser.
( a )

Truth of Representations and Warranties . All of the representations and warranties of Purchaser
contained in this Agreement, the documents contemplated hereunder, and any certificate or other writing
delivered pursuant hereto are true and correct in all material respects if not qualified by materiality, or in
all respects if so qualified, on and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though made at and as of
such date (except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the
accuracy of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects).

( b )

Performance. Purchaser shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all
obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions required by this Agreement and each of the
documents contemplated hereunder to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing
Date; provided, that, with respect to obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions that are qualified
by materiality, Purchaser shall have performed such obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions,
as so qualified, in all respects.

(c)

Closing Deliveries. Purchaser shall have delivered or caused to be delivered to Seller the items set forth
in Section 3.3.

(
(e)

6.2

d

)
Approval. Seller shall have obtained approval from its board of directors with respect to the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
Additional Documents. Purchaser shall have delivered to Seller such other documents or instruments as
Seller reasonably requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

Conditions to Obligations of Purchaser. The obligations of Purchaser under this Agreement are subject to the
satisfaction at or prior to the Closing Date of the following conditions, any of which may be waived in whole or
in part by Purchaser in its sole discretion by delivery of a written notice to that effect to Seller.
(a)

Truth of Representations and Warranties . All of the representations and warranties of Seller contained in
this Agreement, the documents contemplated hereunder, and any certificate or other writing delivered
pursuant hereto shall be true and correct in all material respects if not qualified by materiality, or in all
respects if so qualified, on and as of the Effective Date and on and as of the Closing Date as if then made
(except those representations and warranties that address matters only as of a specified date, the accuracy
of which shall be determined as of that specified date in all respects), giving effect to any supplement to
any Disclosure Schedule (as required under Section 7.6(a)) solely as to the determination applicable to
representations and warranties on and as of the Closing Date.

(b)

Performance. Seller shall have duly performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations,
agreements, covenants, and conditions required by this Agreement and each of the documents
contemplated hereunder to be performed or complied with by it prior to or on the Closing Date; provided,
that, with respect to obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions that are qualified by materiality,
Seller shall have performed such obligations, agreements, covenants, and conditions, as so qualified, in
all respects.
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(c)

No Material Adverse Effect. There shall have occurred no Material Adverse Effect, or any development
that could be reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d)

No Actions. No Action shall have been commenced against Purchaser or Seller that would prevent the
Closing and no injunction or restraining order shall have been issued by any Governmental Authority,
and be in effect, which restrains or prohibits any transaction contemplated hereby.

( e )

Release of Encumbrances. Other than Permitted Encumbrances, all Encumbrances relating to the
Acquired Assets shall have been released in full, and Seller shall have delivered to Purchaser written
evidence, in form satisfactory to Purchaser in its sole discretion, of the release of such Encumbrances.

(f)

Consents. All approvals, consents, and waivers that are listed on Schedule 4.3 shall have been received,
and executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to Purchaser at or prior to the Closing.

(g)

Permits. Purchaser shall have received all Permits that are necessary for it to conduct the Business as
conducted by Seller as of the Closing Date, except (i) where failure to obtain such Permit would not have
a Material Adverse Effect on the conduct of the Business, (ii) where Purchaser may lawfully rely on
services provided pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement prior to receipt of such Permit, or (iii)
where Purchaser may engage a third-party provider for Business activities requiring a Permit using
commercially reasonable efforts upon commercial terms reasonably acceptable to Purchaser.

(h )

Closing Deliveries. Seller shall have delivered or caused to be delivered to Purchaser the items set forth
in Section 3.2.

( i )

Approval. Purchaser shall have obtained approval from the executive board of Webasto SE and the
supervisory board of Webasto SE with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement.

( j)

Additional Documents. Seller shall have delivered to Purchaser such other documents or instruments as
Purchaser reasonably requests and are reasonably necessary to consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

(k)

Benchmark. Purchaser shall have entered an agreement with Benchmark Electronics, Inc., the material
terms of which shall not be materially different than such terms in the current agreement between Seller
and Benchmark Electronics, Inc., that in Purchaser’s reasonable business judgment allows Purchaser to
conduct the Business as it relates to Benchmark Electronics, Inc. as conducted by Seller as of the Closing
Date.

(l)

Key Employees. Purchaser shall have received executed Employment Agreements from at least eleven
(11) of the fifteen (15) Key Employees listed on Schedule 2.
ARTICLE 7
COVENANTS

7.1

Conduct of Business Prior to the Closing. From the Effective Date until the Effective Time, except as otherwise
provided in this Agreement or consented to in writing by Purchaser, Seller shall (a) conduct the Business in the
Ordinary Course of Business, (b) use reasonable best efforts
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to maintain and preserve intact its current Business organization and operations and to preserve the rights,
goodwill, and relationships of its employees, customers, lenders, suppliers, regulators, and others having
relationships with the Business, and (c) not dispose of or acquire any asset other than in the Ordinary Course of
Business. Without limiting the foregoing, from the Effective Date until the Closing Date, Seller shall:
(a)
(b)

pay the debts, Taxes, and other obligations of the Business when due;

( c )

continue to collect Receivables in a manner consistent with past practice, without discounting such
Receivables outside the Ordinary Course of Business;

(d)

maintain the properties and assets included in the Acquired Assets in the same condition as they were on
the Effective Date, subject to reasonable wear and tear;

( e )

continue in full force and effect without modification all insurance policies related to the Business,
except as required by applicable Law;

( f )

defend and protect the properties and assets included in the Acquired Assets from infringement or
usurpation;

(g)

perform all of its obligations under all Assigned Contracts;

(h)

maintain the books and records of the Business in accordance with past practice;

(i)

comply in all material respects with all Laws applicable to the conduct of the Business or the ownership
and use of the Acquires Assets;

(j)

provide to Purchaser the services identified on Schedule 7.1(j), which shall be at no additional cost to
Purchaser, except as set forth regarding facilities below; provided however, if Purchaser requests any
services or systems testing outside of the scope of the services and testing identified on Schedule 7.1(j)
for Information Technology, (i) Purchaser and Seller shall use good faith reasonable efforts to agree upon
the terms and conditions of providing any such additional services, and (ii) Purchaser shall be solely
responsible for all costs and amounts associated with such additional services, and provided, further,
Purchaser shall provide Seller $75,000 towards the costs of the facilities-related services set forth on
Schedule 7.1(j), to be paid to Seller within 10 business days of the Effective Date;

(k)
(l)
7.2

preserve and maintain all Permits required for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted or the
ownership and use of the Acquired Assets;

reasonably cooperate in good faith to facilitate Purchaser’s inventory review; and
not take or permit any action that would cause any of the changes, events, or conditions described in
Section 4.6 to occur.

Employees and Employee Benefits.
(a)

As of the Closing Date, and conditioned upon compliance with the Purchaser’s normal hiring processes
and requirements, Purchaser shall make offers of comparable employment effective as of the Closing
Date on an “at-will” basis to at least those
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employees of Seller who are actively employed by the Purchaser on the Closing Date and are listed on
Schedule 7.2(a). Those individuals who accept such offer of employment from Purchaser shall be
referred to herein as “Hired Employees”. Such offers of employment shall provide for: (i) base salary or
hourly wages which are no less than the base salary or hourly wages provided by the Seller immediately
prior to the Closing; (ii) welfare benefits that are no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided
by the Seller immediately prior to the Closing; and (iii) severance benefits that are no less favorable than
those benefits set forth in Schedule 7.2(a)(iv). Effective as of the Closing Date, Seller agrees to terminate
the Hired Employees and they shall cease to be employees of Seller. The transactions contemplated
hereby shall not constitute a severance of employment of any Hired Employee prior to the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby, and each Hired Employee will have continuous and
uninterrupted employment before and immediately after the Closing.
( b )

Seller shall be solely responsible, and Purchaser shall have no obligations whatsoever for, any
compensation or other amounts payable to any current or former employee, officer, independent
contractor, or consultant of the Business, including, without limitation, hourly pay, bonus, salary, accrued
unused vacation, fringe, pension or profit sharing benefits or severance pay for any period relating to the
service with Seller at any time on or prior to the Closing Date, and Seller shall pay all such amounts to all
entitled persons on or prior to the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall pay, on or
before the Closing Date, the bonus compensation and the unused accrued vacation amounts set forth in
Schedule 7.2(b), relating to the current performance period up to the Closing Date, and such payments, to
the extent payable to the Hired Employees, shall be recognized as an adjustment to net working capital.

(c)

Seller shall remain solely responsible for the satisfaction of all claims for medical, dental, life insurance,
health accident or disability benefits including, but not limited to, any and all claims before the Workers’
Compensation Appeals Board brought by or in respect of current or former employees, officers,
directors, independent contractors or consultants of the Business or the spouses, dependents or
beneficiaries thereof, which claims relate to events occurring on or prior to the Closing Date in
accordance with the governing plan documents. Seller also shall remain solely responsible for all
worker’s compensation claims of any current or former employees, officers, directors, independent
contractors or consultants of the Business which relate to events occurring on or prior to the Closing
Date.

( d )

Each Hired Employee of the Business who becomes employed by Purchaser in connection with the
transaction shall be given service credit for the purpose of eligibility under the group health plan,
eligibility and vesting for purposes of any defined contribution retirement plan for his or her period of
service with Seller prior to the Closing Date; provided, however, that (i) such credit shall be given
pursuant to payroll or plan records and would otherwise be recognized under the corresponding Seller
Benefit Plan; and (ii) that such service shall not be recognized to the extent that such recognition would
result in a duplication of benefits. Without limiting the foregoing, effective as of the Closing Date and
thereafter, Purchaser shall, or shall cause one of its Affiliates to, (i) allow the Hired Employees to
participate in each plan providing welfare benefits, including medical, life insurance, long-term disability
insurance and long-term care insurance, as applicable, without regard to preexisting-condition limitations,
waiting periods, evidence of insurability or other exclusions or limitations not imposed on the Hired
Employees by a corresponding Benefit Plan immediately prior to the Closing Date
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and (ii) fully credit each Hired Employee with all deductible payments, co-payments and other out-ofpocket expenses incurred by such Hired Employee and his or her covered dependents under the Benefit
Plans that are medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefit plans prior to the Closing Date during the
plan year in which the Closing Date occurs for the purpose of determining the extent to which such Hired
Employee and his or her covered dependents have satisfied the deductible, co-payments, or maximum
out- of-pocket requirements applicable to such Hired Employee and his or her covered dependents for
such plan year under any new medical, dental, pharmaceutical or vision benefit plans that cover the Hired
Employee after the Closing Date, as if such amounts had been paid in accordance with such plan. Seller
agrees to cooperate in providing necessary and appropriate records and information to Purchaser in order
for Purchaser to comply with the above covenants.

7.3

( e )

This Section 7.2 shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of each of the parties to this
Agreement, and nothing in this Section 7.2, express or implied, shall confer upon any other person or
party any rights or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Section 7.2. Nothing
contained herein, express or implied, shall be construed to establish, amend or modify any benefit plan,
program, agreement or arrangement. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the terms set forth in
this Section 7.2 shall not create any right in any Hired Employee to any employment with the Purchaser
or compensation or benefits of any nature or kind whatsoever.

( f )

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or required by applicable Law, from and after the
Closing Date:
(i)

Seller shall retain Liability and responsibility for any and all employment and employee-benefit
related Liabilities, obligations, claims or losses that relate to (A) any employee (or his or her
dependent or beneficiary) and that arise as a result of an event or events that occurred prior to the
Closing Date, (B) any employee (or his or her dependent or beneficiary) who does not become a
Hired Employee and that arise as a result of an event or events that occurred on or after the
Closing Date and (C) any Benefit Plan.

(ii)

Purchaser shall assume and be solely responsible for any and all employment and employeebenefits related Liabilities, obligations, claims or losses that relate to any Hired Employee (or his
or her dependent or beneficiary) and that arise as a result of an event or events that occurred the
day immediately after the Effective Time.

Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.
(a)

For a period of three (3) years commencing on the Closing Date (“Restricted Period”), Seller shall not,
and shall not permit, cause, or encourage any other Person (including Seller’s Affiliates) to, directly or
indirectly, (i) engage in or assist others in engaging in, or undertake any planning to engage in, all or any
portion of the Business or any business that is competitive with all or any portion of the Business as
currently conducted as of the Closing Date (“Restricted Business”) in the world (“Territory”); (ii) have
an interest in any entity or Person that engages or plans to engage, directly or indirectly, in the Restricted
Business in the Territory in any capacity, including as a partner, equity holder, member, principal, agent,
trustee, consultant, or otherwise; or (iii) cause, induce, or encourage any actual or prospective client,
customer, or supplier (including any existing
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or former client, customer, or supplier of the Business and any Person that becomes a client, customer, or
supplier of Purchaser after the Closing) to terminate or modify any such actual or prospective relationship
to the Business.

7 .4

(b)

During the Restricted Period, Seller shall not, directly or indirectly, hire or solicit any Hired Employee, or
encourage any such Hired Employee to leave such employment or hire any such Hired Employee who
has left such employment with the Purchaser, except pursuant to a general solicitation which is not
directed specifically to any such Hired Employees or if any such Hired Employee voluntarily terminated
employment with the Business more than 3 months prior to the date of hire by Seller.

( c )

Seller agrees that, following the Closing Date, it will not, directly or indirectly, publicly disparage or
criticize Purchaser, Parent, known Affiliates of Purchaser and Parent, or the Business, management,
products, or services of any of them. Purchaser agrees that, following the Closing Date, it will not,
directly or indirectly, publicly disparage or criticize Seller, known Affiliates of the Seller, or the
management, products or services of any of them.

(d)

Seller and Purchaser each acknowledge that a breach or threatened breach of this Section 7.3 by one
party would give rise to irreparable harm to the other party, for which monetary damages would not be
an adequate remedy, and each hereby agrees that in the event of a breach or a threatened breach by the
other party of any such obligations, the non-breaching party shall, in addition to any and all other rights
and remedies that may be available to it in respect of such breach or threatened breach, be entitled to
equitable relief, including a temporary restraining order, an injunction, specific performance, and any
other relief that may be available from a court of competent jurisdiction (without any requirement to post
bond).

(e)

Seller and Purchaser each acknowledge that the restrictions contained in this Section 7.3 are reasonable
and necessary to protect the legitimate interests of Purchaser and Seller including, but not limited to, the
goodwill of the Business, and constitute a material inducement to each party to enter into this Agreement
and consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In the event that any covenant
contained in this Section 7.3 should ever be adjudicated to exceed the time, geographic, product, or
service or other limitations permitted by applicable Law in any jurisdiction, then such court is expressly
empowered to reform such covenant, and such covenant shall be deemed reformed, in such jurisdiction
to the maximum time, geographic, product, or service or other limitations permitted by applicable Law.
The Restricted Period will be tolled, and will not run, during the period of any breach by a party of any
such covenants or obligations, and no alleged breach of any provision of this Agreement attributed to a
party will operate to extinguish the other party’s obligation to comply with this Section 7.3.

Confidentiality. From and after the Closing, Seller shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, hold, and shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause its or their respective Representatives to hold, in confidence any and all
information, whether written or oral, concerning the Business, subject to Seller’s public reporting obligations
under applicable law and national securities exchange rules and regulations, and except to the extent that Seller
can show that such information (a) is generally available to and known by the public through no fault of Seller,
any of its Affiliates, or their respective Representatives; or (b) is lawfully acquired by Seller, any of its Affiliates,
or their respective Representatives from and after the Closing from sources that are
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not prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual, or fiduciary obligation. If Seller or any of
its Affiliates or its Representatives are compelled to disclose any information by judicial or administrative process
or by other requirements of Law, Seller shall promptly notify Purchaser in writing and shall disclose only that
portion of such information which Seller is advised by counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed;
provided, that Seller shall use best efforts to obtain an appropriate protective order or other reasonable assurance
that confidential treatment will be accorded such information. Seller shall notify Purchaser if it becomes aware of,
and Purchaser shall notify Seller if it becomes aware of, any breach of a third party’s contractual confidentiality
obligation under an AV NDA with respect to information related to the Business. Upon such notification, Seller
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to assist Purchaser to mitigate such breach and enforce Seller’s rights
pursuant to such AV NDA for the reasonable protection of the Business and benefit of the Purchaser.
7.5

Access to Information. Between the Effective Date and the Closing Date, Seller shall, during normal business
hours, and upon Purchaser’s reasonable notice, provided that such access does not unreasonably interfere with
the operation of Seller’s business, (a) give to Purchaser and its Representatives full access to all books, records
(including all work papers and other documents of the Business and its accountants), plants, offices, and other
facilities and properties related to the Business, (b) permit Purchaser to make such inspections thereof as
Purchaser may reasonably request, and (c) cause the officers, employees, and advisors of Seller and the Business
to furnish Purchaser with such financial and operating data and other information with respect to the Business as
Purchaser may from time to time reasonably request. Any such inspection or investigation shall be conducted in
such a manner as not to materially and adversely interfere with the operation of the Business. Purchaser shall at
all times prior to the Closing hold confidential all information provided to Purchaser prior to the Closing by or on
behalf of Seller or the Business in accordance with the terms of the Non-Disclosure Agreement dated October 1,
2017, between Seller and Webasto Thermo & Comfort SE.

7.6

Notification of Certain Matters. Between the Effective Date and the Closing, Seller will give prompt notice in
writing to Purchaser of: (a) any information that indicates that any representation or warranty contained herein
was not true and correct as of the Effective Date or will not be true and correct as of the Closing Date, (b) the
occurrence of any event that will result, or has a reasonable prospect of resulting, in a Material Adverse Effect or
in the failure to satisfy a condition specified in Article 6, and (c) any notice or other communication from any
third Person alleging that the consent of such third Person is or may be required in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement not otherwise listed on Schedule 4.3. Notice or disclosure by Seller
pursuant to Section 7.6(a) and/or (c) shall constitute an amendment or supplement to the Disclosure Schedules
for purposes of completeness and accuracy as assessed as of and on the Closing Date, however, disclosure by
Seller pursuant to Section 7.6(b) shall not be deemed to amend or supplement any Disclosure Schedule hereto, or
to waive any such Material Adverse Effect or closing condition.

7 . 7

Refunds and Remittances. After the Closing, (a) if Seller or any of its Affiliates receive any refund or other
amount that is an Acquired Asset or is otherwise due and owing to Purchaser in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, Seller promptly shall remit, or shall cause to be remitted, such amount to Purchaser, and (b) if
Purchaser or any of its Affiliates receive any refund or other amount that is an Excluded Asset or is otherwise
properly due and owing to Seller in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Purchaser promptly shall remit,
or shall cause to be remitted, such amount to Seller.
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7.8

Third Party Consents; Permits. To the extent that Seller’s rights under any Contract or Permit constituting an
Acquired Asset, or any other Acquired Asset, may not be assigned to Purchaser without the consent of another
Person which has not been obtained, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to assign the same if an
attempted assignment would constitute a breach thereof or be unlawful, and Seller, at its expense, shall use its
commercially reasonable efforts (which shall not require provision of material consideration or undertaking of
formal dispute actions) to obtain any such required consent(s) as promptly as possible. If any such consent shall
not be obtained or if any attempted assignment would be ineffective or would impair Purchaser’s rights under the
Acquired Asset in question so that Purchaser would not in effect acquire the benefit of all such rights, Seller, to
the maximum extent permitted by Law and the Acquired Asset, shall act after the Closing as Purchaser’s agent in
order to obtain for it the benefits thereunder and shall cooperate, to the maximum extent permitted by Law and
the Acquired Asset, with Purchaser in any other reasonable arrangement designed to provide such benefits to
Purchaser. Notwithstanding any provision in this Section 7.8 to the contrary, Purchaser shall not be deemed to
have waived its rights under Section 6.2(e) hereof unless and until Purchaser either provides written waivers
thereof or elects to proceed to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement at Closing.
Promptly after the Effective Date, Purchaser shall use commercially reasonable efforts to apply for and obtain all
Permits that are necessary for it to conduct the Business as conducted by Seller as of the Effective Date and as
anticipated to be conducted by Seller as of the Closing Date.

7.9

Transfer Taxes.
(a)

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all Transfer Taxes shall be borne and
paid one-half by Seller and one-half by Purchaser when due. Seller shall, at its own expense, timely file
any tax return or other document with respect to such Taxes or fees (and Purchaser shall reasonably
cooperate with respect thereto as necessary). Purchaser, on the one hand, and Seller, on the other hand,
agree to timely sign and deliver such certificates or forms as may be necessary or appropriate to establish
an exemption from (or otherwise reduce), or file tax returns with respect to, such Taxes.

( b )

After the Closing Date, Seller and Purchaser shall (and shall cause their respective Affiliates to): (i)
provide reasonable assistance to the other party in preparing any Tax returns which such other party is
responsible for preparing or filing; (ii) cooperate reasonably in preparing for any audit, claim, action,
inquiry, notice of violation, proceeding, or assessment regarding Taxes relating to the Business, the
Acquired Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities (a “ Tax Matter”); (iii) make available to the other party and
to any Governmental Authority as reasonably requested all information, records, and documents
regarding Taxes relating to the Business, the Acquired Assets, or the Assumed Liabilities; (iv) provide
timely notice to the other party in writing of any pending, proposed or threatened Tax Matter for taxable
periods for which such other party may be liable; and (v) furnish the other party with copies of all
correspondence received from any Governmental Authority in connection with any information request
or Tax Matter with respect to any such taxable period, provided that a party’s cooperation pursuant to this
Section 7.9(b) shall be at the other party’s sole cost and expense.

(c)

Seller and Purchaser agree to utilize, or cause their respective Affiliates to utilize, the standard procedure
set forth in Revenue Procedure 2004-53 with respect to wage reporting.
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7.10

Bulk Sales Laws. The parties hereby waive compliance with the provisions of any bulk sales, bulk transfer, or
similar Laws of any jurisdiction that may otherwise be applicable with respect to the sale of any or all of the
Acquired Assets to Purchaser.

7 . 11

Cooperation. During the period commencing on the Effective Date and prior to the Closing, at such times as
shall be mutually agreed to among Seller and Purchaser, Seller shall permit Purchaser to discuss and meet, and
shall cooperate in such discussions and meetings, with each customer of the Business and its applicable
purchasing representatives, each supplier of the Business and its applicable sales representatives, and each of the
key employees of the Business that Purchaser so requests. A senior executive of the Business reasonably
satisfactory to Purchaser shall have the right to accompany Purchaser’s representative to all such meetings and
shall participate with Purchaser’s representative in any such discussions.

7.12

Public Announcement. No party to this Agreement shall make any public announcements in respect of this
Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or otherwise communicate with any news media without the
prior written consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), and the
parties shall cooperate as to the timing and contents of any such announcement. If a party is required by
applicable Law or stock exchange requirements (based upon the reasonable advice of counsel) to make any
public announcement in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, the parties shall
comply with all requirements (including timing) under Law and under such exchange requirements, respectively,
and cooperate as to the contents of any such announcement.

7.13

Books and Records. In order to facilitate the resolution of any claims made by or against or incurred by
Purchaser after the Closing, or for any other reasonable purpose, for a period of five
(5) years following the Closing, Seller shall: (a) retain the books and records (including personnel files) of Seller
which relate to the Business and its operations for periods prior to the Closing; and
(b) upon reasonable notice, afford Purchaser and its Representatives reasonable access (including the right to
make, at Purchaser’s expense, photocopies), during normal business hours, to such books and records.

7.14

Electronic Copy. Following the Closing, Seller will deliver one or more USBs (or other digital media format),
that contain the true, correct, and complete contents (all of which were visible to Purchaser) of the electronic data
room on the Closing Date, as maintained by Seller at Intralinks for the purposes of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement provided, such delivery shall not constitute a representation, warranty or covenant as to any
of the information contained therein and such digital records are provided for reference purposes only.

7.15

Further Assurances. Following the Closing, each of the parties hereto (and Parent, as may be required), shall
execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances and assurances, and take such further
actions and provide such commercially reasonable cooperation, as may be reasonably required to carry out the
provisions hereof and give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the ancillary
documents, including without limitation, Seller’s timely execution of any and all documents, including
Assignments and Powers of Attorney, required to properly transfer all Business Intellectual Property, both
domestic and foreign, such that the transfer can be adequately and legally recorded in all appropriate
jurisdictions. All parties shall be responsible for their own expenses, fees, and costs associated with any services
provided under this Section 7.16.

45

ARTICLE 8
INDEMNIFICATION
8.1

Survival. Subject to the limitations and other provisions of this Agreement, the representations and warranties
contained herein shall survive the Closing and shall remain in full force and effect until the date that is fifteen
(15) months from the Closing Date; provided, that the representations and warranties in Sections 4.1
(Organization and Good Standing), 4.2 (Authorization; Enforceability), 4.3 (No Conflicts; Consents), 4.8(a) (Title
to the Acquired Assets), 4.12 (Intellectual Property), 4.15(b) (Product Liability), 4.21 (Taxes), 4.25 (Brokers), 5.1
(Organization and Good Standing), 5.2 (Authorization; Enforceability), and 5.5 (Brokers) (collectively, the
“Fundamental Representations”) shall survive sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of
limitations, taking into account any extensions thereof. All covenants and agreements of the parties contained
herein shall survive the Closing indefinitely or for the period explicitly specified therein. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any claims asserted in good faith with reasonable specificity (to the extent known at such time) and in
writing by notice from the non-breaching party to the breaching party prior to the expiration date of the
applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of the relevant representation or
warranty and such claims shall survive until finally resolved.

8 .2

Indemnification by Seller. Seller shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Purchaser and its Affiliates and
each of the foregoing’s Representatives (collectively “Purchaser Indemnified Parties”) from and against any
and all damages, Liabilities, awards, fines, judgments, administrative orders, remediation requirements,
enforcement actions, claims, deficiencies, losses, costs, wages, penalties, sanctions, charges, liquidated damages,
expenses, assessments, income and other Taxes, interest and penalties, including, without limitation, reasonable
attorneys’, accountants’, consultants’, engineers’ and experts’ fees and expenses and including any such
reasonable expenses incurred in connection with investigating, defending against, or settling any of the
foregoing (collectively “Losses”) paid, incurred, suffered, or sustained by the Purchaser Indemnified Parties, or
any of them, directly or indirectly, arising out of, resulting from, or in any way related to:
(a)

any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation, warranty, or covenant contained in this Agreement or
any document to be delivered hereunder (excluding the Transition Services Agreement);

( b )

any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement, or obligation to be performed by Seller
pursuant to this Agreement or any document to be delivered hereunder (excluding the Transition Services
Agreement);

(c)

the Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities (other than accrued Taxes taken into account in the final
determination of Closing Working Capital);

( d )

the ownership or possession of the Acquired Assets, or operation of the Business, on or before the
Closing Date;

( e )

any Liability for any brokers’ or finders’ fees arising with respect to brokers or finders retained or
engaged prior to the Closing by Seller in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement that is not paid or satisfied at the Closing;
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( f )

(g)
(h)

8.3

any Liability relating to any AV NDA; or
any violation or alleged violation of, or Liability under, any Environmental Law or any Environmental
Permit related to or arising out of or resulting from any condition, or based on any facts or circumstances,
that occurred or existed on or prior to the Closing Date, whether known or unknown on the Closing Date
and whether or not disclosed to the Purchaser Indemnified Parties.

Indemnification by Purchaser. Purchaser shall indemnify and hold Seller harmless against any and all Losses
arising out of:
(a)

any inaccuracy in or breach of any representation, warranty, or covenant of Purchaser contained in this
Agreement or any document to be delivered hereunder (excluding the Transition Services Agreement);

(b)

any breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement, or obligation to be performed by Purchaser
pursuant to this Agreement or any document to be delivered hereunder (excluding the Transition Services
Agreement); or

(c)
8.4

any fraud, misconduct, bad faith, or intentional misrepresentation on the part of Seller or any of its
Representatives in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (excluding
the Transition Services Agreement);

the Assumed Liabilities.

Procedure.
(a)

In order for a party seeking indemnification pursuant to Sections 8.2 or 8.3 (as applicable “Indemnified
Party”) to be entitled to any indemnification provided for under this Agreement as a result of Losses or
claims or demands made by any Person against the Indemnified Party (“Third Party Claim”), such
Indemnified Party shall deliver notice thereof to the party against whom indemnity is sought
(“Indemnifying Party”) promptly after receipt by such Indemnified Party of written notice of the Third
Party Claim, describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to any claim for indemnification
hereunder, the amount or method of computation of the amount of such claim (if known) and such other
information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request. The failure to provide
such notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under this
Article 8 except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such failure.

( b )

The Indemnified Party shall have the right, after delivery of notice to the Indemnifying Party of the
commencement of such Third Party Claim, to assume the defense thereof at the expense of the
Indemnifying Party with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably satisfactory to the
Indemnified Party. If the Indemnified Party assumes the defense of such Third Party Claim, the
Indemnifying Party shall have the right to employ separate counsel and to participate in the defense
thereof subject to the Indemnified Party’s right to control the defense thereof, and the fees and expenses
of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnifying Party. If the Indemnified Party assumes the
defense of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall cooperate with the Indemnified Party in
such defense and make available to the Indemnified Party all witnesses, pertinent records, materials and
information in the Indemnifying Party’s
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possession or under the Indemnifying Party’s control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the
Indemnified Party. Whether or not the Indemnified Party assumes the defense of a Third Party Claim, the
Indemnifying Party shall not admit any liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, or
offer to settle, compromise or discharge, such Third Party Claim without the Indemnified Party’s prior
written consent.
(c)

8.5

8 . 6

In the event any Indemnified Party should have a claim against any Indemnifying Party hereunder that
does not involve a Third Party Claim being asserted against or sought to be collected from such
Indemnified Party, the Indemnified Party shall deliver notice of such claim promptly to the Indemnifying
Party, describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to any claim for indemnification hereunder, the
amount or method of computation of the amount of such claim (if known) and such other information
with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request. The failure to provide such
notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under this Article 8
except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such failure. The Indemnified Party shall
reasonably cooperate and assist the Indemnifying Party in determining the validity of any claim for
indemnity by the Indemnified Party and in otherwise resolving such matters. Such assistance and
cooperation shall include providing reasonable access to and copies of information, records and
documents relating to such matters, furnishing employees to assist in the investigation, defense and
resolution of such matters and providing legal and business assistance with respect to such matters.

Payments. Any payments pursuant to this Article 8 shall be paid within five (5) days of the final determination
of the amount of such claim and as follows:
(a)

Any payments by Seller for Losses pursuant to Section 8.2 will be satisfied in cash by wire transfer of
immediately available funds from Seller.

(b )

Any payments by Purchaser for Losses pursuant to Section 8.3 will be satisfied in cash by wire transfer
of immediately available funds from Purchaser.

Limitations. Except for any action or claim based on fraud or intentional or willful misrepresentation, the
indemnification provided for in Section 8.2 and Section 8.3 shall be subject to the following limitations:
(a)

The Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to the Indemnified Party for indemnification under Section
8.2(a) or Section 8.3(a), as the case may be, until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of
indemnification under Section 8.2(a) or Section 8.3(a), as the case may be, exceeds $150,000.00 (the
“Deductible”), in which event the Indemnifying Party shall only be required to pay or be liable for all
Losses in excess of the Deductible.

(b )

The aggregate amount of all Losses for which an Indemnifying Party shall be liable pursuant to Section
8.2(a) or Section 8.3(a), as the case may be, shall not exceed $5,000,000.00 (“Cap”). Notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, neither the Deductible nor the Cap shall apply to the indemnification
rights of the parties hereto for Losses resulting from breach of any of the Fundamental Representations;
provided, however, that the aggregate liability of Seller or Purchaser as an Indemnifying Party under
Section 8.2(a) or Section 8.3(a), as the case may be, for any and all Losses from breaches of the
representations and warranties in Article 4 or Article 5, as the case may be, shall not exceed the Purchase
Price.
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( c )

The amount of any Loss subject to indemnification hereunder or of any claim therefor shall be
calculated after deducting therefrom (i) any amounts actually recovered by an Indemnified Party pursuant
to any enforceable indemnification or right of set-off by or enforceable indemnification agreement with
any non-Affiliated third party; (ii) any insurance proceeds or other cash receipts or sources of
reimbursement actually received on account of such Loss, in each case net of any collection costs,
expenses, deductibles, premiums, and future premium increases incurred in connection therewith; and
(iii) an amount equal to any Tax benefit actually used and realized as a result of such Loss. The
Indemnifying Party will use commercially reasonable efforts to assert such rights set forth in this Section
8.6(c).

8.7

Remedies. The rights and remedies provided by this Agreement are cumulative, and the use of any one right or
remedy by any party hereto shall not preclude or constitute a waiver of its right to use any or all other remedies.
Such rights and remedies are given in addition to any other rights and remedies a party may have by Law or
otherwise.

8.8

Other Indemnification Matters. For purposes of this Article 8, any Losses shall be determined without regard to
any materiality, Material Adverse Effect, or other similar qualification contained in or otherwise applicable to any
breached representation or warranty.

8.9

Purchase Price Adjustment; Satisfaction of Indemnification . Any amounts payable under Section 8.2 shall be
treated by the parties as an adjustment to the Purchase Price. All indemnification amounts actually owing
hereunder shall be paid by the Indemnifying Party in cash or by delivery of immediately available funds to an
account designated by the Indemnified Party in the full amount the indemnification liability.

8.10

Set-Off. Purchaser may, at its option, after final determination of an indemnifiable matter, in lieu of payment
pursuant to Section 8.8, set off any Losses to which a Purchaser Indemnified Party is entitled to under this Article
8 against any amounts owing to Seller hereunder (including, without limitation, any Additional Consideration
and any amounts due to Seller under the Transition Services Agreement and the ancillary agreements
contemplated therein).

8 . 11

Effect of Investigation. The representations, warranties, and covenants of the Indemnifying Party (as set forth
and modified by the Disclosure Schedules thereto), and the Indemnified Party’s right to indemnification with
respect thereto, shall not be affected or deemed waived by reason of any investigation made by or on behalf of
the Indemnified Party (including by any of its Representatives) or by reason of the fact that the Indemnified Party
or any of its Representatives knew or should have known that any such representation or warranty is, was, or
might be inaccurate or by reason of the Indemnified Party's waiver of any condition set forth in Section 6.1 or
Section 6.2, as the case may be.
ARTICLE 9
TERMINATION; EFFECT OF TERMINATION

9.1

Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
(a)
( b )

by the mutual written consent of the parties;
by Seller if at any time there has been a material breach of any representation or warranty made by
Purchaser herein or in any certificate or other document delivered pursuant hereto or if there has been
any failure by Purchaser to perform all obligations or to
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comply with all covenants in all material respects on its part to be performed or complied with hereunder;
provided, that Seller shall have provided written notice to Purchaser describing the nature of such breach
and failure to perform or failure to comply, and such breach, failure to perform or failure to comply shall
not have been cured by Purchaser on or before the tenth (10th) business day following Purchaser’s
receipt of such notice;

9.2

(c)

by Purchaser if at any time there has been a material breach of any representation or warranty made by
Seller herein or in any certificate or other document delivered pursuant hereto or if there has been any
failure by Seller to perform all obligations or to comply with all covenants in all material respects on its
part to be performed or complied with hereunder; provided, that Purchaser shall have provided written
notice to Seller describing the nature of such breach and failure to perform or failure to comply, and such
breach, failure to perform or failure to comply shall not have been cured by Seller on or before the tenth
(10th) business day following Seller’s receipt of such notice; or

( d )

by Seller or Purchaser in the event that (i) there shall be any Law that makes consummation of the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement illegal or otherwise prohibited, or (ii) any Governmental
Authority shall have issued an Order restraining or enjoining the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, and such Order shall have become final and non-appealable.

Effect of Termination . In the event of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with this Article 9 , this
Agreement shall forthwith become void and there shall be no liability on the part of any party hereto except:
(a)
( b )

as set forth in Section 7.1(j), Section 7.4, Article 9, and Article 10 hereof; and
that nothing herein shall relieve any party hereto from liability for any intentional breach of any
provision hereof.
ARTICLE 10
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

10.1

Notices. Any notice under this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be deemed to have been given (a) when
delivered in person; (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier
(receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by email of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) if sent
during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next business day if sent after normal business hours of
the recipient; or (d) on the fifth day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective parties at the respective address set forth
below or at such other address as shall hereafter be designated in writing in the foregoing manner.
If to Seller:

AeroVironment, Inc.
900 Innovators Way
Simi Valley, CA 93065
Attn: Melissa Brown, General Counsel
Email: brownm@avinc.com

with a copy to:

K&L Gates LLP
1 Park Plaza, 12th Floor,
Irvine, CA 92614
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Attn: Shoshannah Katz
Email: Shoshannah.katz@klgates.com
If to Purchaser:

Mr. John Thomas
Webasto Thermo & Comfort North America Inc.
15083 North Rd
Fenton, MI 48430
Email: john.thomas@webasto.com

with a copy to:

Clark Hill PLC
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 3500
Detroit, Michigan 48226 Attn: Kevin DiDio
Email: KDiDio@clarkhill.com
Webasto SE
Kraillinger Str. 5, 82131, Stockdorf, Germany
Attn: Wiebke Staerker, Dr. Hendrik Höhfeld
Email: wiebke.staerker@webasto.com;
hendrik.hoehfeld@webasto.com

10.2

Amendment and Waiver. This Agreement may not be amended or waived except in a writing executed by the
party against which such amendment or waiver is sought to be enforced. No course of dealing between or among
any Person having any interest in this Agreement will be deemed effective to modify or amend any part of this
Agreement or any rights or obligations of any Person under or by reason of this Agreement. The failure of any
party to exercise or enforce any right or remedy conferred upon it hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver
of any such or other right or remedy nor operate to bar the exercise or enforcement of any thereof at any time
thereafter.

1 0 . 3

Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the documents contemplated hereunder (including the Transition
Services Agreement and the ancillary agreements contemplated therein) constitute the sole and entire agreement
of the parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein, and supersede all prior and
contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. In
the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the body of this Agreement and those in the documents
contemplated hereunder, the exhibits, and schedules (other than an exception expressly set forth as such in the
schedules), the statements in the body of this Agreement will control.

10.4

Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be prohibited by or
invalid under applicable law, such provision will be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or
invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

10.5

Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of
Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of laws of any jurisdiction other than those
of the State of Delaware. Each party hereby irrevocably:
(a) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state court or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware in any
Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement; (b) agrees that all claims in
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respect of such Action may be heard and determined only in any such court; (c) hereby waives any claim of
inconvenient forum or other challenge to venue in such court; and (d) agrees not to bring any Action arising out
of or relating to this Agreement in any other court.
10.6

Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, INTENTIONALLY,
AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, SOLELY TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW,
ANY RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION (WHETHER AS
CLAIM, COUNTER-CLAIM, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, OR OTHERWISE) IN CONNECTION WITH OR IN
ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING,
STATEMENTS (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN), ACTIONS OR INACTIONS BY OR AMONG THE
PARTIES HERETO. EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CONSENTS TO TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY OF ANY SUCH
LEGAL PROCEEDING, (B) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HERETO
HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE
EVENT OF ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, AND (C)
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTY HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO
THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN
THIS SECTION 10.6. A PARTY MAY FILE A COUNTERPART OF A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH
ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE PARTIES TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

10.7

Expenses. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, Seller shall pay its counsel fees, accounting fees,
and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation, making, execution, delivery, and
performance of this Agreement, whether or not the transactions contemplated herein are consummated, and
Purchaser shall pay its counsel fees, accounting fees, and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with
the negotiation, making, execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement, whether or not the transactions
contemplated herein are consummated.

10.8

Risk of Loss. Pending Closing, Seller shall be responsible for, and bear the risk of, any and all loss or damage to
the Acquired Assets from any cause whatsoever, and Purchaser shall have no liability therefor.

10.9

Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations
hereunder without the prior written consent of the other party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
or delayed; provided, that Purchaser may, without consent of Seller, (a) assign this Agreement to an Affiliate of
Purchaser, so long as Purchaser remains liable for the performance of its obligations hereunder in the event such
Affiliate does not fulfill such obligations, (b) assign this Agreement to any Person that acquires all or
substantially all of the Purchased Assets from Purchaser, and/or (c) collaterally assign this Agreement for the
benefit of its creditors. No assignment shall relieve the assigning party of any of its obligations hereunder.

10.10

No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as provided in Article 8, this Agreement is made solely for the benefit of
the parties to this Agreement and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and nothing contained in this
Agreement shall be deemed to give any Person any right to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement, nor
shall any of them be a third party beneficiary of this Agreement.
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10.11

Recitals. The parties acknowledge the accuracy of the recitals, which are incorporated by reference herein and
are made a part of this Agreement.

10.12

Specific Performance. Each party acknowledges and agrees that the other party would be irreparably damaged if
any of the provisions of this Agreement are not performed in accordance with their specific terms and that any
breach of this Agreement by the parties could not be adequately compensated in all cases by monetary damages
alone. Accordingly, in addition to any other right or remedy to which any party may be entitled under this
Agreement, at law or in equity, each party shall be entitled to enforce any provision of this Agreement by a
decree of specific performance and to temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief to prevent
breaches or threatened breaches of any of the provisions of this Agreement, without posting any bond or other
undertaking.

10.13

Construction.
(a)

The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an
ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted
jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party
by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.

(b)

Section and subsection headings are not to be considered part of this Agreement, are included solely for
convenience, are not intended to be full or accurate descriptions of the content of the sections or
subsections of this Agreement and will not affect the construction hereof.

( c )

Except as otherwise explicitly specified to the contrary herein, (i) the words “hereof,” “herein,”
“hereunder” and words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular
section or subsection of this Agreement and reference to a particular section of this Agreement will
include all subsections thereof, (ii) references to the preamble, recitals, an article, section, exhibit, or
schedule means a preamble, recital, article, or section of, or exhibit or schedule to, this Agreement, (iii)
definitions will be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of the terms defined, and
references to the masculine, feminine or neuter gender will include each other gender, (iv) the word
“including” means “including without limitation,” (v) the word “or” is not exclusive and shall mean
“and/or,” (vi) any reference to “$” or “dollars” means United States Dollars, and (vii) references to a
particular statute or regulation include all amendments thereto, all rules and regulations thereunder and
any successor statute, rule or regulation, in each case, as amended or otherwise modified from time to
time.

( d )

The parties intend that each representation, warranty, and covenant contained herein will have
independent significance. If any party to this Agreement has breached or violated, or if there is an
inaccuracy in, any representation, warranty or covenant contained herein in any respect, the fact that
there exists another representation, warranty or covenant relating to the same subject matter (regardless of
the relative levels of specificity) which the party has not breached or violated, or in respect of which there
is not an inaccuracy, will not detract from or mitigate the fact that the party has breached or violated, or
there is an inaccuracy in, the first representation, warranty, or covenant.

(e)

References herein to any Person will include such Person’s heirs, executors, personal representatives,
administrators, successors, and permitted assigns; provided, that nothing
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contained in this clause will authorize any assignment or transfer not otherwise expressly permitted by
this Agreement.

10.14

(f)

References herein to any obligation under any Contract (including this Agreement) mean such obligation
or Contract as amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time in accordance with the terms
thereof and hereof.

(g)

With respect to the determination of any period of time, the word “from” means “from and including”
and the words “to” and “until” each means “to and including.”

(h)

Time is of the essence with regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement.

Counterparts; Transmission. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement,
any and all agreements and instruments contemplated herein, and all amendments hereto or thereto will become
effective when duly executed and delivered by each party hereto or thereto. The parties may execute this
Agreement and such other agreements and instruments by original, electronic, or digital signature. The exchange
of copies of the signature pages to this Agreement and such other agreements and instruments, including by
email, facsimile, cloud-based server, a recognized digital electronic security procedure, or other similar electronic
transmission (including an image of a signature), shall constitute effective execution and delivery. Such copies
shall be treated in all manner and respects and for all purposes as an original signature and shall be considered to
have the same binding legal effect as if they were the original signed version thereof delivered in person.
Signatures of the parties transmitted by any such transmission shall be deemed to be their original signatures for
all purposes.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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WHEREFORE, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the Effective
Date.
PURCHASER:
WEBASTO CHARGING SYSTEMS, INC.
By:
/s/ John J. Thomas
Name: John J. Thomas
Title: CEO Webasto Charging Systems, Inc.
By:
/s/ Dr. Hendrik Hoehfeld
Name: Dr. Hendrik Hoehfeld
Title: General Counsel
SELLER:
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
By:
/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Name: Wahid Nawabi
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
[Signature Page to the Asset Purchase Agreement]

FORM OF AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A
Form of Transition Services Agreement
See Attached
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TRANSITION SERVICES AGREEMENT
This Transition Services Agreement, dated as of June [ ], 2018 (this “ Agreement”), is entered into between
AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Seller”), and Webasto Charging Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Buyer” or “Purchaser”, and together with Seller, the “Parties”, or each a “Party”).
RECITALS
A.

WHEREAS, Buyer and Seller have entered into that certain Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2018
(the “Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which Seller has agreed to sell to Buyer, and Buyer has agreed to
purchase from Seller, substantially all the assets, and certain specified liabilities, of the Business (as such term is
defined in the Purchase Agreement), all as more fully described therein;

B.

WHEREAS, in order to ensure an orderly transition of the Business to Buyer, and as a condition to
consummating the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, Buyer and Seller have agreed to enter
into this Agreement, pursuant to which Seller will provide Buyer with certain services, in each case on a
transitional basis and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein; and

C.

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning ascribed to such
terms in the Purchase Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreements and covenants hereinafter set forth, Buyer and Seller
hereby agrees as follows:
ARTICLE I
SERVICES
Section 1.01 Provision of Services.
(a) Seller agrees to provide the services (the “Services”) set forth on the exhibits attached hereto (as such exhibits
may be amended or supplemented pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, collectively, the “ Service Exhibits”)
to Buyer for the respective periods and on the other terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and in the
respective Service Exhibits. The Parties have made a good faith effort as of the date hereof to identify each
Service and to complete the content of the Exhibits accurately. It is anticipated that the Parties may modify the
Service Exhibits from time to time by written agreement among the Parties. In that case or to the extent any
Service Exhibit is incomplete, the Parties will use good faith efforts to modify such Service Exhibit.
(b) Notwithstanding the contents of the Services Exhibits, Seller agrees to respond in good faith to any reasonable
written request by Buyer for access to any additional services that are necessary for the operation of the Business
and which are not currently contemplated in the Services Exhibits, at a price to be agreed upon after good faith
negotiations between the Parties. Any such additional services so provided by Seller shall constitute
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Services under this Agreement and be subject in all respect to the provisions of this Agreement, as if fully set
forth in the Service Exhibits as of the date hereof.
(c) The Parties hereto acknowledge the transitional nature of the Services. Accordingly, as promptly as practicable
following the execution of this Agreement, Buyer agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to make a
transition of each Service to its own internal organization or to obtain alternate third-party sources to provide the
Services.
(d) The Parties hereto acknowledge that as a preparation for Seller’s scope of performance under this Agreement to
provide the Services, Seller’s internal information technology network (the “AV Network”) will be bifurcated to
create a new logical network for Buyer, which is separately administered and controlled by Seller from the AV
Network (the “Buyer Network”). Buyer agrees that due to (i) U.S. and other export control laws and regulations,
or (ii) U.S. Defense Department procedures, such as those governing the release of “Controlled” or
“Uncontrolled Technical Data,” Classified or Controlled Unclassified Information or Technology, and nonControlled Government Contract- related Information (as defined in any applicable regulation), to certain
individuals or foreign nationals, only current employees of Seller (“Seller Employees”) and former employees of
Seller who are now employees of Buyer (“New Buyer Employees” and collectively with Seller Employees,
“Authorized Employees”) are allowed access to the Buyer Network until termination or expiration of all
Services pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that Buyer may submit the names of other Buyer
employees who require access to the Buyer Network, which such employees will require proper security
clearance and approval according to the Seller’s internal security and access policy before such employee can
access the Buyer Network. For the avoidance of doubt, such approved other employees of Buyer shall be
considered Authorized Employees.
(e) Subject to Section 2.03, Section 2.04, and Section 3.05, the obligations of the Seller under this Agreement to
provide Services shall terminate with respect to each Service on the end date specified in the applicable Service
Exhibit (the “End Date”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that Buyer may
determine from time to time that it does not require all the Services set out on one or more of the Service Exhibits
or that it does not require such Services for the entire period up to the applicable End Date. Accordingly, upon
fifteen (15) days’ notice, Buyer may terminate any Service, in whole but not in part, upon notification to Seller in
writing of any such determination.
(f) For purposes of operating the Buyer Network after the Closing Date, Seller shall use best efforts to procure
sublicenses which shall provide the same scope of rights used by Seller for the Business prior to the Closing at
Buyer’s sole expense for all software currently in use by Seller with respect to information technology services
for which sublicenses are legally obtainable, until termination or expiration of all Services pursuant to this
Agreement.
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Section 1.02 Standard of Service.
(a) Seller represents, warrants, and agrees that the Services shall be provided in good faith, in accordance with Law,
and except as specifically provided in the Services Exhibits and Section 1.01(d), in a manner substantially
consistent with the historical provision of the Services and with the same standard of care consistent with past
practice of the Seller for its own purposes. Subject to Section 1.03, Seller agrees to assign sufficient resources
and qualified personnel as are reasonably required to perform the Services in accordance with the standards set
forth in the preceding sentence.
(b) Except as expressly set forth in Section 1.02(a), or in any contract entered into hereunder, Seller makes no
representations and warranties of any kind, implied or expressed, with respect to the Services, including, without
limitation, no warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, non-infringement, which are
specifically disclaimed. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement does not create a fiduciary
relationship, partnership, joint venture, or relationships of trust or agency between the Parties and that all
Services are provided by the Seller as an independent contractor.
(c) Seller shall not be required to perform or to cause to be performed any of the Services for the benefit of any third
party or any other Person other than Buyer and its Affiliates.
Section 1.03 Use of Third-Party Service Providers.
(a) It is understood and agreed that Seller has been retaining, and will continue to retain, third-party service
providers to provide some of the Services to Buyer. In addition, Seller shall have the right to hire other thirdparty subcontractors to provide all or part of any Service hereunder; provided, however, Seller will require prior
written approval by Buyer for any third-party service providers reasonably expected to cost more than ten
thousand dollars ($10,000), in the aggregate, for their services and such subcontracting is inconsistent with past
practices or such subcontractor is not already engaged with respect to such Service as of the date hereof, such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Seller shall not require prior written
approval when in its commercially reasonable discretion determines that a third-party service provider is needed
on an expedited basis to avoid any possible disruption to the Services being provided for hereunder. Seller shall
be responsible for the actions and performance by any third-party service provider or subcontractor in
connection with the performance of the Services.
Section 1.04 Access to Premises.
(a) Each Party shall allow the other Party’s employees, Affiliates, and any associated third- party service providers
or contractors who provide Services, reasonable access to the facilities of such Party that are necessary for each
Party to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement; provided, that only Authorized Employees will have access
to Business- related portions of Seller’s facilities under Seller’s existing security protocols.
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(b) Buyer agrees that it shall provide to Seller’s employees and any third-party service providers or subcontractors
who provide Services, access to the assets and books and records of the Business, to the extent necessary for
Seller to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.
(c) Seller agrees that it shall provide Buyer with access to all documents related to the Services that are generated or
prepared by Seller in connection with the provisions of the Services, including with respect to any hourly rate
schedules.
(d) Each Party agrees that all of its employees and any third-party service providers and subcontractors, when on the
property of the other Party or when given access to any equipment, computer, software, network, or files owned
or controlled by such Party, shall conform to the policies and procedures of such Party concerning health, safety
and security that are made known to the Party receiving access.
(e) Notwithstanding the provisions set forth in this Section 1.04(a)-(d), such access (i) shall not unreasonably
interfere with any of the business or operations of the Party granting access and (ii) in the event that the Party
granting access reasonably determines in good faith that such access could be commercially detrimental, violate
any Law or agreement, or waive any attorney-client privilege, then the Parties shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to permit such access in a manner that avoids any such harm or consequence
(f) In support of the provision of Services, Seller and Buyer will enter into certain sublease agreements (each, a
“Sublease”) with Sellers’ landlord(s), with respect to certain premises identified in Schedule 1.04(f) attached
hereto. Each such Sublease shall be in form satisfactory to Seller, Buyer and each landlord. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the rights and obligations of the Parties with respect to the
occupancy of any particular premise shall be governed by the applicable executed Sublease, as supplemented by
any additional access terms set forth on Schedule 1.04(f) or in the Service Exhibits.
(g) In support of this Agreement and the Asset Purchase Agreement, Seller and Buyer will take reasonable efforts to
enter into a License Agreement, whereby Seller will provide to Buyer for limited term, not to exceed twelve (12)
months, a worldwide, non-exclusive, limited, non-transferable, revocable, non-sublicensable, license to the
AeroVironment word mark and the ‘AV’ logo (collectively the “ Licensed AV Marks ”) but only to the extent as
currently used by Seller in for the sale and marketing of the commercial products and services of the Acquired
Assets, for at a reasonable royalty, wherein any and all ownership, rights and/or goodwill (including any and all
goodwill acquired during Buyer’s use) will be solely and exclusively owned by Seller, and Buyer shall not obtain
any rights or ownership in the Licensed AV Marks (Buyer shall agree that its use of the Licensed AV Marks shall
inure solely to the benefit of Seller), Buyer agrees that the Licensed AV Marks are being licensed “as is” and
Seller disclaims all warranties, wherein the goods and services to which the Licensed AV Marks are used by
Buyer shall be of a high quality (which is at least equal to comparable to the goods and services
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previously provided by Seller under the Licensed AV Marks), Buyers use of the Licensed AV Marks shall be in
conformity with standards approved by Seller and with appropriate legal notices as required by Seller, and Buyer
shall indemnify, defend and hold Seller harmless for Buyer’s use of the Licensed AV Marks.
(h) Buyer agrees that it shall not make any statements which disparage, defame or reduce the goodwill of Seller,
Seller’s Licensed AV Marks, or Seller’s business, services, employees, officers, agents, representatives or other
entities under its control.
ARTICLE II
COMPENSATION
Section 2.01 Responsibility for Wages and Fees.
(a) Subject to Section 2.02(c), for such time as any employees of Seller are providing Services to Buyer under this
Agreement, (i) such employees will remain employees of Seller and shall not be deemed to be employees of
Buyer for any purpose, and (ii) Seller shall be solely responsible for the payment and provision of all wages,
bonuses, commissions, employee benefits, including severance and worker’s compensation, and the withholding
of applicable Taxes relating.
Section 2.02 Terms of Payment and Related Matters.
(a) As consideration for provision of the Services, Buyer shall pay the amount specified for each Service on such
Service’s respective Service Exhibit. In addition to such amount, in the event that Seller incurs reasonable and
documented out-of-pocket expenses during the transition of any Service, including, without limitation, license
fees, cost of materials, additional labor, and payments to third-party service providers or subcontractors, which
third-party service providers require prior written approval from the Buyer if reasonably expected to cost more
than ten thousand dollars ($10,000), in the aggregate, for their services and such subcontracting is inconsistent
with past practices or such subcontractor is not already engaged with respect to such Service as of the date
hereof, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, but excluding payments made to employees of Seller
pursuant to Section 2.01 (such included expenses, collectively, “Out-of-Pocket Expenses”), Buyer shall
reimburse Seller for all such Out-of-Pocket Expenses in accordance with the invoicing procedures set forth
below.
(b) As more fully provided for in the Service Exhibits and subject to the terms and conditions therein:
(i)

Seller shall provide Buyer, in accordance with Section 6.01 of this Agreement, with monthly invoices
in U.S. Dollars (“Invoices”), tied to Seller’s fiscal months, which shall set forth in reasonable detail,
with such supporting documentation as Buyer may reasonably request with respect to Out-of-Pocket
Expenses and costs for Services performed by Seller employees, amounts payable under this
Agreement;
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(ii)

payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be due upon receipt of an Invoice by Buyer from Seller;
and

(iii)

Seller reserves the right to charge interest on any amount which has been due from Buyer for more
than thirty (30) days, at a rate per annum equal to 5%, or the maximum legal rate, whichever is lower.

(c) It is the intent of the Parties that the compensation set forth in the respective Service Exhibits reasonably
approximate the cost of providing the Services, including the cost of employee wages and compensation, and
Seller’s overhead expenses as consistently applied in accordance with past practice, with the intent to cause
Seller to only recover costs. If at any time Seller believes that the payments contemplated by a specific Service
Exhibit are materially insufficient to compensate the Seller for the cost of providing the Services it is obligated to
provide hereunder, or Buyer believes that the payments contemplated by a specific Service Exhibit materially
overcompensate Seller for such Services, such Party shall notify the other Party as soon as possible, and the
Parties hereto will commence good faith negotiations toward an agreement, in writing, as to the appropriate
course of action with respect to pricing of such Services for future periods.
Section 2.03 Extension of Services.
(a) The Parties agree that Seller shall not be obligated to perform any Service after the applicable End Date;
provided, however, that if Buyer desires and Seller agrees to continue to perform any of the Services after the
applicable End Date, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to determine an amount that compensates Seller for
all of its costs for such performance, including the time of its employees and its Out-of-Pocket Expenses. The
Services so performed by Seller after the applicable End Date shall continue to constitute Services under this
Agreement and be subject in all respects to the provisions of this Agreement for the duration of the agreed-upon
extension period. For the avoidance of doubt, under no circumstances shall Seller be required to extend the term
of any Service if (i) the Seller does not, in its reasonable judgment, have adequate resources to continue
providing such Services, (ii) the extension of such Service would interfere with the operation of the Seller’s
business, or (iii) the extension would require capital expenditure on the part of Seller or otherwise require Seller
to renew or extend any contract with any third party.
Section 2.04 Termination of Services.
(a) Upon termination or expiration of any or all Services pursuant to this Agreement, or upon the termination of this
Agreement in its entirety, Seller shall have no further obligation to provide the applicable terminated Services and
Buyer will have no obligation to pay any future compensation or future Out-of-Pocket Expenses relating to such
Services; provided, however, that the Buyer shall remain obligated to the Seller for the payment of Services
already provided or ordered prior to such termination, including any incurred Out-of-Pocket Expenses for such
Services.
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Section 2.05 Invoice Disputes.
(a) In the event of an Invoice dispute, Buyer shall deliver a written statement to Seller no later than ten (10) days
after receipt of the disputed Invoice, listing all disputed items and providing a reasonably detailed description of
each disputed item. Amounts not disputed shall be deemed accepted and shall be paid, notwithstanding the
disputed items, within the period set forth in Section 2.02(b). The Parties shall seek to resolve all such disputes
expeditiously and in good faith. Seller shall continue performing the Services in accordance with this Agreement
independent of any Invoice dispute.
Section 2.06 Taxes.
(a) Buyer shall be responsible for all sales or use Taxes imposed or assessed as a result of the provision of Services
by Seller. Reimbursement of any Taxes by Buyer shall occur only in respect to those Taxes arising from
provision of the Services and in no event shall Buyer reimburse Seller for any Taxes incurred and paid by Seller
for any activities falling outside the scope of the Services as set forth in this Agreement.
ARTICLE III
TERMINATION
Section 3.01 Termination of this Agreement.
(a) Subject to Section 3.04, this Agreement shall terminate in its entirety (i) on the date upon which Seller shall have
no continuing obligation to perform any Services as a result of each of their expiration or termination in
according with Section 1.01(d) or Section 3.02 or (ii) in accordance with Section 3.03.
Section 3.02 Breach.
(a) Any Party that is not in breach of this Agreement (the “ Non-Breaching Party”) may terminate a portion of this
Agreement with respect to any Service, in whole and in part, at any time upon prior written notice to the other
Party (the “Breaching Party”) if the Breaching Party has failed (other than pursuant to Section 3.05) to perform
any of its material obligations under this Agreement relating to such Service, and such failure shall have
continued without cure for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt by the Breaching Party of a written notice of
such failure from the Non-Breaching Party seeking to terminate such service. For the avoidance of doubt, nonpayment by Buyer for a Service provided by Seller in accordance with this Agreement, and not the subject of a
good-faith dispute, shall be deemed a breach for the purpose of this Section 3.02 resulting in the right of
termination according to the mechanism mentioned above after such breach shall have continued without cure
for a period of twenty (20) days after payment due date.
Section 3.03 Insolvency.
(a) In the event that either Party hereto shall (i) file a petition in bankruptcy, (ii) become or be declared insolvent, or
become the subject of any proceedings (not dismissed within
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sixty (60) days) related to its liquidation, insolvency or the appointment of a receiver, (iii) make an assignment
on behalf of all or substantially all of its creditors, or (iv) take any corporate action for its winding up or
dissolution, then the other Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by providing written notice in
according with Section 6.01.
Section 3.04 Effect of Termination.
(a) Upon termination of this Agreement in its entirety pursuant to Section 3.01, all obligations of the Parties hereto
shall terminate, except for the provisions of Section 2.04 and Section 2.06, Article IV, Article V, and Article VI,
which shall survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement.
Section 3.05 Force Majeure.
(a) The obligations of Seller under this Agreement with respect to any Service shall be suspended during the period
and to the extent Seller is prevented or hindered from providing such Service, or Buyer is prevented or hindered
from receiving such Service, other than Buyer’s obligation to make payments as provided for in this Agreement,
due to any of the following causes beyond such Party’s reasonable control (such causes, “Force Majeure
Event”): (i) acts of God, (ii) flood, fire, or explosion, (iii) war, invasion, riot, or other civil unrest, (iv) Order or
Law, (v) actions, embargoes, or blockades in effect on or after the date of this Agreement, (vi) action by any
Governmental Authority, (vii) national or regional emergency, (viii) strikes, labor stoppages or slowdowns or
other industrial disturbances, (ix) shortage of adequate power or transportation facilities, or (x) any other event
which is beyond the reasonable control of such Party.
(b) The Party suffering a Force Majeure Event shall give notice, either written or orally, of suspension as soon as
reasonably practicable to the other Party stating the date and extent of such suspension and the cause thereof,
and Seller shall use reasonable efforts to resume the performance of its obligations following the conclusion of
such Force Majeure Event. Neither Buyer nor Seller shall be liable for the nonperformance or delay in
performance of its respective obligations under this Agreement when such failure is due to a Force Majeure
Event. The applicable End Date for any Service so suspended shall be automatically extended for a period of
time equal to the time lost by reason of the suspension.
ARTICLE IV
CONFIDENTIALITY
Section 4.01 Confidentiality.
(a) During the term of this Agreement and thereafter, the Parties hereto shall, and shall instruct their respective
Representatives to, maintain in confidence and not disclose the other Party’s financial, technical, sales,
marketing, development, personnel, and other information, records, or date, including, without limitation,
customer lists, supplier lists, trade secrets, designs, product formulations, product specifications, or any other
proprietary or confidential information, however recorded or preserved, whether written
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or oral (any such information, “Confidential Information”). Each Party hereto shall use the commercially
reasonable efforts to protect the other Party’s Confidential Information as it uses to protect is own Confidential
Information of similar nature. Unless otherwise authorized in any other agreement between the Parties, any Party
receiving Confidential Information of the other Party (the “Receiving Party”) may use Confidential Information
only for the purpose of fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement (the “Permitted Purposes”). Any
Receiving Party may disclose such Confidential Information only to its representatives who have a need to know
such information for the Permitted Purpose and who have been advised of the terms of this Section 4.01 and the
Receiving Party shall be liable for any breach of these confidentiality provisions by such Representatives;
provided, however, that any Receiving Party may disclose such Confidential Information to the extent such
Confidential Information is required to be disclosed by judicial or administrative process or by other
requirements of Law, in which case the Receiving Party shall promptly notify in writing, to the extent possible,
the disclosing party (the “Disclosing Party”), and the Receiving Party shall use best efforts to obtain an
appropriate protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such
information, and in which case the Receiving Party shall disclose only that portion of such information which the
Receiving Party is advised by counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed.
(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information shall not include any information that is subject to
Seller’s public reporting obligations under applicable law and national securities exchange rules and regulations,
or any information that the Receiving Party can prove: (i) is generally available to and known by the public
through no fault of the Receiving Party or their respective Representatives; or (ii) is lawfully acquired by the
Receiving Party, or their respective Representatives, from and after the Closing from sources that are not
prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual, or fiduciary obligation.
(c) Upon demand by the Disclosing Party at any time, or upon expiration or termination of this Agreement with
respect to any Service, the Receiving Party agrees to promptly return or destroy, at the Disclosing Party’s option,
all Confidential Information. If such Confidential Information is destroyed, an authorized officer of the Receiving
Party shall certify such destruction in writing.
ARTICLE V
LIMITATION ON LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION
Section 5.01 Limitation on Liability.
(a) IN NO EVENT SHALL SELLER OR BUYER HAVE ANY LIABILITY UNDER ANY PROVISION OF THIS
AGREEMENT FOR ANY PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL OR INDIRECT
DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOSS OF FUTURE REVENUE OR INCOME, LOSS OF BUSINESS REPUTATION
OR OPPORTUNITY RELATING TO THE BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH OF THIS
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AGREEMENT, OR DIMINUTION OF VALUE OR ANY DAMAGES BASED ON ANY TYPE OF MULTIPLE,
WHETHER BASED ON STATUTE, CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE, AND WHETHER OR NOT
ARISING FROM THE OTHER PARTY’S SOLE, JOIN, OR CONCURRENT NEGLIGENCE, STRICT
LIABILITY, CRIMINAL LIABILITY OR OTHER FAULT. BOTH PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT BOTH
PARTIES’ OBLIGATIONS TO BE PROVIDED TO EACH OTHER HEREUNDER ARE SUBJECT TO, AND
THAT ITS REMEDIES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT ARE LIMITED AND SPECIFIED BY, THE APPLICABLE
PROVISIONS OF SECTION 1.02 AND THE EXHIBITS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING THE
LIMITATION ON REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE SERVICES.
(b) The Parties acknowledge and agree that the provisions contained in Article V shall be the sole and exclusive
remedy for any losses arising out of, or caused by, a breach of this Agreement.
Section 5.02 Indemnification.
(a) Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 5.01, Seller shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Buyer and
its Affiliates and each of their respective Representatives (collectively, the “ Buyer Indemnified Parties”) from
and against any and all losses of the Buyer Indemnified Parties relating to, or arising out of, or resulting from, the
gross negligence or willful misconduct of Seller or its Affiliates or any third party that provides a Service to
Buyer pursuant to Section 1.03 in connection with the provision of, or failure to provide, any Services to Buyer,
which indemnification obligation shall explicitly exclude any claims are made against the Buyer by any third
party software provider arising from Buyer’s use of such third party software provider’s products or services
absent a valid and binding sublicense that is acquired pursuant to Section 1.01(f), and except to the extent that
any such losses were caused directly or indirectly by gross negligence, bad faith, or willful misconduct or
omissions by Buyer.
(b)

Buyer shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates and each of their respective
Representatives, including any third party that provides a Service to Buyer pursuant to Section 1.03 (collectively,
the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all losses of the Seller Indemnified Parties relating
to, or arising out of, or resulting from, the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Buyer or its Affiliates in
connection with the provision of any Services to Buyer, except to the extent that any such losses were caused
directly or indirectly by gross negligence, bad faith, or willful misconduct by Seller.

Section 5.03 Indemnification Procedures
(a) In order for a party seeking indemnification pursuant to Section 5.02 (as applicable “Indemnified Party”) to be
entitled to any indemnification provided for under this Agreement as a result of losses or claims or demands
made by any Person against the
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Indemnified Party (“Third Party Claim”), such Indemnified Party shall deliver notice thereof to the party against
whom indemnity is sought (“Indemnifying Party”) promptly after receipt by such Indemnified Party of written
notice of the Third Party Claim, describing in reasonable detail the facts giving rise to any claim for
indemnification hereunder, the amount or method of computation of the amount of such claim (if known) and
such other information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request. The failure to
provide such notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party from any of its obligations under Section
5.02 to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by such failure.
(b)

The Indemnified Party shall have the right, after delivery of notice to the Indemnifying Party of the
commencement of such Third Party Claim, to assume the defense thereof at the expense of the Indemnifying
Party with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. If the
Indemnified Party assumes the defense of such Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to
employ separate counsel and to participate in the defense thereof subject to the Indemnified Party’s right to
control the defense thereof, and the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of the
Indemnifying Party. If the Indemnified Party assumes the defense of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying
Party shall cooperate with the Indemnified Party in such defense and make available to the Indemnified Party all
witnesses, pertinent records, materials and information in the Indemnifying Party’s possession or under the
Indemnifying Party’s control relating thereto as is reasonably required by the Indemnified Party. Whether or not
the Indemnified Party assumes the defense of a Third Party Claim, the Indemnifying Party shall not admit any
liability with respect to, or settle, compromise or discharge, or offer to settle, compromise or discharge, such
Third Party Claim without the Indemnified Party’s prior written consent.

(c) In the event any Indemnified Party should have a claim against any Indemnifying Party hereunder that does not
involve a Third Party Claim being asserted against or sought to be collected from such Indemnified Party, the
Indemnified Party shall deliver notice of such claim promptly to the Indemnifying Party, describing in reasonable
detail the facts giving rise to any claim for indemnification hereunder, the amount or method of computation of
the amount of such claim (if known) and such other information with respect thereto as the Indemnifying Party
may reasonably request. The failure to provide such notice, however, shall not release the Indemnifying Party
from any of its obligations under Section 5.02 except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is prejudiced by
such failure. The Indemnified Party shall reasonably cooperate and assist the Indemnifying Party in determining
the validity of any claim for indemnity by the Indemnified Party and in otherwise resolving such matters. Such
assistance and cooperation shall include providing reasonable access to and copies of information, records and
documents relating to such matters, furnishing employees to assist in the investigation, defense and resolution of
such matters and providing legal and business assistance with respect to such matters.
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(d) The aggregate amount of all losses for which an Indemnifying Party shall be liable pursuant to Section 5.02 shall
not exceed the actual incurred cost of Services performed under this Agreement.
(e) Any payments pursuant to Sections 5.02 and 5.03 shall be paid within five (5) days of the final determination of
the amount of such claim and as follows:
(i)

Any payments by Seller for losses pursuant to Section 5.02 will be satisfied in cash by wire transfer of
immediately available funds from Seller; and

(ii)

Any payments by Buyer for losses pursuant to Section 5.02 will be satisfied in cash by wire transfer of
immediately available funds from Purchaser.
ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section
6.01
Notices.
All invoices, notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers, and other
communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given: (a) when delivered by hand, with
written confirmation of receipt; (b) when received by the addressee if sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier
(receipt requested); (c) on the date sent by facsimile or email of a PDF document, with confirmation of transmission, if
sent during normal business hours of the recipient, and on the next Business Day if sent after normal business hours of
the recipient; or (d) on the third (3 rd) day after the date mailed, by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested,
postage prepaid. Such communications must be sent to the respective Parties at the following address (or at such other
address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 6.01):
if to Seller:
AeroVironment, Inc.
900 Innovators Way
Simi Valley, CA 93065
Attention: Melissa Brown, General Counsel
Email: brownm@avinc.com
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
K&L Gates LLP
1 Park Plaza, 12th Floor, Irvine, CA 92614
Attn: Shoshannah Katz
Email: Shoshannah.katz@klgates.com
if to Buyer:
Mr. John Thomas
[Address]
Facsimile:
Email: john.thomas@webasto.com
Attention:
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With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
Clark Hill PLC
500 Woodward Avenue, Suite 3500
Detroit, Michigan 48226
Attn: Kevin DiDio
Email: KDiDio@clarkhill.com
Webasto SE
Kraillinger Str. 5, 82131, Stockdorf, Germany
Attn: Wiebke Staerker, Dr. Hendrik Höhfeld
Email: wiebke.staerker@webasto.com;
hendrik.hoehfeld@webasto.com
Section 6.02 Headings.
of this Agreement.

The headings in this Agreement are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation

Section 6.03 Severability.
If any term or provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement
or invalidate or render unenforceable such term or provision in any other jurisdiction. Upon such determination that any
term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this
Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order
that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.
Section 6.04 Entire Agreement.
This Agreement, including all Service Exhibits, constitutes the sole and entire
agreement of the Parties to this Agreement with respect to the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior
and contemporaneous understandings and agreements, both written and oral, with respect to such subject matter. In the
event and to the extent that there is a conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and the provisions of the
Purchase Agreement as it relates to the Services hereunder, the provisions of this Agreement shall control.
Section 6.05 Successors and Assigns.
This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties
hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither Party may assign its rights or obligations hereunder
without the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No
assignment shall relieve the assigning Party of any of its obligations hereunder.
Section 6.06 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties hereto and their
respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon
any other Person any legal or equitable right; benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever, under or by reason of this
Agreement.
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Section 6.07 Amendment and Modification; Waiver.
This Agreement may only be amended, modified, or
supplemented by an agreement in writing signed by each Party hereto. No waiver by any Party of any of the provisions
hereof shall be effective unless explicitly set forth in writing and signed by the Party so waiving. No failure to exercise,
or delay in exercising, any right, remedy, power, or privilege arising from this Agreement shall operate or be construed
as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, remedy, power, or privilege hereunder preclude
any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, remedy, power, or privilege.
Section 6.08 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction.
This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of
Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the
State of Delaware. Each Party hereby irrevocably: (a) submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any state court or federal
court sitting in the State of Delaware in any Action arising out of or relating to this Agreement; (b) agrees that all claims
in respect of such Action may be heard and determined only in any such court; (c) hereby waives any claim of
inconvenient forum or other challenge to venue in such court; and (d) agrees not to bring any Action arising out of or
relating to this Agreement in any other court.
Section 6.09 Waiver of Jury Trial.
EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, INTENTIONALLY, AND
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, SOLELY TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE TO
A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION (WHETHER AS CLAIM, COUNTER-CLAIM, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, OR
OTHERWISE) IN CONNECTION WITH OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY COURSE OF
CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN), ACTIONS OR INACTIONS BY OR AMONG
THE PARTIES HERETO. EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CONSENTS TO TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY OF ANY SUCH LEGAL PROCEEDING,
(B) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY OTHER PARTY HERETO HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE,
THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING
WAIVER, AND (C) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTY HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS
AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 6.09. A PARTY
MAY FILE A COUNTERPART OF A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH ANY COURT AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT
OF THE PARTIES TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY.

Section 6.10 Counterparts.
This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, but all of which together shall be deemed to be one and the same agreement. A signed copy of this Agreement
delivered by facsimile, email, or other means of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the sale legal effect as
delivery of an original signed copy of this Agreement.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above
by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.
BUYER:
WEBASTO CHARGING SYSTEMS, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
SELLER:
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
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SCHEDULE 1.04(f)
Subleases
900 Innovators Way, Simi Valley, CA 93065 (“900 Innovators”)
800 Royal Oaks Drive, Suite 210, Monrovia, CA 91016 (“Royal Oaks”)
2290 Agate Court, Unit B and C, Simi Valley, CA 93065 (“Agate”)
1960 Walker Ave., Monrovia, CA 91016 (“Walker”)

Exhibit 10.2
SIDE LETTER AGREEMENT
THIS SIDE LETTER AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is entered into as of June 29, 2018, by and
between Webasto Charging Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Purchaser") and AeroVironment, Inc.,
a Delaware corporation ("Seller").
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the parties hereto have entered into a certain Asset Purchase Agreement, effective as of
June 1, 2018 (the "Purchase Agreement");
WHEREAS, the parties have made certain concessions relating to the satisfaction of certain Closing
conditions identified in the Purchase Agreement in order to close the transactions contemplated by the
Purchase Agreement on June 29, 2018; and
WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to make certain agreements and covenants related to the
Purchase Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby in accordance with the terms and conditions
of this Agreement.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally
bound, agree as follows:
1 .
Estimated Cash Purchase Price Holdback. As of the Closing Date, Seller has not received
certain approvals, consents, and waivers identified on Schedule 4.3 of the Purchase Agreement
(collectively, the "Missing Consents"), including without limitation, certain consents from (i) General
Motors (the "GM Consent"), and (ii) BMW (the "BMW Consent"). After the Closing Date, Seller shall use
its best efforts to obtain all Missing Consents. Upon Closing, the Estimated Cash Purchase Price shall be
reduced by $6,500,000.00 (the Holdback Amount"). Upon Seller's receipt of the GM Consent and the
B MW Consent a n d executed counterparts thereof shall have been delivered to Purchaser ("Purchaser'
Receipt'') Purchaser hall pay to Seller the Holdback Amount within three (3) business days of Purchaser's
Receipt.
2 .
Indemnification by Seller. Seller shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Purchaser
Indemnified Parties from and against any and all Losses paid, incurred, suffered, or sustained by the
Purchaser Indemnified Parties, or any of them directly or indirectly, arising out of, resulting from, or in any
way related to : (i) any Liability relating to either the GM Consent and/or the BMW Consent, or (ii) any
breach or non-fulfillment of any covenant, agreement, or obligation to be pe1fonned by Seller pursuant to
this Agreement. Seller's indemnification obligations under this Section 2 shall not exceed the Holdback
Amount. The indemnification procedures identified in Section 8.4 of the Purchase Agreement shall apply to
any indemnification claim made under this Section 2.

3.
Governing Law. This Agreement and all rights and obligations hereunder, shall be governed
by the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws thereof.
4 .
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and such
executed counterparts taken together shall constitute one original, fully executed agreement
5 .
Defined Terms. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement and not otherwise defined shall
have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Purchase Agreement
6 .
Purchase Agreement. Except as expressly modified by this Agreement, the Purchase
Agreement remains unmodified and in full force and effect.
(Signatures appear on the following page.)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed and delivered this Side Letter Agreement as of the
date and year first written above.
WEBASTO CHARGING SYSTEMS, INC.
By: /s/ John J. Thomas
Name: John J. Thomas
Title: CEO
By: /s/ Wiebke Staerker
Name: Wiebke Staerker
Title: Vice President - Legal
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
By: /s/ Melissa Brown
Name: Melissa Brown
Title: Vice President and General Counsel
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Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Wahid Nawabi, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AeroVironment, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 5, 2018
/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Wahid Nawabi
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Teresa P. Covington, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of AeroVironment, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 5, 2018
/s/ Teresa P. Covington
Teresa P. Covington
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32
Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of
Title 18, United States Code) (the “Act”), each of the undersigned officers of AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the “Company”), does hereby certify, to each such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 28, 2018 (the “Periodic Report”) of the Company fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d))
and information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Wahid Nawabi
President and Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Teresa P. Covington
Teresa P. Covington
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Dated: September 5, 2018
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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